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SECURITIES & EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

SCHEDULE 13G*
(Rule 13d-102)

INFORMATION TO BE INCLUDED IN STATEMENTS FILED PURSUANT
TO RULES 13d-1(b), (c) AND (d) AND AMENDMENTS THERETO FILED
PURSUANT TO 13d-2(b)

Cleveland-Cliffs Inc.
(Name of Issuer)

Common Stock
(Title of Class of Securities)

185896107
(CUSIP Number)

October 21, 2003
(Date of event which requires filing of this statement)

Check the appropriate box to designate the rule pursuant to which this
Schedule 13G is filed:

[ 1 Rule 13d-1(b)
[X] Rule 13d-1(c)
[ 1 Rule 13d-1(d)

(Page 1 of 10 Pages)

*The remainder of this cover page shall be filled out for a reporting
person's initial filing on this form with respect to the subject class of
securities, and for any subsequent amendment containing information which would
alter the disclosures provided in a prior cover page.

The information required in the remainder of this cover page shall not be
deemed to be "filed" for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 ("Act") or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that section of the
Act but shall be subject to all other provisions of the Act (however, see the
Notes) .
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(1) NAMES OF REPORTING PERSONS
I.R.S. IDENTIFICATION NO.
OF ABOVE PERSONS (ENTITIES ONLY)

(2) CHECK THE APPROPRIATE BOX IF A MEMBER OF A GROUP **
(a) [X]
(o) [ 1]
(3) SEC USE ONLY
(4) CITIZENSHIP OR PLACE OF ORGANIZATION
Delaware
NUMBER OF (5) SOLE VOTING POWER
_O_
SHARES
BENEFICIALLY (6) SHARED VOTING POWER
398,300
OWNED BY
EACH (7) SOLE DISPOSITIVE POWER
_O_
REPORTING
PERSON WITH (8) SHARED DISPOSITIVE POWER
398,300
(9) AGGREGATE AMOUNT BENEFICIALLY OWNED
BY EACH REPORTING PERSON
398,300
(10) CHECK BOX IF THE AGGREGATE AMOUNT
IN ROW (9) EXCLUDES CERTAIN SHARES ** [ 1]
(11) PERCENT OF CLASS REPRESENTED
BY AMOUNT IN ROW (9)
3.9%
(12) TYPE OF REPORTING PERSON **
PN
** SEE INSTRUCTIONS BEFORE FILLING OUT!
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(1) NAMES OF REPORTING PERSONS
I.R.S. IDENTIFICATION NO.
OF ABOVE PERSONS (ENTITIES ONLY)
Tontine Management, L.L.C.

(2) CHECK THE APPROPRIATE BOX IF A MEMBER OF A GROUP **
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(o) [ 1]
(3) SEC USE ONLY
(4) CITIZENSHIP OR PLACE OF ORGANIZATION
Delaware
NUMBER OF (5) SOLE VOTING POWER
_O_
SHARES
BENEFICIALLY (6) SHARED VOTING POWER
398,300
OWNED BY
EACH (7) SOLE DISPOSITIVE POWER
_O_
REPORTING
PERSON WITH (8) SHARED DISPOSITIVE POWER
398,300
(9) AGGREGATE AMOUNT BENEFICIALLY OWNED
BY EACH REPORTING PERSON
398,300
(10) CHECK BOX IF THE AGGREGATE AMOUNT
IN ROW (9) EXCLUDES CERTAIN SHARES ** [ 1]
(11) PERCENT OF CLASS REPRESENTED
BY AMOUNT IN ROW (9)
3.9%
(12) TYPE OF REPORTING PERSON **
00
** SEE INSTRUCTIONS BEFORE FILLING OUT!
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(1) NAMES OF REPORTING PERSONS
I.R.S. IDENTIFICATION NO.
OF ABOVE PERSONS (ENTITIES ONLY)
Tontine Overseas Associates, L.L.C.

(2) CHECK THE APPROPRIATE BOX IF A MEMBER OF A GROUP **
(a)  [X]
by [ 1]
(3) SEC USE ONLY
(4) CITIZENSHIP OR PLACE OF ORGANIZATION
Delaware

NUMBER OF (5) SOLE VOTING POWER
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_O_
SHARES
BENEFICIALLY (6) SHARED VOTING POWER
285,300
OWNED BY
EACH (7) SOLE DISPOSITIVE POWER
_O_
REPORTING
PERSON WITH (8) SHARED DISPOSITIVE POWER
285,300
(9) AGGREGATE AMOUNT BENEFICIALLY OWNED
BY EACH REPORTING PERSON
285,300
(10) CHECK BOX IF THE AGGREGATE AMOUNT
IN ROW (9) EXCLUDES CERTAIN SHARES ** [ 1]
(11) PERCENT OF CLASS REPRESENTED
BY AMOUNT IN ROW (9)
2.8%
(12) TYPE OF REPORTING PERSON **
IA
** SEE INSTRUCTIONS BEFORE FILLING OUT!
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(1) NAMES OF REPORTING PERSONS
I.R.S. IDENTIFICATION NO.
OF ABOVE PERSONS (ENTITIES ONLY)
Jeffrey L. Gendell
(2) CHECK THE APPROPRIATE BOX IF A MEMBER OF A GROUP **
(a) [X]
(b)y [ 1]
(3) SEC USE ONLY
(4) CITIZENSHIP OR PLACE OF ORGANIZATION
United States
NUMBER OF (5) SOLE VOTING POWER
_O_
SHARES
BENEFICIALLY (6) SHARED VOTING POWER
683,600
OWNED BY
EACH (7) SOLE DISPOSITIVE POWER
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REPORTING
PERSON WITH (8) SHARED DISPOSITIVE POWER
683,600
(9) AGGREGATE AMOUNT BENEFICIALLY OWNED
BY EACH REPORTING PERSON
683,600
(10) CHECK BOX IF THE AGGREGATE AMOUNT
IN ROW (9) EXCLUDES CERTAIN SHARES ** [ 1]
(11) PERCENT OF CLASS REPRESENTED
BY AMOUNT IN ROW (9)
6.6%
(12) TYPE OF REPORTING PERSON **
IN
** SEE INSTRUCTIONS BEFORE FILLING OUT!
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Item 1 (a). Name of Issuer:

The name of the issuer is Cleveland-Cliffs Inc. (the "Company").
Item 1 (b). Address of Issuer's Principal Executive Offices:

The Company's principal executive offices are located at 1100 Superior
Avenue, Cleveland, Ohio 44114-2589.

Item 2 (a). Name of Person Filing:
This statement is filed by:

(i) Tontine Partners, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership ("TP") with
respect to the shares of Common Stock directly owned by it;

(ii) Tontine Management, L.L.C., a limited liability company organized
under the laws of the State of Delaware ("TM"), with respect to
the shares of Common Stock directly owned by TP;

(iii) Tontine Overseas Associates, L.L.C., a limited liability company
organized under the laws of the State of Delaware ("TOA"), which
serves as investment manager to Tontine Overseas Fund, Ltd.
("TOF"), a company organized under the laws of the Cayman Islands,
and to certain managed accounts, with respect to the shares of
Common Stock directly owned by TOF and the managed accounts; and

(iv) Jeffrey L. Gendell, with respect to the shares of Common Stock
directly owned by each of TP and TOF.

The foregoing persons are hereinafter sometimes collectively
referred to as the "Reporting Persons." Any disclosures herein with respect to
persons other than the Reporting Persons are made on information and belief
after making inquiry to the appropriate party.
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CUSIP No. 185896107 13G Page 7 of 10 Pages
Item 2 (b). Address of Principal Business Office or, if None, Residence:

The address of the business office of each of the Reporting Persons is 55
Railroad Avenue, 3rd Floor, Greenwich, Connecticut 06830.

Item 2(c). Citizenship:

TP is a limited partnership organized under the laws of the State of
Delaware. TM and TOA are limited liability companies organized under the laws of
the State of Delaware. Mr. Gendell is a United States citizen.

Item 2(d). Title of Class of Securities:

Common Stock, $1.00 par value (the "Common Stock")

Item 2(e). CUSIP Number:

185896107

Item 3. If this statement is filed pursuant to Rules 13d-1(b) or 13d-2(b) or
(c), check whether the person filing is a:

(a) [ 1 Broker or dealer registered under Section 15 of the Act,

(b) [ ] Bank as defined in Section 3(a) (6) of the Act,

(c) [ ] Insurance Company as defined in Section 3(a) (19) of the
Act,

(d) [ 1 Investment Company registered under Section 8 of the

Investment Company Act of 1940,

(e) [ 1] Investment Adviser in accordance with Rule
13d-1 (b) (1) (ii) (E),

(f) [ 1] Employee Benefit Plan or Endowment Fund in accordance
with 13d-1 (b) (1) (ii) (F),

(g) [ 1 Parent Holding Company or control person in accordance
with Rule 13d-1 (b) (1) (ii) (G),

(h) [ 1 Savings Association as defined in Section 3(b) of the
Federal Deposit Insurance Act,

(i) [ 1 Church Plan that is excluded from the definition of an
investment company under Section 3(c) (14) of the Investment
Company Act of 1940,

(3) [ 1 Group, 1in accordance with Rule 13d-1(b) (1) (ii) (J) .

Not applicable.
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CUSIP No. 185896107 13G Page 8 of 10 Pages
Item 4. Ownership.

A. Tontine Partners, L.P.
(a) Amount beneficially owned: 398,300
(b) Percent of class: 3.9% The percentages used herein and in the
rest of Item 4 are calculated based upon the 10,318,352 shares of Common Stock
issued and outstanding as of October 24, 2003 as reflected in the Company's Form
10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2003.

(c) (1) Sole power to vote or direct the vote: -0-
(ii) Shared power to vote or direct the vote: 398,300
(iii) Sole power to dispose or direct the disposition: -0-
)

(iv) Shared power to dispose or direct the disposition: 398,300
B. Tontine Management, L.L.C.

(a) Amount beneficially owned: 398,300

(b) Percent of class: 3.9%

(c) (1) Sole power to vote or direct the vote: -0-
(ii) Shared power to vote or direct the vote: 398,300
(1iii) Sole power to dispose or direct the disposition: -0-
(iv) Shared power to dispose or direct the disposition: 398,300

C. Tontine Overseas Associates, L.L.C.
(a) Amount beneficially owned: 285,300
(b) Percent of class: 2.8%

(c) (1) Sole power to vote or direct the vote: -0-
(ii) Shared power to vote or direct the vote: 285,300
(1iii) Sole power to dispose or direct the disposition: -0-
(iv) Shared power to dispose or direct the disposition: 285,300

D. Jeffrey L. Gendell
(a) Amount beneficially owned: 683,600
(b) Percent of class: 6.6%

(c) (1) Sole power to vote or direct the vote: -0-
(ii) Shared power to vote or direct the vote: 683,600
(1iii) Sole power to dispose or direct the disposition: -0-
(iv) Shared power to dispose or direct the disposition: 683,600

CUSIP No. 185896107 13G Page 9 of 10 Pages
Item 5. Ownership of Five Percent or Less of a Class.

Not applicable.
Item 6. Ownership of More than Five Percent on Behalf of Another Person.

TM, the general partner of TP, has the power to direct the affairs of TP,
including decisions respecting the disposition of the proceeds from the sale of
the shares of the Company. Mr. Gendell is the managing member of TM and TOA, and
in that capacity directs their operations. Each of the clients of TOA has the
power to direct the receipt of dividends from or the proceeds of sale of such
shares.
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Item 7. Identification and Classification of the Subsidiary Which Acquired
the Security Being Reported on by the Parent Holding Company.

Not applicable.
Item 8. Identification and Classification of Members of the Group.

See Item 2.
Item 9. Notice of Dissolution of Group.

Not applicable.
Item 10. Certification.

Each of the Reporting Persons hereby makes the following certification:

By signing below I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and

belief, the securities referred to above were not acquired and are not held for
the purpose of or with the effect of changing or influencing the control of the

issuer of the securities and were not acquired and are not held in connection
with or as a participant in any transaction having that purpose or effect.

CUSIP No. 185896107 13G Page 11 of 11 Pages
SIGNATURES

After reasonable inquiry and to the best of our knowledge and belief, the
undersigned certify that the information set forth in this statement is true,
complete and correct.

DATED: November 3, 2003

/s/ JEFFREY L. GENDELL

Jeffrey L. Gendell, individually, and as
managing member of

Tontine Management, L.L.C.,

general partner of

Tontine Partners, L.P., and as

managing member of

Tontine Associates, L.L.C.

n-top: Opx; margin-bottom: Opx; padding-bottom: pt; text-indent: Opx; padding-left: Opx; padding-right: Opx;
margin-right: Opx;">

Future amortization expense as of December 31, 2018

Year Ending December 31, Amount
2018 $ 5,113
2019 5,113



2020
2021
2022
Thereafter
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5,113
5,113
5,113
21,240
$ 46,805
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Amortization expense was $5,113 and $22,532, for the years ending December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
(5) Convertible Promissory Notes

In October 2015, the Company commenced a debt financing of up to $12,000,000. In November the Company
received $1,525,000 from investors in exchange for convertible promissory notes (2015 issuances). The 2015
issuances bear interest at 5.00% per annum. The 2015 issuances have no defined payment terms and matured on
December 31, 2016, unless one of the following occurs prior to the maturity date, as defined in the agreement.

If the 2015 issuances are outstanding at the time of a Qualified Financing, defined as financing in excess of
$40M, then the outstanding principal amount of the 2015 issuances and any accrued but unpaid interest
thereon shall convert automatically into the number of shares of the class and series of capital stock issued to
the investor(s) at the initial closing of such Qualified Financing, equal to the quotient obtained by dividing
the outstanding principal amount of the 2015 issuances and any accrued but unpaid interest thereon, by the
product of (1) 0.85 times (2) the Qualified Financing price per share.

If the 2015 issuances remain outstanding at the time of consummation of a Change of Control (as defined
prior to the Maturity Date, then the outstanding principal amount of the 2015 issuances and any accrued but
unpaid interest thereon shall automatically convert (as of immediately prior to, but contingent upon the
occurrence of, such Change of Control) into such number of shares of Common Stock, equal to the quotient
obtained by dividing the outstanding principal amount of the 2015 issuances and any accrued but unpaid
interest thereon, by the product of (I) 0.90 times (2) the Change of Control Price Per Share. Notwithstanding
the above, an equity financing, reincorporation and other restructuring transaction (including a transaction the
result of which is that the Maker becomes a wholly-owned subsidiary of another entity) consummated for the
purpose of changing the Maker’s state of incorporation, or otherwise facilitating a Qualified Financing, shall
not be deemed a Change of Control transaction.

If the 2015 issuances remain outstanding on the Maturity Date (12/31/16), then the outstanding principal
amount of the 2015 issuances and any accrued but unpaid interest thereon shall automatically convert into the
3. number of shares of Common Stock equal to the quotient obtained by dividing the outstanding principal

amount of the 2015 issuances and any accrued but unpaid interest thereon by the product of (1) 0.80 times (2)

the Maturity Date Price Per Share.
In conjunction with the 2015 issuances, the Company provided 10% warrant coverage based on principal invested.
The warrants were determined using a fair value of $152,500. This resulted in the issuance of 80,157 warrants issued
at $1.90 per warrant (85% of the fair value per share of $2.24). Using the Black-Scholes model for the warrants
described further in Note 9, resulted in a fair value of $125,824, which is required to be bifurcated from the amount of
proceeds received $1,525,000 on a pro-rata basis. This resulted in an $116,234 value for the warrants and the
recording of a promissory note discount of the same amount. The promissory note discount of $116,234 is accreted
against the 2015 issuances and amortized on a straight-line basis through the maturity date of December 31, 2016,
resulting in an amortization period of 13.5 months. For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 accretion on the
2015 issuances was $0 and $103,319, respectively, which is included with interest expenses in the statement of
operations.

In May 2016 the Company received $500,000 from an investor in exchange for convertible promissory notes (2016
issuances #1). The 2016 issuances #1 bear interest at 5.00% per annum. The 2016 issuances #1 has no defined
payment terms and matures on December 31, 2016, unless one of the following occurs prior to the maturity date, as
defined in the agreement.

1. If the 2016 issuances #1 is outstanding at the time of a Qualified Financing, defined as financing in excess of

$40M, then the outstanding principal amount of the 2016 issuances #1 and any accrued but unpaid interest
thereon shall convert automatically into the number of shares of the class and series of capital stock issued to

10
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the investor(s) at the initial closing of such Qualified Financing, equal to the quotient obtained by dividing
the outstanding principal amount of the 2016 issuances #1 and any accrued but unpaid interest thereon, by
the product of (1) 0.80 times (2) the Qualified Financing price per share.

11



Edgar Filing: - Form
TABLE OF CONTENTS

If the 2016 issuances #1 remains outstanding at the time of consummation of a Change of Control (as defined
prior to the Maturity Date, then the outstanding principal amount of the 2016 issuances #1 and any accrued

but unpaid interest thereon shall automatically convert (as of immediately prior to, but contingent upon the
occurrence of, such Change of Control) into such number of shares of Common Stock, equal to the quotient
obtained by dividing the outstanding principal amount of the 2016 issuances #1 and any accrued but unpaid
interest thereon, by the product of (I) 0.80 times (2) the Change of Control Price Per Share.

Notwithstanding the above, an equity financing, reincorporation or other restructuring transaction (including a
transaction, the result of which is that the Maker becomes a wholly-owned subsidiary of another entity) consummated
for the purpose of changing the Maker s state of incorporation, or otherwise facilitating a Qualified Financing, shall not
be deemed a Change of Control transaction.

If the 2016 issuances #1 remains outstanding on the Maturity Date (12/31/16), then the outstanding principal
amount of the 2016 issuances #1 and any accrued but unpaid interest thereon shall automatically convert into
3. the number of shares of Common Stock equal to the quotient obtained by dividing the outstanding principal
amount of the 2016 issuances #1 and any accrued but unpaid interest thereon by the product of (1) 0.80 times
(2) the Maturity Date Price Per Share.
In conjunction with the 2016 issuances #1, the Company provided 10% warrant coverage based on principal invested.
The warrants were determined using a fair value of $50,000. This resulted in the issuance of 26,281 warrants issued at
$1.90 per warrant (85% of the fair value per share of 2.24). Using the Black-Scholes model for the warrants described
further in Note 9, resulted in a fair value of $41,313, which is required to be bifurcated from the amount of proceeds
received $500,000 on a pro-rata basis. This resulted in an $38,160 value for the warrants and the recording of a
promissory note discount of the same amount. The promissory note discount of $38,160 was accreted against the 2016
issuances #1 and amortized on a straight-line basis through the maturity date of December 31, 2016, resulting in an
amortization period of 7.7 months. For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 accretion on the 2016 issuances
#1 was $0 and $38,160, respectively, which is included with interest expenses in the statement of operations.

In July 2016, the Company converted $90,000 of consulting fees owed to certain board members/investors (Board
Member #1, #2 and #3), described in Note 13 below (2016 issuances #2) to convertible promissory notes. The 2016
issuances #2 bear interest at 5.00% per annum. The 2016 issuances #2 have no defined payment terms and mature on
December 31, 2016, unless one of the following occurs prior to the maturity date, as defined in the agreement.

If the 2016 issuances #2 are outstanding at the time of a Qualified Financing, defined as financing in excess
of $40M, the then outstanding principal amount of the 2016 issuances #2 and any accrued but unpaid interest
thereon shall convert automatically into the number of shares of the class and series of capital stock issued to
the investor(s) at the initial closing of such Qualified Financing, equal to the quotient obtained by dividing
the outstanding principal amount of the 2016 issuances #2 and any accrued but unpaid interest thereon, by
the product of (1) 0.80 times (2) the Qualified Financing price per share.

If the 2016 issuances #2 remain outstanding at the time of consummation of a Change of Control (as defined
prior to the Maturity Date, the then outstanding principal amount of the 2016 issuances #2 and any accrued
but unpaid interest thereon shall automatically convert) as of immediately prior to, but contingent upon the
occurrence of, such Change of Control) into such number of shares of Common Stock, equal to the quotient
obtained by dividing the outstanding principal amount of the 2016 issuances #2 and any accrued but unpaid
interest thereon, by the product of (1) 0.80 times (2) the Change of Control Price Per Share.

Notwithstanding the above, an equity financing, reincorporation or other restructuring transaction (including a
transaction, the result of which is that the Maker becomes a wholly-owned subsidiary of a another entity)
consummated for the purpose of changing the Maker s state of incorporation, or otherwise facilitating a Qualified
Financing, shall not be deemed a Change of Control transaction.

F-46
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If the 2016 issuances #2 remain outstanding on the Maturity Date (12/31/16), the then outstanding principal
amount of the 2016 issuances #2 and any accrued but unpaid interest thereon shall automatically convert into
3. the number of shares of Common Stock equal to the quotient obtained by dividing the outstanding principal
amount of the 2016 issuances #2 & #3 and any accrued but unpaid interest thereon by the product of (I(1)
0.80 times (2) the Maturity Date Price Per Share.
In July 2016, the Company commenced a debt financing of up to $1,000,000. In July & August 2016 the Company
received $902,535 from investors in exchange for convertible promissory notes (2016 issuances #3). The 2016
issuances #3 have no defined payment terms and mature on December 31, 2016, unless one of the following occurs
prior to the maturity date, as defined in the agreement.

If the 2016 issuances #3 are outstanding at the time of a Qualified Financing, defined as financing in excess
of $40M, the then outstanding principal amount of the 2016 issuances #2 & #3 and any accrued but unpaid
interest thereon shall convert automatically into the number of shares of the class and series of capital stock
issued to the investor(s) at the initial closing of such Qualified Financing, equal to the quotient obtained by
dividing the outstanding principal amount of the 2016 issuances #3 and any accrued but unpaid interest
thereon, by the product of (1) 0.90 times (2) the Qualified Financing price per share.

If the 2016 issuances #3 remain outstanding at the time of consummation of a Change of Control (as defined
prior to the Maturity Date, the then outstanding principal amount of the 2016 issuances #3 and any accrued
but unpaid interest thereon shall automatically convert) as of immediately prior to, but contingent upon the
occurrence of, such Change of Control) into such number of shares of Common Stock, equal to the quotient
obtained by dividing the outstanding principal amount of the 2016 issuances #3 and any accrued but unpaid
interest thereon, by the product of (1) 0.90 times (2) the Change of Control Price Per Share.
Notwithstanding the above, an equity financing, reincorporation or other restructuring transaction (including a
transaction, the result of which is that the Maker becomes a wholly-owned subsidiary of a another entity)
consummated for the purpose of changing the Maker s state of incorporation, or otherwise facilitating a Qualified
Financing, shall not be deemed a Change of Control transaction.

If the 2016 issuances #3 remain outstanding on the Maturity Date (December 31, 2016), the then outstanding
principal amount of the 2016 issuances #3 and any accrued but unpaid interest thereon shall automatically
3. convert into the number of shares of Common Stock equal to the quotient obtained by dividing the

outstanding principal amount of the 2016 issuances and any accrued but unpaid interest thereon by the

product of (I) 0.90 times (2) the Maturity Date Price Per Share.
The term Maturity Date Price Per Share shall mean the higher of (a) the fair market value of a share of Common Stock
as of the Maturity Date (as determined in good faith by the Board of Directors of the Maker) and (b) the price of a
share of Common Stock calculated as follows: $100,000,000 divided by the number of outstanding shares of Common
Stock, all on a fully-diluted and as converted basis.

In November 2017 the Company received $30,000 from an investor in exchange for a convertible promissory note
(2017 issuances). The 2017 issuances bear interest at 7.50% per annum. The 2017 issuances have no defined payment
terms and mature on December 1, 2020, unless one of the following occurs prior to the maturity date, as defined in the
agreement.

Automatic QF Conversion. In the event the Company issues and sells shares (in a sale or series of sales) of
its Equity Securities on or before the Maturity Date in an equity financing in which cumulative gross
proceeds including the aggregate outstanding principal balance and all accrued and unpaid interest on the

1. Notes equal or exceed $5M (the Qualified financing ) then the outstanding principal balance of the Note and
all unpaid interest ( Conversion Amount ) shall be converted into such Equity Securities at the Conversion
Price. The Conversion price shall be the lesser of a) the price per share paid by the purchasers of such Equity
Securities in such Qualified Financing, and (b) $2.11 per share.

13
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MD Conversion. In the event that a Qualified Financing has not closed on or prior to the Maturity Date, all
outstanding principal and interest of the Note will convert at a conversion price equal to $2.11 per share.
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A summary of convertible promissory notes outstanding is listed below

2017 2016

Convertible promissory note holder #1, net, December 31, $ 30,000 $ —
(6) Capital Lease Obligation

In February 2016, the Company leased lab equipment with a value of $40,116 from an unrelated third party. Based on
the terms of the lease, it met the criteria to be capitalized. The capital lease obligation is payable over 36 months
beginning in February 2016, with a final payment due in January 2019. The implicit interest rate on the capital lease
obligation is 7.70%. In conjunction with the recording of the capital lease obligation, property and equipment was
recorded in the same amount, to be amortized over a 60 months on a straight-line basis.

Years ending December 31, Amount
2018 $ 15,020
2019 1,251
Total minimum lease payments 16,271
Less amounts representing interest (708 )
Present value of net minimum lease payments 15,563
Less current maturities (14,319 )
Long-term capital lease obligations $ 1,244

Amortization expense recorded for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 were $8,023 and $7,355,
respectively.

(7) Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consisted of the following:

December 31,

2017 2016

Consulting $ 100,500 $ 83,329
Expense Reimbursement — 1,869
General Research 21,016 22,504
Interest 247 —
Other 44,176 74,176
Payroll 57,292 —
Professional 40,938 98,325
Rent 8,000 8,000

$ 272,169 $ 288,203

(8) Warrants

In May 2016, in conjunction with the issuance of $500,000 of Convertible Promissory Notes, the Company provided
common stock warrant coverage based on 10% of the amount invested in the equity financing round. The value of the
warrants was $50,000 and was converted to warrants at 85% of the current exercise price. As a result, the Company
issued 11,764 warrants to the investor. These warrants were valued in the same manner as those described in Note 5,

15
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The assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of warrants granted to
vendors and investors during the period were as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2017 2016

Risk-free interest rate N/A 120 %
Expected term (in years) N/A 5.00
Expected volatility N/A 86.4 %
Expected dividend yield — —
Exercise price $ — $ 8.42
Fair value of ordinary share $ — $ 7.93
A summary of warrant activity is listed below:

Warrants
Balance as of January 1, 2016 512,311
Granted 11,764
Exercised (368,894 )
Balance as of December 31, 2016 155,181
Granted —
Exercised —
Balance as of December 31, 2017 155,181

(9) Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)
Common Stock Transactions

In August 2016, the Company increased the number of authorized shares of common stock to 13,283,154. In January
2018, the Company increased the number of authorized shares of common stock to 22,138,587.

In August 2016, the Company issued a Private Placement Memorandum (PPM) ( August 2016 PPM ) to raise
$10,000,000 by offering 1,049,222 shares of common stock at $9.53 per share. The Company issued 155,794 shares
of common stock to investors at the $9.53 share price in conjunction with the August 2016 PPM, resulting in gross
equity financing of $1,485,000. After subtracting out cumulative offering costs of $190,305, the Company received
net proceeds of $1,294,695. In December 2016, the Company issued a PPM ( December 2016 PPM ) to raise
$7,000,000 by offering 734,450 shares of common stock at $9.53 per share. The Company issued 45,114 shares of
common stock to investors at $9.53 per share in conjunction with the December 2016 PPM, resulting in gross equity
financing of $430,000. After subtracting out cumulative financing costs of $55,105, the Company received net
proceeds of $374,895. In January 2018, as described in Note 15, the Board of Directors approved the reduction in the
price per common share listed in both the August 2016 PPM and December 2016 PPM from $9.53 to $5.00 per share.
As aresult, the Company issued an additional 140,215 and 40,601 shares of common stock, respectively, for the
August 2016 PPM and December 2016 PPM investors.

The conversion of debt to equity upon maturity of debt on December 31, 2016 associated with promissory notes
issued during 2015 and 2016, as described in Note 5 above, resulted in the Company issuing 211,267 and 187,177
shares of common stock to investors, respectively, from 2015 and 2016 promissory note issuances and related accrued
interest. The promissory notes were converted at share prices of $7.62 and a range from $7.62 - $8.58, respectively,
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for the 2015 and 2016 promissory note issuances. As a result, $3,140,479 of promissory notes and related accrued
interest were transferred from debt to equity. In January 2018, as described in Note 15, the Board of Directors
approved the reduction in the price per common share listed in both the August 2016 PPM and December 2016 PPM
from $2.11 to $1.11 per share. As a result since the convertible promissory notes were originally converted at $9.53
per share, these investors received the same reduction to $5.00 per share. As a result, the Company issued an
additional 190,140 and 168,458 shares of common stock, respectively, for the convertible promissory note issued in
2015 and 2016, respectively.

Throughout 2017, the Company issued 106,489 shares of common stock to investors at $9.53 per share, in conjunction
with the existing December 2016 PPM described previously, resulting in gross equity financing of $1,015,000. After

subtracting out cumulative offering costs of $78,686, the Company received net proceeds of
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$936,314. In September 2017, the Company signed a consulting agreement with a related third consultant, in which,
in lieu of cash payment of $93,400, the related third party consultant elected to receive shares at the current fair value
of $9.53 per common shares, resulting in the issuance of 9,799 common shares. In January 2018, as described in Note
15, the Board of Directors approved the reduction in the price per common share listed in both the August 2016 PPM
and December 2016 PPM from $9.53 to $5.00 per share. As a result, the Company issued an additional 95,837 and
8,819 shares of common stock, respectively, for the 2017 December 2016 PPM investors and

A summary of equity transactions is as follows:

2017 2016

Cash received $ 1,015,000 $ 2,742,432
Conversion of convertible promissory notes — 3,140,479
Gross proceeds 1,015,000 5,882,911
Offering costs (78,686 ) (245,410 )
Net Proceeds $ 936,314 $ 5,637,501
Services rendered $ 93,400 $ —
Shares issued 525,303 4,373,696

Preferred Stock Transactions

In January 2018, the Company increased the number of authorized shares to 27,673,234, which included 22,138,587
shares of common stock described previously in footnote and 5,534,647 shares of preferred shares. There were no
preferred shares issued through June 30, 2018.

(10) Stock Option Plan
Adoption of Stock Option Plan

On January 22, 2009, the Company s board of directors adopted the PDS Biotechnology 2009 Stock Option Plan (the

2009 Plan ), the 2009 Plan is effective November 1, 2008 and reserved 815,054 shares for issuance under the this plan.
In addition, the 2009 Plan limited the number of shares issued to an employee/director to 442,772 per year. The 2009
Plan was approved by the Company s shareholders in October 2009. On March 12, 2012, the Company s board and
shareholders amended the plan (Amendment #1) to increase the number of common shares issuable under the 2009
Plan to 1,479,212 ordinary shares. In addition, the 2009 Plan increased the number of shares that can be issued to an
employee/director to 885,544 per year. On December 15, 2014, the Company s board and shareholders amended the
plan (Amendment #2) to increase the number of common shares issuable under the 2009 Plan to 1,713,217 ordinary
shares. The 2009 Plan authorizes the board of directors or a committee of the board to grant incentive share options,
non-qualified share options, or NQSOs, to eligible employees, outside directors and consultants of the Company. As
of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, 136,529 and 24,862 common shares remained available for future
grants.

During the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, the Company granted options to purchase 0 and
166,128 common shares, respectively, to employees and outside directors. The Company recorded share-based
compensation expense of $262,248 and $389,295, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.
Options generally vest over a period of one to five years, and options that lapse or are forfeited are available to be
granted again. The contractual life of all options is ten years. The expiration dates of the outstanding options range
from 2019 to 2026. The Company measures and records the value of options granted to non-employees over the
period of time services are provided and, as such, unvested portions are subject to re-measurement at subsequent
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Unrecognized share based compensation charges as of December 31, 2017, are expected to be recognized as follows:

Years Ending December 31, Amount

2018 $ 8,905

2019 2,520

2020 622

2021 —

2022 —
$ 12,047

The assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of share options granted
to employees during the period were as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2017 2016
Risk-free interest rate N/A 1.59 %
Expected term (in years) N/A 6.25
Expected volatility N/A 853 %
Expected dividend yield — —
Exercise price $ — $ 9.91
Fair value of ordinary share $ — $ 8.98
The following table summarizes the stock option activity:
Weighted
Weighted Average Aggregate
Average Remaining Intrinsic

Options Exercise Price  Life (In Years) Value
Balance as of January 1, 2016 1,523,919 2.03 6.82 $ 223,764
Granted 166,128 2.24
Forfeited 4,082 ) 2.24
Balance as of December 31, 2016 1,685,965 2.09 6.14 222,697
Granted — —
Forfeited (111,667 ) 2.24
Balance as of December 31, 2017 1,574,298 $ 2.10 4.93 $ 222,697
Options exercisable, December 31, 2017 1,560,229 $ 2.10 491 $ 222,697

As of December 31, 2017, the unrecognized compensation cost related to outstanding options was $12,047 and is
expected to be recognized as expense over a weighted-average period of approximately 2.25 years.

Share-based compensation is allocated to employees based on their respective departments. All Board of Directors
compensation is charged to general and administrative compensation.

Share-based compensation expense was classified in the statements of operations as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
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2017
Research and development $ 60,966
General and administrative 201,282
Total share-based compensation $ 262,248
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2016
$ 83,787
305,509

$ 389,296
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(11) Income Taxes

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company has approximately $16,319,000 and $13,229,000 of federal net
operating loss carryforwards and $439,000 and $357,000 of federal research tax credit carry-forwards as of December
31,2017 and 2016, respectively. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company has approximately $16,247,000
and $13,157,000 of state net operating loss carryforwards. The federal and state net operating loss carry-forwards and
the federal research tax credit carry-forwards begin to expire in 2028 and 2037, respectively.

The Tax Reform Act of 1986 (the Act ) provides for limitation on the use of net operating loss and research and
development tax credit carryforwards following certain ownership changes (as defined by the Act) that could limit the
Company s ability to utilize these carryforwards. The Company may have experienced various ownership changes, as
defined by the Act, as a result of past financings. Accordingly, the Company s ability to utilize the aforementioned
carryforwards may be limited. Additionally, U.S. tax laws limit the time during which these carryforwards may be
applied against future taxes; therefore, the Company has determined it is more likely than not that the these net
operating losses will not be realized.

The components of the net deferred income tax asset as of December 31, 2017, 2016 are as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2017 2016
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carry-forwards $ 4,392,017 $ 5,279,272
Research and development credit carry-forwards 92,146 121,245
Fixed assets (1,221 ) (3,331 )
Intangible assets 2,208 3,228
Deferred rent — —
Accrued expenses 40,972 22,543
Gross deferred tax assets 4,526,122 5,422,957
Less valuation allowance (4,526,122 ) (5,422,957 )
Net deferred tax asset $ — $ —

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, the Company considers whether it is more-likely-than-not that
some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is
dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which the temporary differences
representing net future deductible amounts become deductible. After consideration of all the evidence, both positive
and negative, the Company has recorded a full valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets as of December
31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, because the Company has determined that is it more likely than not that these assets
will not be fully realized due to historic net operating losses incurred. The valuation allowance increased (decreased)
by approximately ($897,000) and $1,630,000 during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, due
primarily to the generation of net operating loss carryforwards during 2017and 2016. For the year ended December
31, 2017 only, the decline in the valuation is a result of the change in Federal Statutory Rate from 34.00% to 21.00%.

The Company does not have unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The
Company recognizes interest and penalties accrued on any unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax
expense.
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A reconciliation of income tax expense (benefit) at the statutory federal income tax rate and income taxes as reflected
in the financial statements is as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2017 2016
Federal income tax benefit at statutory rate 21.00 % 3400 %
State income tax, net of federal benefit 549 % 546 %
Permanent differences -1.61 % -3.05 %
Research and development credit benefit -0.84 % 0.84 %
Change on tax rate -50.01 % 0.00 %
Change in valuation allowance 2597 % 3725 %
Effective income tax rate 0.00 % 0.00 %

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state jurisdictions. The Company s
2016 to 2017 tax years remain open and subject to examination. The Company s tax returns are subject to examination
by the relevant tax authority until expiration of the applicable statute of limitations, which is generally three years

after the filing of the tax return. It is difficult to predict the final timing and resolution of any particular uncertain tax
position, Based on the Company s assessment of many factors, including past experience and complex judgments
about future events, the Company does not currently anticipate significant changes in its uncertain tax positions over
the next 12 months.

(12) Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Leases

The Company leases its corporate offices and laboratory facilities in North Brunswick, New Jersey under several

non-cancellable operating leases with an unrelated third party, which expired on June 2016. The Company elected to
extend the leases for an additional two-year period through June 2018. Beginning in July 2018, the Company is lease
on a month to month basis through September 2018. The Company is in the process of obtaining a new facility lease.

The company recorded rent expense of $88,258 and $101,675 for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively.

Employment Agreements

The Company has entered into an employment contract with one of its officers that provide for severance and
continuation of benefits in the event of termination of employment either by the Company without cause or by the
employee for good reason, both as defined in the agreements. The agreement covers twelve months of salary and
benefits. In addition, in the event of termination of employment following a change in control, as defined in the
employment contracts, either by the Company without cause or by the employee for good reason, any unvested
portion of the employee s stock options become immediately vested.

Retainer/Advisory and Finders Fee Agreements

The Company entered into a consultant agreement with related party consultant (Related Party Consultant #1)
described in Note 13, beginning in May 2016. Under the terms of the arrangement the Company will pay a 4.00%
Finders Fee of the aggregate gross proceeds received by the Company in any offering of Company securities from
investors first introduced to the Company by related party consultant. The agreement was modified in September 2017
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and the Finders Fee owed was converted to common stock at $9.53 per share. The agreement terminates in September
2021.

The Company entered into a 12 month agreement with a consultant (Consultant #1) beginning November 2017. Under
the terms of the arrangement the Company will pay a monthly advisory fee of $5,000 to Consultant #1. In addition,
the Company will pay a 4.00% Finders Fee of the aggregate gross proceeds received by the Company in any offering
of Company securities from investors first introduced to the Company to Consultant #1. The agreement terminates
November 2018.

The Company entered into a 12 month agreement with a consultant (Consultant #2) beginning November 2017. Under
the terms of the arrangement the Company will pay a monthly consulting fee of $25,000 to
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Consultant #2 on the successful completion by the Company of not less than $1,000,000 in new equity funding during
the term of the agreement. The Company also granted Consultant #2 a 5 year cashless option to purchase 0.5% of the
Company s then outstanding common stock at a price equal to the price at which the Company conducts its next
private offering of common stock and an additional five year cashless option to purchase 0.5% of the Company s then
outstanding common stock at a price equal to the price at which the Company conducts its public offering of common
stock, provided that such offering occurs within one year of the effective date. The agreement terminates October
2018.

The Company entered into a consultant agreement with related party consultant (Related Party Consultant #2)
described in Note 13, beginning on December 22, 2017. Under the terms of the arrangement the Company will pay a
monthly consulting fee of $75,000. The agreement terminates June 2018.

Litigation

Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments, litigation, fines, penalties, and other sources are
recorded when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. The
Company believes no matters will have a material impact to the Company s financial position or results of operations.

(13) Related Party Transactions

In December 2014, in conjunction with the offering described in Note 5, a board member/investor (Board Member #1)
signed a consulting agreement with the Company for a $30,000 per year effective January 1, 2015. For the years
ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company incurred consulting fees of $30,000 and, $30,000. Consulting fees
outstanding to Board Member #1 at December 31, 2017 and 2016 were $45,000 and $15,000, respectively and are
included in Accrued Expenses on the balance sheet. In July 2016, Board Member #1 converted balances outstanding
of $45,000 into convertible promissory notes, as described in Note 5, 2016, issuances #2. The promissory notes plus
related accrued interest totaling $46,042 were converted into equity in December 2016, as described in Note 9,
resulting in the issuance of 6,038 shares of common stock at a price of $7.62 per share. In September 2016, Board
Member #1 exercised 27,921 warrants at a price of $2.24 per share, resulting in the receipt of $62,485 by the
Company. In January 2018, as described in Note 15, the Board of Directors approved the reduction in the price per
common share listed in both the August 2016 PPM and December 2016 PPM from $9.53 to $5.00 per share. As a
result, the Company issued an additional 5,434 shares of common stock for the promissory note issued in 2016.

In December 2014, in conjunction with the offering described in Note 5, a board member/investor (Board Member #2)
signed a consulting agreement with the Company for a $15,000 per year effective January 1, 2015. For the years
ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company incurred consulting fees of $15,000 and $15,000. Consulting fees
outstanding to Board Member #2 at December 31, 2017 and 2016 were $22,500 and $7,500, respectively and are
included in Accrued Expenses on the balance sheet. In November 2015, the Company received $1,000,000 from the
Board Member #2 in exchange for a convertible promissory note, as described in Note 5, 2015 issuances. The
promissory notes plus related accrued interest totaling $1,056,301 were converted into equity in December 2016, as
described in Note 9, resulting in the issuance of 138,536 shares of common stock at a price of $7.62 per share. In July
2016, a Limited Liability Company in which Board Member #2, is a partial owner exercised 12,844 warrants at a
price of $2.24 per share, resulting in the receipt of $28,748 by the Company. In July 2016, the Board Member #2
converted balances outstanding of $22,500 into convertible promissory notes, as described in Note 5, 2016, issuances
#2. The promissory notes plus related accrued interest totaling $23,020 were converted into equity in December 2016,
as described in Note 9, resulting in the issuance of 3,019 shares of common stock at a price of $7.62 per share. In
December 2016, as described in Note 9, Board Member #2 purchased 26,230 shares of common stock in conjunction
with a stock offering at a price of $9.53 per share, resulting in the receipt of $250,000 by the Company. In August
2016, the Company received $218,767 from Board Member #2 in exchange for a convertible promissory note, as
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described in Note 5, 2016, issuances #3. The promissory notes plus related accrued interest totaling $223,442 were
converted into equity in December 2016, as described in Note 9, resulting in the issuance of 26,048 shares of common
stock at a price of $8.58 per share. In January 2018, as described in Note 14, the Board of Directors approved the
reduction in the price per common share listed in both the August 2016 PPM and December 2016 PPM from $9.53 to
$5.00 per share. As a result, the Company issued an additional 23,607, 124,682, 2,717 and 23,444 shares of common
stock, respectively for the December 2016 PPM, the November 2015 convertible promissory note, the August 2016
convertible promissory note, and the Board compensation convertible promissory note, respectively.
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In December 2014, in conjunction with the offering described in Note 5, a board member/investor (Board Member #3)
signed a consulting agreement with the Company for a $15,000 per year effective January 1, 2015. For the years
ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company incurred consulting fees of $15,000 and $15,000. Consulting fees
outstanding to the Board Member #3 at December 31, 2017 and 2016 were $22,500 and $7,500, respectively and are
included in Accrued Expenses on the balance sheet. In July 2016, Board Member #3 converted balances outstanding
of $22,500 into convertible promissory notes, as described in Note 5, 2016, issuances #2. The promissory notes plus
related accrued interest totaling $23,020 were converted into equity in December 2016, as described in Note 9,
resulting in the issuance of 3,019 shares of common stock at a price of $7.63 per share. In January 2018, as described
in Note 14, the Board of Directors approved the reduction in the price per common share listed in both the August
2016 PPM and December 2016 PPM from $9.53 to $5.00 per share. As a result, the Company issued an additional
2,717 shares of common stock for the promissory note issued in 2016.

In July 2016, the Company signed a consulting agreement with a related party (Related Party Consultant #1) to assist
in raising capital. In addition, the consultant is entitled to a Finders Fee of 4.00% of capital raised from its investors.
In August 2016 the Company received $200,000 from Related Party Consultant #1 in exchange for a convertible
promissory note, as described in Note 5, 2016 issuances #3. The promissory notes plus related accrued interest
totaling $204,110 were converted into equity in December 2016, as described in Note 9, resulting in the issuance of
23,794 shares of common stock at a price of $8.58 per share. Finders Fees of $93,400 and $0, were earned,
respectively for December 31, 2017 and 2016. As described in Note 9, in lieu of cash payment, Related Party
Consultant #1 elected to receive shares at the current fair value of $9.53 per common shares, resulting in the issuance
of 9,799 common shares of the Company. In January 2018, as described in Note 14, the Board of Directors approved
the reduction in the price per common share listed in both the August 2016 PPM and December 2016 PPM from $9.53
to $5.00 per share. As a result, the Company issued an additional 21,415 and 8,819 shares of common stock,
respectively, for the promissory note issued in 2016 and the Finders Fee earned in 2017.

In December 2017, the Company signed a consulting agreement with a related party (Related Party Consultant #2) to
provide marketing services. Under the terms of the arrangement, the Company will pay a monthly consulting fee of
15,000 shares of common stock, which is equal to $75,000 based on the January 2018 PPM price of $5.00 per share
As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, no consulting fees were earned.

(14) Subsequent Events

In preparing the financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017, we evaluated subsequent events
for recognition and measurement purposes through October 1, 2018, the date that the independent auditors report was
originally issued and the audited annual financial statements were available for issuance. After the original issuance of
the financial statements and through October 1, 2018, we have evaluated subsequent events or transactions that have
occurred that may require disclosure in the accompanying financial statements. Except as described below, the
Company has concluded that no other events or transactions have occurred that require disclosure in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

In January 2018, the board of directors approved a 1:4.517 reverse stock split on common shares. In addition, the
Company increased the increased the number of authorized shares to 27,673,234. Common shares were increased to
22,138,587 and preferred shares of 5,534,647 were added.

In January 2018, the Company issued a PPM ( January 2016 PPM ) to raise $4,000,000 by offering 800,000 shares of

common stock at $5.00 per share. The Company has issued 230,000 shares of common stock and received $1,150,000
in gross proceeds through October 1, 2018.
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In February 2018, the Company revised its 2016 PPM and reduced the price per share to those investors participating
in the August 2016 PPM, December 2016 PPM, converting convertible promissory notes to equity on December 31,
2016, transaction with Related Party #1 and the private sale of shares of the Company President to outside investors,
from $2.11 to $1.11, resulting in the issuance of an additional 659,011 shares of common stock.
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In February 2018, the Company has entered into a 6 month agreement with a consultant (Consultant #3). Under the
terms of the arrangement the Company will pay a monthly retainer of $7,000 to Consultant #3. In addition, if the
Company retains a first financing, Consultant #3 will receive a one-time $15,000 bonus, and increase the retainer to
$8,000 per month. Following the Company s IPO, the monthly retainer would increase to $10,000 per month. The
agreement has been renewed.

In March 2018, in conjunction with the sale of 200,000 shares of common stock to an investor, described previously
in this note, the Company has given an investor the following incentives: The right to purchase an additional 200,000
shares of common stock can be purchased at 0.80 times the fair market value of a common share (as determined in
good faith by the Board of Directors of the Company); The right to purchase an additional 200,000 shares of common
stock at 150% of the Qualified Financing price per share, if such events occurs. These purchase options are considered
warrants. The current market value at the date of the transaction was the January 2018 PPM price of $5.00 per
common share. The fair value of the first set of warrants using the Black-Scholes Model was $520,000 and was
converted at the exercise price of $4.00, which was 80% of the current market value of $5.00. These warrants were
valued in the same manner as those described in Note 5, resulting in the bifurcation of $342,105 from the equity
investment of $1,000,000. These warrants are equity warrants because they are associated with an equity investment.
The fair value of the second set of warrants has not been determined because a Qualified Financing has not occurred
through October 1, 2018. The Company also gave the investor the right to receive additional common stock shares
due to dilution, as defined in the agreement;

In March 2018, as part of an agreement with Related Party Consultant #1, described previously in Note 13, in
conjunction with the raising of $1,100,000, the Company has recorded a liability to pay the related party consultant for
Finders Fees earned of $44,000 or 4.00% of the funds raised.

In March 2018, as part of an agreement with a Consultant #2 described previously in Note 13, in conjunction with the
raising of $1,000,000, the Company began paying a consulting fee of $25,000 per month to Consultant #2.

In March 2018, the Company signed a deferment arrangement with the law firm described in Note 13 to address the
Company s outstanding liability of $527,123 (the Fee Amount ) at December 31, 2017. Under the terms of the
agreement, the law firm agreed to issue a credit of 20% of the outstanding balance or $105,424, if the Company
repays the Fee Amount within fifteen months, which is May 2019.

In conjunction with the deferment arrangement described above, the Company shall issue to law firm on the closing of
a $2,000,000 Qualified Financing, a warrant, in a form to be mutually agreed by the parties, to purchase an amount of
common stock of the Company issued in such Qualified Financing equal to 1.00% of the outstanding securities of the
Company as of the date of issuance of the warrant (including, but not limited to any issued options and warrants). The
term of the warrant shall be 10 years from the issuance date and an exercise price equal to the lesser of $5.00, such
price subject to appropriate adjustment in the event of any stock dividend, stock split, combination or other similar
recapitalization with respect to shares of the Company, or the price per share at which one share of the Company s
stock is sold in the Qualified Financing.

In addition, upon the occurrence of the next equity financing transaction in which the Company receives gross
proceeds of $2,000,000 Qualified Financing, the Company shall commence payment of the Fee Amount in equal
installments over the 12 month period immediately following such Qualified Financing, provided, however, that if the
Company receives more than $5,000,000 in gross proceeds from the next Qualified Financing then the Company shall
pay the remaining balance on the Fee Amount within 30 days.

In the event there is a change in control of the Company other than pursuant to a bonafide financing, the Company
shall immediately pay the remaining balance on Fee Amount any outstanding amounts owed other than the Fee
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Amount and shall pay the law firm an amount equal to one percent of the net from such transaction.

In June 2018, the Company signed an agreement with a consultant (Related Party Consultant #3). Under the
arrangement, the Related Party Consultant #3 will be paid in common stock at $5.00 per share in lieu of cash of
$2,115 per week. The consultant will become a full-time employee if the Company is able to complete a successful
Corporate Financing. In addition, upon employment, the consultant will be entitled to a base salary and options, as
defined.
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In July 2018, the Board of Directors granted 95,300 common stock options to 5 non-employees at the current offering
price per the January 2018 PPM of $5.00 per share. As of the issuance date, 38,775 of the options granted vested
immediately and the remaining 56,525 options vest either monthly or annually through April 2021.

In July 2018, the agreement with Related Party Consultant #2, described in Note 13 was modified to reduce the
cumulative liability from 90,000 common shares or $450,000 for the six months ending June 30, 2018 and reflect a
one-time payment of 45,000 shares of common stock at $5.00 per share, in lieu of cash which equates to $225,000.
The amendment also includes an opportunity for the consultant to be compensated with up to an additional 45,000
shares of the Company s common stock upon the achievement of certain future milestones and deliverables as defined
with no current expiration date.
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PDS Biotechnology Corporation
Balance Sheets
(Unaudited)

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents

Prepaid expenses and other receivables
Total current assets

Equipment, net

Intangible assets, net

Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities and Stockholders’ (Deficit)
Current Liabilities:

Capital lease obligation

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses

Payroll taxes

Total current liabilities

Long-Term Liabilities:

Convertible Promissory Note Payable
Capital lease obligation, net of current
Total long-term liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (note 10)
Stockholders’ (deficit):

Preferred stock; $0.00001 par value; 5,534,647 shares authorized; and
0 and O shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2018 and
December 31, 2017, respectively

Common stock; $0.00001 par value; 22,138,587 shares authorized;
10,332,495 and 9,354,808 shares issued and outstanding at September
30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated deficit

Total stockholders’ (deficit)

Total liabilities, and stockholders’ (deficit)

September 30,

$

2018

142,669
20,438
163,107
34,240
42,970
11,452
88,662
251,769

4,927
868,430
418,731

8,436

1,300,524

30,000
30,000
1,330,524

103
19,040,692
(20,119,550
(1,078,755
251,769

December 31,
2017

$ 175,884
54,802
230,686
51,821
46,805

11,452
110,078

$ 340,764

$ 14,319
624,124
272,169

8,436
919,048

30,000
1,244
31,244
950,292

94

17,492,996
(18,102,618
(609,528

$ 340,764

)
)
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See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed financial statements
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PDS Biotechnology Corporation

Statements of Operations
(Unaudited)

Revenues

Operating expenses:

Research and development
General and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses

Loss from operations

Other income (expense):
Interest expense, net

Other

Net loss
Net (loss) per common share:
Basic and diluted

Weighted average number of shares

oustanding
Basic and diluted

Edgar Filing: - Form

Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2018 2017
$ — 5 —

563,812 1,852,564
1,428,113 1,066,617
21,415 21,459
2,013,340 2,940,640
(2,013,340 ) (2,940,640
(2,691 ) (716

901 ) (1,431

(3,592 ) (2,147

$ (2,016,932 ) $ (2,942,787
$ 020 ) $ (0.32
9,972,670 9,300,214

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed financial statements
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Three Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2018 2017
$ — 3 —
194,068 398,421
509,083 366,666
7,119 7,230
710,270 772,317
(710,270 ) (772,317 )
939 ) 482 )
939 ) (482 )
$ (711,208 ) $ (772,799 )
$ 008 ) $ 0.08 )
10,258,238 9,339,779
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PDS Biotechnology Corporation
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Statements of Stockholders’ Deficit

(Unaudited)

Common Stock

Shares Amount
Balance at January 1, 2018 9,354,808 $ 94
Capitalized offering costs — —
Stock based compensation — —
Issuance of common stock
for cash 923,887 9
Issuance of common stock
for consulting fees 53,800 1
Issuance of warrants
Net loss — —
Balance at September 30,
2018 10,332,495 103

Additional
paid-in
capital

$ 17,492,996
(46,000
49,336

933,255

268,999
342,105

19,040,692

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed financial statements
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Total
Accumulated stockholders’
deficit equity (deficit)
$ (18,102,618 ) $ (609,528 )
— (46,000 )

— 49,336

— 933,264

269,000

342,105
(2,016,932 ) (2,016,932 )
(20,119,550 ) (1,078,755 )
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PDS Biotechnology Corporation
Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating
activities:

Depreciation and amortization

Stock-based compensation expense
Stock-based consulting fees

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other receivables
Accounts payable

Accrued expenses

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Issuance costs

Repayments of capital lease obligation

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of nine months

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:

Deferred offering costs included in accounts payable and accrued

expenses
Cash paid for interest

Cash paid for income taxes

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed financial statements
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Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2018 2017

$

&+ A

(2,016,932 ) § (2,942,787 )

21,415 21,459
49,336 202,248
268,999 93,400
34,366 84,833
244,305 163,602
146,562 (14358 )
(1,251,949 ) (2,391,603 )
— (2335 )
— (2335 )
1,275,370 1,015,000
46,000 ) (78,685 )
(10,636 ) (9,850 )
1,218,734 926,465
(33215 ) (1,467473 )
175,884 1,956,965
142,669 $ 489,492
2,000 $ —
1,022 $ 1,741
400 $ 500

37



Edgar Filing: - Form
TABLE OF CONTENTS

PDS BIOTECHNOLOGY CORPORATION

Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2018
(Unaudited)

(1) Nature of Business and Liquidity
Organization

PDS Biotechnology Corporation (the Company ) is a biopharmaceutical company developing novel cancer
immunotherapies and vaccines for infectious diseases. The Company was incorporated on December 6, 2005 under
the laws of the State of Delaware. The Company s operations are located in North Brunswick, New Jersey.

Business Condition

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes the realization of assets and
liabilities in the normal course of business. The Company has incurred losses and negative cash flows from operations
since inception and had an accumulated deficit of $20,119,550 as of September 30, 2018. The Company anticipates
incurring additional losses until such time, if ever, that it can generate significant revenues from its product candidates
currently in development. The Company s primary source of liquidity to date has been the issuance of debt and equity
securities. Management believes that the cash and cash equivalents as of September 30, 2018 are sufficient to fund
operations through the fourth quarter of 2018. Substantial additional financing will be needed by the Company to fund
its operations and to commercially develop its product candidates. There is no assurance that such financing will be
available when needed or on acceptable terms. In view of these matters, there is substantial doubt that the Company
will be able to continue as a going concern. The Company s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon
the Company s ability to expand operations and to achieve a level of profitability. The financial statements of the
Company do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded assets, or the
amounts and classifications of liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going
concern.

Management is currently evaluating different strategies to obtain the required funding of future operations. These
strategies may include, but are not limited to: additional funding from current or new investors, borrowings of debt,
and/or an initial public offering ( IPO ) of the Company s common stock. In November 2018, the Company announced
it had entered into a merger agreement with Edge Therapeutics. The merger is expected to create a combined company
with sufficient cash to fund operations into 2020, as described in Note 12. There can be no assurance that these future
funding efforts will be successful.

Risks and Uncertainties

The Company is subject to those risks associated with any specialty pharmaceutical company that has substantial
expenditures for research and development. There can be no assurance that the Company s research and development
projects will be successful, that products developed will obtain necessary regulatory approval, or that any approved
product will be commercially viable. In addition, the Company operates in an environment of rapid technological
change, and is largely dependent on the services of its employees and consultants.

Basis of Presentation

The Company has prepared the accompanying unaudited interim condensed financial statements in conformity with
U.S. GAAP. Certain footnotes and other financial information that are normally required by U.S. GAAP can be
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condensed or omitted. These condensed financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as the Company s
annual financial statements and, in the opinion of management, reflect all adjustments, consisting only of normal
recurring adjustments that are necessary for a fair statement of its financials information. The balance sheet as of
December 31, 2017 included herein was derived from the audited financial statements as of that date. These
condensed financial statements and notes should be read in conjunction with the Company s audited financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2017.
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(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP)
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Prepaid Expenses

Prepaid expenses consist of the following at September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017:

September 30, December 31,
2018 2017
Insurance $ 4,188 $ 5,901
Service agreements 15,000 40,000
Other receivables — 3,901
Annual royalty fee 1,250 5,000
$ 20,438 $ 54,802

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company assesses the recoverability of its long-lived assets, which include property and equipment, whenever
significant events or changes in circumstances indicate impairment may have occurred. If indicators of impairment
exist, projected future undiscounted cash flows associated with the asset are compared to its carrying amount to
determine whether the asset s value is recoverable. Any resulting impairment is recorded as a reduction in the carrying
value of the related asset in excess of fair value and a charge to operating results. For the nine months ended
September 30, 2018 and for the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company determined that there was $0 and $0,
respectively, impairment of its long-lived assets.

Per Share Information

Basic earnings (loss) per share are calculated using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for
the period presented. Diluted earnings per share includes the addition of potentially dilutive securities as of September
30, 2018 and 2017. As the Company reported net losses, the effect is anti-dilutive and were excluded from the diluted
earnings (loss) calculation. There were 331,656 and 155,181 warrants outstanding as of September 30, 2018 and 2017,
respectively, which are considered common stock equivalents but are not included in the calculation because they are
anti-dilutive.

(3) Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consisted of the following:

Estimated
useful life  September 30, December 31,
(in years) 2018 2017
Lab equipment 5 $ 86,911 $ 135,369
Lab furniture 7 1,343 1,343
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Computer equipment 3 13,545 16,963
Total cost 101,799 153,675
Less accumulated depreciation (67,559 ) (101,854

$ 34,240 $ 51,821

Property and equipment, net
Depreciation expense was $17,581 and $17,624, respectively, for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and
2017 and $5,841 and $5,952, respectively, for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017. For the nine
months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, the Company determined that there was $0 and $0, respectively,

impairment of its property and equipment.
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(4) Convertible Promissory Notes
In November 2017 the Company received $30,000 from an investor in exchange for a convertible promissory note
(2017 issuances). The 2017 issuances bears interest at 7.50% per annum. The 2017 issuances have no defined
payment terms and matures on December 1, 2020, unless one of the following occurs prior to the maturity date, as
defined in the agreement.

Automatic QF Conversion. In the event the Company issues and sells shares (in a sale or series of sales) of
its Equity Securities on or before the Maturity Date in an equity financing in which cumulative gross
proceeds including the aggregate outstanding principal balance and all accrued and unpaid interest on the
1. Notes) equal or exceed $5M (the Qualified financing ) then the outstanding principal balance of the Note and
all unpaid interest ( Conversion Amount ), shall be converted into such Equity Securities at the Conversion
Price. The Conversion price shall be the lesser of a) the price per share paid by the purchasers of such Equity
Securities in such Qualified Financing, and (b) $2.11 per share.
MD Conversion. In the event that a Qualified Financing has not closed on or prior to the Maturity Date, all
outstanding principal and interest of the Note will convert at a conversion price equal to $2.11 per share.
A summary of convertible promissory notes outstanding is listed below

2.

September 30, December 31,
2018 2017
Convertible promissory note holder #1 , net $ 30,000 $ 30,000

(5) Capital Lease Obligation
In February 2016, the Company leased lab equipment with a value of $40,116 from an unrelated third party. Based on
the terms of the lease, it met the criteria to be capitalized. The capital lease obligation is payable over 36 months
beginning in February 2016, with a final payment due in January 2019. The implicit interest rate on the capital lease
obligation is 7.70%. In conjunction with the recording of the capital lease obligation, a property and equipment was
recorded in the same amount, to be amortized over a 60 months on a straight-line basis.

September 30, Amount

2018 $ 3,755
2019 1,251
Total minimum lease payments 5,006
Less amounts representing interest (79 )
Present value of net minimum lease payments 4,927
Current capital lease obligations $ 4,927

Amortization expense recorded for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was $6,017 and $6,017,
respectively, and $2,006 and $2,006 for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The
Company has subsequently decided to buyout the capital lease and the final payment was made in October 2018.

(6) Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consisted of the following:

September 30, December 31,
2018 2017
Consulting $ 199,800 $ 100,500
General Research 34,825 21,016
Interest 1,929 247
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$

44,177

130,000
8,000
418,731

$

44,176
57,292
40,938
8,000
272,169
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(7) Warrants
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In March 2018, in conjunction with sale of 200,000 shares of common stock to an investor, described in Note 8, the
Company has given an investor the following incentives: The right to purchase an additional 200,000 shares of
common stock which can be purchased at 0.80 times the fair market value of a common share (as determined in good
faith by the Board of Directors of the Company); The right to purchase an additional 200,000 shares of common stock
at 150% of the Qualified Financing price per share, if such events occurs. The current market value at the date of the
transaction was the January 2018 PPM price of $5.00 per common share. These purchase options are considered
warrants. The fair value of the first set of warrants using the Black-Scholes Model was $520,000 and was converted at
the exercise price of $4.00, which was 80% of the current market value of $5.00. These warrants were valued using
the Black-Scholes model described herein, resulting in the bifurcation of $342,105 from the equity investment of
$1,000,000. The fair value of the second set of warrants has not been determined because a Qualified Financing has

not occurred through September 30, 2018.

The assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of warrants granted to

vendors and investors during the period were as follows:

Risk-free interest rate
Expected term (in years)
Expected volatility
Expected dividend yield
Exercise price

Fair value of ordinary share

A summary of warrant activity is listed below:

Balance as of January 1, 2017
Granted

Exercised

Balance as of December 31, 2017
Granted

Exercised

Balance as of September 30, 2018

(8) Stockholders’ Deficit

Common Stock Transactions

September 30,
2018

289 %
2.00
829 %
$ 4.00
$ 5.00

December 31,
2017

N/A
N/A
N/A

Warrants
155,181

155,181
200,000
(23,525 )
331,656

In January 2018, the Company increased the number of authorized shares of common stock to 22,138,587.

In January 2018, the Board of Directors approved the reduction in the price per common share listed in both the
August 2016 PPM and December 2018 PPM from $9.53 to $5.00 per share. As a result, the Company issued an
additional 140,215 and 40,601 shares of common stock, respectively, for the August 2016 PPM and December 2016

PPM investors.
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In addition, since the convertible promissory notes issued during 2015 and 2016 were originally converted at $9.53
per share upon maturity on December 31, 2016, these investors received the same reduction to $5.00 per share. As a
result, the Company issued an additional 190,140 and 168,458 shares of common stock, respectively, for the
convertible promissory notes issued in 2015 and 2016, respectively.

In addition, the Company issued an additional 95,837 and 8,819 shares of common stock for the 2017 December 2016
PPM investors and a related party consultant, respectively. The Company further issued an additional 14,941 shares of

common stock to three shareholders which resulted from a private stock sale in 2017.
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In January 2018, the Company issued a PPM ( January 2018 PPM ) to raise $4,000,000 by offering 800,000 shares of
common stock at $5.00 per share. The Company has issued 230,000 shares of common stock and received $1,150,000
in gross proceeds through September 30, 2018. After subtracting out cumulative financing costs of $46,000, the
Company received net proceeds of $1,104,000.

In March 2018, in conjunction with the sale of common stock, the Company has given an investor the following
incentives. The right to receive additional common stock shares due to dilution, as defined in the agreement. The right
to purchase an additional 200,000 shares of common stock can be purchased at 0.80 times the fair market value of a
common share (as determined in good faith by the Board of Directors of the Company). An additional 200,000 shares
of common stock can be purchased at 150% of the Qualified Financing price per share.

A summary of equity transactions is as follows:

September 30, December 31,
2018 2017
Cash received $ 1,275,370 $ 1,015,000
Offering costs (46,000 ) (78,686 )
Net Proceeds $ 1,229,370 $ 936,314
Services rendered $ 271,000 $ 93,400
Shares issued 977,687 116,288

Preferred Stock Transactions

In January 2018, the Company increased the number of authorized shares to 27,673,234, which included 22,138,587
shares of common stock described previously in this footnote and 5,534,647 shares of preferred shares. There were no
preferred shares issued through September 30, 2018.

(9) Stock Option Plan
Adoption of Stock Option Plan

On January 22, 2009, the Company s board of directors adopted the PDS Biotechnology 2009 Stock Option Plan (the

2009 Plan ), the 2009 Plan is effective November 1, 2008 and reserved 815,054 shares for issuance under the plan. In
addition, the 2009 Plan limited the number of shares issued to an employee/director to 442,772 per year. The 2009
Plan was approved by the Company s shareholders in October 2009. On March 12, 2012, the Company s board and
shareholders amended the plan (Amendment #1) to increase the number of common shares issuable under the 2009
Plan to 1,479,212 ordinary shares. In addition, the 2009 Plan increased the number of shares that can be issued to an
employee/director to 885,544 per year. On December 15, 2014, the Company s board and shareholders amended the
plan (Amendment #2) to increase the number of common shares issuable under the 2009 Plan to 1,713,217 ordinary
shares. The 2009 Plan authorizes the board of directors or a committee of the board to grant incentive share options,
non-qualified share options, or NQSOs, to eligible employees, outside directors and consultants of the Company. As
of September 30, 2018, and December 31, 2017, 56,126 and 136,529, respectively common shares remained available
for future grants.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, the Company granted options to purchase common shares to
employees and outside directors. The Company recorded share-based compensation expense of $49,336 and $202,248
for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and $41,691 and $60,667 for the three months
ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Options generally vest over a period of one to five years, and
options that lapse or are forfeited are available to be granted again. The contractual life of all options is ten years. The
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expiration dates of the outstanding options range from 2019 to 2028. The Company measures and records the value of
options granted to non-employees over the period of time services are provided and, as such, unvested portions are
subject to re-measurement at subsequent reporting periods.
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Unrecognized share-based compensation charges as of September 30, 2018, are expected to be recognized as follows:

September 30, Amount
2019 $ 143,158
2020 94,837
2021 13,667
2022 —
2023 —
Thereafter —
$ 251,662

The assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of share options granted
to employees during the period were as follows:

Nine Months Twelve Months
Ended Ended
September 30, 2018 December 31, 2017
Risk-free interest rate 2.75 % N/A
Expected term (in years) 6.25 N/A
Expected volatility 83.6 % N/A
Expected dividend yield — —
Exercise price $ 5.00 $ —
Fair value of ordinary share $ 4.21 $ —
The following table summarizes the stock option activity:
Weighted
Weighted Average Aggregate
Average Remaining Intrinsic
Options Exercise Price Life (In Years) Value
Balance as of January 1, 2017 1,685,965 $ 2.09 6.14 $ 222,697
Granted — — — —
Forfeited (111,667 ) 2.24 — —
Balance as of December 31, 2017 1,574,298 2.10 4.93 222,697
Granted 95,300 5.00 — —
Forfeited (3,542 ) 2.24 — —
Exercised (11,351 ) 2.24 — —
Balance as of September 30, 2018 1,654,705 2.26 4.48 4,529,500
Options exercisable, September 30, 2018 1,603,261 $ 2.17 431 $ 4,529,501

As of September 30, 2018, the unrecognized compensation cost related to outstanding options was $251,662 and is
expected to be recognized as expense over a weighted-average period of approximately 1.84 years.

Share-based compensation is allocated to employees based on their respective departments. All Board of Directors
compensation is charged to general and administrative compensation.
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Share-based compensation expense was classified in the statements of operations as follows:

Nine Months Nine Months Three Months Three Months
Ended Ended Ended Ended
September 30, 2018 September 30, 2017 September 30, 2018 September 30, 2017

Research and development $ 24,801 $ 51,309 $ 21,582 $ 10,354
General and administrative 24,535 150,939 20,109 50,313
Total share-based

compensation $ 49,336 $ 202,248 $ 41,691 $ 60,667
F-67
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(10) Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Leases

The Company leases its corporate offices and laboratory facilities in North Brunswick, New Jersey under several
non-cancellable operating leases with an unrelated third party, which expired on June 2016. The Company elected to
extend the leases for an additional two-year period through June 2018. Beginning in July 2018, the Company leases
on a month to month basis through October 2018. Beginning in October 2018, the Company rents a storage space with
an unrelated third party. The Company leases this space on a month to month basis. In November 2018, the Company
began leasing its corporate offices and laboratory facilities in Princeton, New Jersey under an operating lease with an
unrelated third party. The Company leases this space on a month to month basis.

The company recorded rent expense of $46,931 and $71,615, respectively for the nine months ended September 30,
2018 and September 30, 2017.

Employment Agreements

The Company has entered into an employment contract with one of its officers that provides for severance and
continuation of benefits in the event of termination of employment either by the Company without cause or by the
employee for good reason, both as defined in the agreements. The agreement covers twenty-four months of salary and
benefits. In addition, in the event of termination of employment following a change in control, as defined in the
employment contracts, either by the Company without cause or by the employee for good reason, any unvested
portion of the employee s stock options become immediately vested.

Retainer/Advisory and Finders Fee Agreements

The Company entered into a consultant agreement with related party consultant (Related Party Consultant #1)

described in Note 11, beginning in May 2016. Under the terms of the arrangement the Company will pay a 4.00%
Finders Fee of the aggregate gross proceeds received by the Company in any offering of Company securities from
investors first introduced to the Company by related party consultant. The agreement was modified in September 2017
and the Finders Fee owed was converted to common stock at $9.53 per share. In 2018, the Finders Fee earned through
June 2018 was converted to 8,800 shares at $5.00 per share. The additional Finders Fee earned through September
2018 is included as an accrued expense. The agreement terminates in September 2021.

The Company entered into a 12 month agreement with a consultant (Consultant #1) beginning November 2017. Under
the terms of the arrangement the Company will pay a monthly advisory fee of $5,000 to Consultant #1 for the first
three months. In addition, the Company will pay a 4.00% Finders Fee of the aggregate gross proceeds received by the
Company in any offering of Company securities from investors first introduced to the Company by Consultant #1. As
of September 30, 2018, no introductions have been made. The agreement terminated November 2018.

The Company entered into a 12 month agreement with a consultant (Consultant #2) beginning November 2017. Under
the terms of the arrangement the Company will pay a monthly consulting fee of $25,000 to Consultant #2 on the
successful completion by the Company of not less than $1,000,000 in new equity funding during the term of the
agreement. The Company will grant Consultant #2 a 5 year cashless option to purchase 0.5% of the Company s then
outstanding common stock at a price equal to the price at which the Company conducts its next private offering of
common stock and an additional five year cashless option to purchase 0.5% of the Company s then outstanding
common stock at a price equal to the price at which the Company conducts its public offering of common stock,
provided that such offering occurs within one year of the effective date. The agreement terminated October 2018.
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The Company entered into a consultant agreement with related party consultant (Related Party Consultant #2)
described in Note 11, beginning in December, 2017. Under the terms of the arrangement, the Company will pay a
monthly consulting fee of 15,000 shares of common stock, which is equal to $75,000 based on the January 2018 PPM
price of $5.00 per share. The agreement was amended in July 2018. Under the terms of the amendment, the Company
made a one-time payment to related party consultant of 45,000 shares at $5.00 per share in lieu of cash which equates
to $225,000. The amendment also includes an opportunity for the consultant to be compensated with up to an
additional 45,000 shares of the Company s common stock upon the achievement of certain future milestones and
deliverables as defined with no current expiration date.
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In February 2018, the Company entered into an agreement with a consultant (Consultant #3). Under the terms of the
arrangement the Company will pay a monthly retainer of $7,000 to Consultant #3. In addition, if the Company retains
a first financing, Consultant #3 will receive a one-time $15,000 bonus, and increase the retainer to $8,000 per month.
Following the Company s IPO, the monthly retainer would increase to $10,000 per month. The agreement can
terminate any time with thirty days written notice.

In March 2018, in conjunction with the sale of 200,000 shares of common stock to an investor, described previously
in Note 8, the Company has given the investor the right to receive additional common stock shares due to dilution, as
defined in the agreement.

In June 2018, the Company entered into agreement with a consultant (Consultant #4). Under the terms of the
arrangement the Company will pay a monthly retainer of $10,000 to Consultant #4. In addition, the Company will pay
a Transaction Fee equal to a percentage of the gross proceeds received by the Company in any offering of Company
securities from investors first introduced to the Company by Consultant #4 based on a sliding scale in the agreement.
As of September 30, 2018, no introductions have been made. The agreement was terminated in August 2018.

In September 2018, the Company entered into an employment agreement for the position of Chief Medical Officer.
The employment is contingent upon the Company s notification of the closing, or imminent closing, of an impending
corporate finance. The employee would receive a base salary of cash compensation plus an option grant of 190,466
shares of common stock upon approval by the Board of Directors.

In October 2018, the Company agreed to provide cash compensation to certain employees and service providers of the
Company upon the earlier of a consummation of Change of Control or a Qualified Equity Financing. In addition, the
Company agreed to grant stock options to employees and service providers immediately prior to the consummation of
a Change of Control with an exercise price equal to the fair market value of a share of common stock on the date of
grant.

Litigation

Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments, litigation, fines, penalties, and other sources are
recorded when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. The
Company believes no matters will have a material impact to the Company s financial position or results of operations.

(11) Related Party Transactions
In March 2018, the Company signed a deferment arrangement with its law firm to address the Company s outstanding
liability of $527,123 (the Fee Amount ) at December 31, 2017. Under the terms of the agreement, the law firm agreed
to issue a credit of 20% of the outstanding balance or $105,424, if the Company repays the Fee Amount within fifteen
months, which is May 2019.

In conjunction with the deferment arrangement described above, the Company shall issue to law firm on the closing of
a $2,000,000 Qualified Financing, a warrant, in a form to be mutually agreed by the parties, to purchase an amount of
common stock of the Company issued in such Qualified Financing equal to 1.00% of the outstanding securities of the
Company as of the date of issuance of the warrant (including, but not limited to any issued options and warrants). The
term of the warrant shall be 10 years from the issuance date and an exercise price equal to the lesser of $5.00, such
price subject to appropriate adjustment in the event of any stock dividend, stock split, combination or other similar
recapitalization with respect to shares of the Company, or the price per share at which one share of the Company s
stock is sold in the Qualified Financing.
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In addition, upon the occurrence of the next equity financing transaction in which the Company receives gross
proceeds of $2,000,000 Qualified Financing, the Company shall commence payment of the Fee Amount in equal
installments over the 12 month period immediately following such Qualified Financing, provided, however, that if the
Company receives more than $5,000,000 in gross proceeds from the next Qualified Financing then the Company shall
pay the remaining balance on the Fee Amount within 30 days.

In the event there is a change in control of the Company other than pursuant to a bonafide financing, the Company
shall immediately pay the remaining balance on Fee Amount any outstanding amounts owed other than the Fee

Amount and shall pay the law firm an amount equal to one percent of the net from such transaction.
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In December 2014, a board member/investor (Board Member #1) signed a consulting agreement with the Company
for a $30,000 per year effective January 1, 2015. For the nine months ended September 30, 2018, the Company
incurred consulting fees of $22,500. Consulting fees outstanding to Board Member #1 at September 30, 2018 are
$67,500 and are included in Accrued Expenses on the balance sheet. In January 2018, the Board of Directors approved
the reduction in the price per common share listed in both the August 2016 PPM and December 2016 PPM from $9.53
to $5.00 per share. As a result, the Company issued an additional 5,434 shares of common stock for the Board
compensation convertible promissory note issued to Board Member #1 in 2016.

In December 2014, a board member/investor (Board Member #2) signed a consulting agreement with the Company
for a $15,000 per year effective January 1, 2015. For the nine months ending September 30, 2018, the Company
incurred consulting fees of $11,250. Consulting fees outstanding to Board Member #2 at were $33,750 and are
included in Accrued Expenses on the balance sheet. In January 2018, the Board of Directors approved the reduction in
the price per common share listed in both the August 2016 PPM and December 2016 PPM from $9.53 to $5.00 per
share. As a result, the Company issued an additional 23,607, 124,682, 23,444, and 2,717 shares of common stock,
respectively to Board Member #2 for the December 2016 PPM, the November 2015 convertible promissory note, the
August 2016 convertible promissory note and the Board compensation convertible promissory note, respectively. In
July 2018, Board Member #2 exercised 15,362 warrants at a price of $4.25 per share, resulting in the receipt of
$65,277 by the Company. In August 2018, Board Member #2 exercised 8,163 warrants at a price of $4.25 pe share,
resulting in the receipt of $34,686 by the Company. In September 2018, Board Member #2 exercised 11,351 stock
options at a price of $2.24 per share, resulting in the receipt of $25,406 by the Company. In October 2018, Board
Member #2 exercised 42,755 stock options at a price of $2.24 per share, resulting in the receipt of $95,693 by the
Company.

In December 2014, a board member/investor (Board Member #3) signed a consulting agreement with the Company
for a $15,000 per year effective January 1, 2015. For the nine months ended September 30, 2018, the Company
incurred consulting fees of $11,250. Consulting fees outstanding to the Board Member #3 at September 30, 2018 were
$33,750, and are included in Accrued Expenses on the balance sheet. In January 2018, the Board of Directors
approved the reduction in the price per common share listed in both the August 2016 PPM and December 2016 PPM
from $9.53 to $5.00 per share. As a result, the Company issued an additional 2,717 shares of common stock for the
Board compensation convertible promissory note issued to Board Member #3 in 2016.

In July 2016, the Company signed a consulting agreement with a related party (Related Party Consultant #1) to assist
in raising capital. In addition, the consultant is entitled to a Finders Fee of 4.00% of capital raised from its investors.
In January 2018, the Board of Directors approved the reduction in the price per common share listed in both the
August 2016 PPM and December 2016 PPM from $9.53 to $5.00 per share. As a result, the Company issued an
additional 21,415 and 8,819 shares of common stock, respectively, for the promissory note issued in 2016 and the
Finders Fee earned in 2017. In the nine months ended September 30, 2018, as part of an agreement with Related Party
Consultant #1, in conjunction with the raising of $1,150,000, the Company has recorded a liability to pay the related
party consultant for Finders Fees earned of $46,000 or 4.00% of the funds raised. In June 2018, Related Party
Consultant #1 elected to be paid in common stock at $5.00 per share resulting in the issuance of 8,800 common
shares. The remaining $2,000 is recorded as an accrued expense as of September 30, 2018. The Company issued the
remaining 400 common shares to Related Party Consultant #1 in November 2018.

In December 2017, the Company signed a consulting agreement with a related party (Related Party Consultant #2) to
provide marketing services. The Related Party Consultant #2 was entitled to a monthly consulting fee of $75,000. The
agreement was amended in July 2018 and the consulting fee was reduced to $225,000 due to failure of Related Party
Consultant #2 to produce new investors for the Company based on its marketing efforts. In lieu of the cash payment of
$225,000, under the terms of the amendment, Related Party Consultant #2 elected to receive shares of common stock
at the current fair value of $5.00 per common share, resulting in the issuance of 45,000 common shares of the

54



Edgar Filing: - Form
Company.

In June 2018, the Company signed an agreement with a consultant (Related Party Consultant #3). Under the
arrangement, the Related Party Consultant #3 will be paid in common stock at $5.00 per share in lieu of cash of
$2,115 per week. The consultant will become a full-time employee if the Company is able to complete a
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successful Corporate Financing. In addition, upon employment, the consultant will be entitled to a base salary and
options, as defined. As of September 30, 2018, $42,300 of consulting expense has been accrued. The engagement was
terminated November 2018 and it was agreed that no compensation was due.

(12) Subsequent Events
In preparing the financial statements as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, we evaluated
subsequent events for recognition and measurement purposes through December 5, 2018, the date that the financial
statements were available for issuance. After the original issuance of the financial statements and through December
5, 2018, we have evaluated subsequent events or transactions that have occurred that may require disclosure in the
accompanying financial statements. Except as described below, the Company has concluded that no other events or
transactions have occurred that require disclosure in the accompanying interim financial statements.

In October 2018, the Board of Directors agreed to amend all outstanding options to purchase common stock granted
under the 2009 Stock Option Plan and the 2018 Stock Incentive Plan. The amendment states that vesting of all
outstanding options will accelerate immediately prior the earlier of (i) the holder s termination without cause, (ii) the
consummation of a change of Control and (iii) a Qualified Equity Financing. In the event that the service relationship
or employment of an option holder is terminated without cause or voluntarily terminates the service relationship,
vested portions of all Company options outstanding may be exercised at any time prior to the expiration date of such
options.

In October 2018, the Board of Directors agreed to provide cash compensation totaling $475,000 to certain employees
and service providers of the Company upon the earlier of a consummation of Change of Control or a Qualified Equity
Financing. In addition, the Board of Directors agreed to grant 894,132 stock options to employees and service
providers of the Company immediately prior to the consummation of a Change of Control with an exercise price equal
to the fair market value of a share of common stock on the date of grant.

In October 2018, the Board of Directors granted a total 137,560 shares of common stock to four Board Members at
$5.00 per share of common stock in lieu of cash compensation for the previous two years.

In October 2018, the Company agreed to an early buyout of its lab equipment lease described in Note 5 above. The
final payment was made in November 2018 and title of the lab equipment has been transferred to the Company.

In October 2018, Board Member #2 exercised 42,755 stock options at a price of $2.24 per share, resulting in the
receipt of $95,693 by the Company.

In October 2018, a previous employee exercised 5,313 stock options at a price of $2.24 per share, resulting in the
receipt of $11,891 by the Company.

In October 2018, the Company entered into a rental agreement for storage space in North Brunswick, New Jersey with
an unrelated third party. The Company leases this space on a month to month basis.

In November 2018, the Company began leasing its corporate offices and laboratory facilities in Princeton, New Jersey
under an operating lease with an unrelated third party. The Company leases this space on a month to month basis.

In November 2018, the Board of Directors approved an option grant of 52,593 stock options to Consultant #2 per the

November 2017 consulting agreement, as described in Note 10, for services deemed rendered. The Consulting
agreement was terminated October 2018.
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In November 2018, the consulting agreement with Related Party Consultant #3 as described in Note 11 was
terminated and it was agreed that no compensation was due.

In November 2018, the Board of Directors, Related Party Consultant #1 received their remaining 400 shares of
common stock at $5.00 per share in lieu of cash compensation per the July 2016 consulting agreement.

In November 2018, the Board of Directors approved an option grant of 68,779 stock options to service provider of the
Company as compensation for general advising and non-legal services.
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In November 2018, the Board of Directors approved the reduction in the conversion price for that certain outstanding
Convertible Promissory Note dated November 2017, as described in Note 4, from $2.11 to $1.11. This investor will
now receive the same price reduction per share as the Board had previously approved for the August 2016 PPM and
December 2016 PPM.

In November 2018, the Board of Directors approved the issuance of a warrant to its law firm as satisfaction of the
deferment arrangement described in Note 11. As no triggering event has occurred to date, the Company approved the
issuance of a warrant of 138,838 shares based on equity raised to date plus estimated future equity issuances.

In November 2018, the Board of Directors approved an amendment to the 2009 Stock Option Plan. The amendment
adds a cashless exercise feature to all outstanding options issued under the 2009 Plan.

On November 26, 2018, the Company announced it had entered into a merger agreement with Edge Therapeutics. The
merger would create a publicly traded company developing novel products for treating early and late state cancers.
The merger is expected to create a combined company with sufficient cash to fund operations into 2020. The merger
is structured as a stock-for-stock transaction whereby all of the Company s shares of common stock and securities
convertible into or exercisable for common stock will convert into Edge s common stock and securities convertible
into or exercisable for Edge common stock. Under the exchange ratio formula of the merger agreement, immediately
following the merger, the former PDS security holders will own approximately 70% of the combined company. The
transaction has been approved by the Board of Directors of both companies and is expected to close in the first quarter
of 2019. Upon the closing of the transaction, the merged company will operate under the PDS Biotechnology
Corporation name, and the combined company s common stock is expected to continue to trade on NASDAQ under a
new ticker symbol.
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Annex A

EXECUTION VERSION

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER
AND REORGANIZATION

among:

EDGE THERAPEUTICS, INC.,
a Delaware corporation;

ECHOS MERGER SUB, INC.,
a Delaware corporation; and

PDS BIOTECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
a Delaware corporation

Dated as of November 23, 2018
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AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER AND REORGANIZATION

THIS AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER AND REORGANIZATION (this Agreement ) is made and
entered into as of November 23, 2018, by and among Edge Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporation ( Parent ),
ECHOS MERGER SUB, INC., a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Parent ( Merger Sub ), and
PDS Biotechnology Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the Company ). Certain capitalized terms used in this
Agreement are defined in Exhibit A.

RECITALS

A. Parent and the Company intend to effect a merger of Merger Sub with and into the Company (the Merger ) in
accordance with this Agreement and the DGCL. Upon consummation of the Merger, Merger Sub will cease to exist
and the Company will become a wholly owned subsidiary of Parent.

B. The Parties intend that the Merger qualify as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code
and the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder, and by executing this Agreement, the Parties intend to adopt a
plan of reorganization within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Sections 1.368-2(g) and 1.368-3.

C. The Parent Board has (i) determined that the Contemplated Transactions are fair to, advisable and in the best
interests of Parent and its stockholders, (ii) approved and declared advisable this Agreement and the Contemplated
Transactions, including the issuance of shares of Parent Common Stock to the stockholders of the Company pursuant
to the terms of this Agreement and (iii) determined to recommend, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set
forth in this Agreement, that the stockholders of Parent vote to approve the issuance of shares of Parent Common
Stock to the stockholders of the Company pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.

D. The Merger Sub Board has (i) determined that the Contemplated Transactions are fair to, advisable, and in the
best interests of Merger Sub and its sole stockholder, (ii) approved and declared advisable this Agreement and the
Contemplated Transactions and (iii) determined to recommend, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth
in this Agreement, that the stockholder of Merger Sub vote to adopt this Agreement and thereby approve the
Contemplated Transactions.

E. The Company Board has (i) determined that the Contemplated Transactions are fair to, advisable and in the best
interests of the Company and its stockholders, (ii) approved and declared advisable this Agreement and the
Contemplated Transactions and (iii) determined to recommend, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth
in this Agreement, that the stockholders of the Company vote to adopt this Agreement and thereby approve the
Contemplated Transactions.

F. Concurrently with the execution and delivery of this Agreement and as a condition and inducement to Parent s
willingness to enter into this Agreement, the officers, directors and stockholders of the Company listed on Section A
of the Company Disclosure Schedule (solely in their capacity as stockholders of the Company) are executing support
agreements in favor of Parent in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit B-1 (the Company Stockholder
Support Agreement ), pursuant to which such Persons have, subject to the terms and conditions set forth therein,
agreed to vote all of their shares of Company Capital Stock in favor of the adoption of this Agreement and thereby
approve the Contemplated Transactions and against any competing proposals.

G. Concurrently with the execution and delivery of this Agreement and as a condition and inducement to the
Company s willingness to enter into this Agreement, the officers and directors of the Company listed on Section A of
the Parent Disclosure Schedule (solely in their capacity as stockholders of Parent) are executing support agreements in
favor of the Company in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit B-2 (the Parent Stockholder Support
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Agreement ), pursuant to which such Persons have, subject to the terms and conditions set forth therein, agreed to vote
all of their shares of Parent Common Stock in favor of the issuance of shares of Parent Common Stock to the
stockholders of the Company pursuant to the terms of this Agreement and the other Parent Stockholder Matters and
against any competing proposals.

H. Itis expected that within three Business Days after the Registration Statement is declared effective under the
Securities Act, the holders of shares of Company Capital Stock sufficient to adopt and approve this Agreement and the

Merger as required under the DGCL and the Company s certificate of incorporation and

A-1
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bylaws will execute and deliver an action by written consent adopting this Agreement in a form reasonably acceptable
to Parent, in order to obtain the Required Company Stockholder Vote (each, a Company Stockholder Written Consent
and collectively, the Company Stockholder Written Consents ).

AGREEMENT
The Parties, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:

Section 1. DESCRIPTION OF TRANSACTION
1.1. The Merger. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, at the Effective Time,
Merger Sub shall be merged with and into the Company, and the separate existence of Merger Sub shall cease. The
Company will continue as the surviving corporation in the Merger (the Surviving Corporation ).

1.2. Effects of the Merger. The Merger shall have the effects set forth in this Agreement and in the applicable
provisions of the DGCL. As a result of the Merger, the Company will become a wholly owned subsidiary of Parent.

1.3. Closing; Effective Time. Unless this Agreement is earlier terminated pursuant to the provisions of Section 9.1,
and subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions set forth in Sections 6, 7 and 8, the consummation of the
Merger (the Closing ) shall take place remotely as promptly as practicable (but in no event later than the second
Business Day following the satisfaction or waiver of the last to be satisfied or waived of the conditions set forth in
Sections 6, 7 and 8, other than those conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the
satisfaction or waiver of each of such conditions), or at such other time, date and place as Parent and the Company
may mutually agree in writing. The date on which the Closing actually takes place is referred to as the Closing Date.
At the Closing, the Parties shall cause the Merger to be consummated by executing and filing with the Secretary of
State of the State of Delaware a certificate of merger with respect to the Merger, satisfying the applicable
requirements of the DGCL and in a form reasonably acceptable to Parent and the Company (the Certificate of
Merger ). The Merger shall become effective at the time of the filing of such Certificate of Merger with the Secretary
of State of the State of Delaware or at such later time as may be specified in such Certificate of Merger with the
consent of Parent and the Company (the time as of which the Merger becomes effective being referred to as the
Effective Time ).

1.4. Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws; Directors and Officers. At the Effective Time:

(a) the certificate of incorporation of the Surviving Corporation shall be amended and restated in its entirety to read
identically to the certificate of incorporation of Merger Sub as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time, until
thereafter amended as provided by the DGCL and such certificate of incorporation;

(b) the certificate of incorporation of Parent shall be identical to the certificate of incorporation of Parent
immediately prior to the Effective Time, until thereafter amended as provided by the DGCL and such certificate of
incorporation provided, however, that at the Effective Time, Parent shall file one or more amendments to its
Certificate of Incorporation (but only to the extent that the Required Parent Stockholder Reverse Split Vote or other
required approval of the holders of Parent Common Stock has been obtained) to (i) effect the Reverse Split, (ii) to
change the name of Parent to PDS Biotechnology Corporation and (iii) make such other changes as are mutually
agreeable to Parent and the Company;

(c) the bylaws of the Surviving Corporation shall be amended and restated in their entirety to read identically to the

bylaws of Merger Sub as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time, until thereafter amended as provided by
the DGCL and such bylaws;
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(d) the directors and officers of Parent, each to hold office in accordance with the certificate of incorporation and
bylaws of Parent, shall be as set forth in Section 5.14; and

(e) the directors and officers of the Surviving Corporation, each to hold office in accordance with the certificate of
incorporation and bylaws of the Surviving Corporation, shall be the directors and officers of Parent as set forth in
Section 5.14, after giving effect to the provisions of Section 5.14, or such other persons as shall be mutually agreed
upon by Parent and the Company.

A-2
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1.5. Conversion of Shares.

(a) At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any further action on the part of Parent, Merger Sub,
the Company or any stockholder of the Company or Parent:

(i) any shares of Company Capital Stock held as treasury stock or held or owned by the Company or Merger Sub
immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be canceled and retired and shall cease to exist, and no consideration
shall be delivered in exchange therefor; and

(ii) subject to Section 1.5(c), each share of Company Capital Stock outstanding immediately prior to the Effective
Time (excluding shares to be canceled pursuant to Section 1.5(a)(i) and excluding Dissenting Shares) shall be
automatically converted solely into the right to receive a number of shares of Parent Common Stock equal to the
Exchange Ratio (the Merger Consideration ).

(b) If any shares of Company Capital Stock outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time are unvested or are
subject to a repurchase option or a risk of forfeiture under any applicable restricted stock purchase agreement or other
similar agreement with the Company, then the shares of Parent Common Stock issued in exchange for such shares of
Company Capital Stock will to the same extent be unvested and subject to the same repurchase option or risk of
forfeiture, and such shares of Parent Common Stock shall accordingly be marked with appropriate legends. The
Company shall take all actions that may be necessary to ensure that, from and after the Effective Time, Parent is
entitled to exercise any such repurchase option or other right set forth in any such restricted stock purchase agreement
or other agreement in accordance with its terms.

(c) No fractional shares of Parent Common Stock shall be issued in connection with the Merger, and no certificates
or scrip for any such fractional shares shall be issued. Any holder of Company Capital Stock who would otherwise be
entitled to receive a fraction of a share of Parent Common Stock (after aggregating all fractional shares of Parent
Common Stock issuable to such holder) shall, in lieu of such fraction of a share and upon surrender by such holder of
a letter of transmittal in accordance with Section 1.7 and any accompanying documents as required therein, be paid in
cash the dollar amount (rounded to the nearest whole cent), without interest, determined by multiplying such fraction
by the Parent Closing Price.

(d) All Company Options outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be treated in accordance with
Section 5.5.

(e) All Company Warrants outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time that are not exercised prior to the
Effective Time shall be assumed by Parent; provided, however, that from and after the Effective Time, (i) such
Company Warrants shall be exercisable into that number of shares of Parent Common Stock equal to (A) the
Exchange Ratio multiplied by (B) the number of shares of Company Common Stock into which such Company
Warrant is exercisable as of immediately prior to the Effective Time, (ii) the per share exercise price for the Parent
Common Stock issuable upon exercise of each Company Warrant assumed by Parent shall be determined by dividing
(A) the per share exercise price of Company Common Stock subject to such Company Warrant, as in effect
immediately prior to the Effective Time, by (B) the Exchange Ratio and rounding the resulting exercise price up to the
nearest whole cent and (iii) except as otherwise provided in such Company Warrant, the term, exercisability, vesting
schedule and other provisions of such Company Warrant shall otherwise remain unchanged.

(f) Each share of common stock, $0.0001 par value per share, of Merger Sub issued and outstanding immediately
prior to the Effective Time shall be converted into and exchanged for one validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable
share of common stock, $0.0001 par value per share, of the Surviving Corporation. Each stock certificate of Merger
Sub evidencing ownership of any such shares shall, as of the Effective Time, evidence ownership of such shares of
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common stock of the Surviving Corporation.

(g) If, between the date of this Agreement and the Effective Time, the outstanding shares of Company Capital Stock
or Parent Common Stock shall have been changed into, or exchanged for, a different number of shares or a different
class, by reason of any stock dividend, subdivision, reclassification, recapitalization, split (including the Reverse
Split), combination or exchange of shares or other like change, the Exchange Ratio shall, to the extent necessary, be
equitably adjusted to reflect such change to the extent necessary to provide the holders of Company Capital Stock and
Parent Common Stock with the same economic effect as contemplated by this Agreement prior to such stock
dividend, subdivision, reclassification, recapitalization,
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split, combination or exchange of shares or other like change; provided, however, that nothing herein will be
construed to permit the Company or Parent to take any action with respect to Company Capital Stock or Parent
Common Stock, respectively, that is prohibited or not expressly permitted by the terms of this Agreement.

1.6. Closing of the Company s Transfer Books. At the Effective Time: (a) all shares of Company Capital Stock
outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be treated in accordance with Section 1.5(a), and all holders
of certificates representing shares of Company Capital Stock that were outstanding immediately prior to the Effective
Time shall cease to have any rights as stockholders of the Company; and (b) the stock transfer books of the Company
shall be closed with respect to all shares of Company Capital Stock outstanding immediately prior to the Effective
Time. No further transfer of any such shares of Company Capital Stock shall be made on such stock transfer books
after the Effective Time. If, after the Effective Time, a valid certificate previously representing any shares of
Company Capital Stock outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (a Company Stock Certificate ) is
presented to the Exchange Agent or to the Surviving Corporation, such Company Stock Certificate shall be canceled
and shall be exchanged as provided in Sections 1.5 and 1.7.

1.7. Surrender of Certificates.

(a) On or prior to the Closing Date, Parent and the Company shall agree upon and select a reputable bank, transfer
agent or trust company to act as exchange agent in the Merger (the Exchange Agent ). At the Effective Time, Parent
shall deposit with the Exchange Agent: (i) certificates or evidence of book-entry shares representing the Parent
Common Stock issuable pursuant to Section 1.5(a) and (ii) cash sufficient to make payments in lieu of fractional
shares in accordance with Section 1.5(c). The Parent Common Stock and cash amounts so deposited with the
Exchange Agent, together with any dividends or distributions received by the Exchange Agent with respect to such
shares, are referred to collectively as the Exchange Fund.

(b) Promptly after the Effective Time, the Parties shall cause the Exchange Agent to mail to the Persons who were
record holders of shares of Company Capital Stock that were converted into the right to receive the Merger
Consideration: (i) a letter of transmittal in customary form and containing such provisions as Parent may reasonably
specify (including a provision confirming that delivery of Company Stock Certificates shall be effected, and risk of
loss and title to Company Stock Certificates shall pass, only upon proper delivery of such Company Stock Certificates
to the Exchange Agent); and (ii) instructions for effecting the surrender of Company Stock Certificates in exchange
for shares of Parent Common Stock. Upon surrender of a Company Stock Certificate to the Exchange Agent for
exchange, together with a duly executed letter of transmittal and such other documents as may be reasonably required
by the Exchange Agent or Parent: (A) the holder of such Company Stock Certificate shall be entitled to receive in
exchange therefor a certificate or certificates or book-entry shares representing the Merger Consideration (in a number
of whole shares of Parent Common Stock) that such holder has the right to receive pursuant to the provisions of
Section 1.5(a) (and cash in lieu of any fractional share of Parent Common Stock pursuant to the provisions of Section
1.5(c)); and (B) the Company Stock Certificate so surrendered shall be canceled. Until surrendered as contemplated by
this Section 1.7(b), each Company Stock Certificate shall be deemed, from and after the Effective Time, to represent
only the right to receive a certificate or certificates or book-entry shares of Parent Common Stock representing the
Merger Consideration (and cash in lieu of any fractional share of Parent Common Stock). If any Company Stock
Certificate shall have been lost, stolen or destroyed, Parent may, in its discretion and as a condition precedent to the
delivery of any shares of Parent Common Stock, require the owner of such lost, stolen or destroyed Company Stock
Certificate to provide an applicable affidavit with respect to such Company Stock Certificate and agree to indemnify
Parent against any claim suffered by Parent related to the lost, stolen or destroyed Company Stock Certificate or any
Parent Common Stock issued in exchange therefor as Parent may reasonably request. In the event of a transfer of
ownership of a Company Stock Certificate that is not registered in the transfer records of the Company, payment of
the Merger Consideration may be made to a Person other than the Person in whose name such Company Stock
Certificate so surrendered is registered if such Company Stock Certificate shall be properly endorsed or otherwise be
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in proper form for transfer and the Person requesting such payment shall pay any transfer or other Taxes required by
reason of the transfer or establish to the reasonable
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satisfaction of Parent that such Taxes have been paid or are not applicable. The Merger Consideration and any
dividends or other distributions as are payable pursuant to Section 1.7(c) shall be deemed to have been in full
satisfaction of all rights pertaining to Company Capital Stock formerly represented by such Company Stock
Certificates.

(c) No dividends or other distributions declared or made with respect to Parent Common Stock with a record date on
or after the Effective Time shall be paid to the holder of any unsurrendered Company Stock Certificate with respect to
the shares of Parent Common Stock that such holder has the right to receive in the Merger until such holder surrenders
such Company Stock Certificate or provides an affidavit of loss or destruction in lieu thereof in accordance with this
Section 1.7 (at which time (or, if later, on the applicable payment date) such holder shall be entitled, subject to the
effect of applicable abandoned property, escheat or similar Laws, to receive all such dividends and distributions,
without interest).

(d) Any portion of the Exchange Fund that remains undistributed to holders of Company Stock Certificates as of the
date that is one year after the Closing Date shall be delivered to Parent upon demand, and any holders of Company
Stock Certificates who have not theretofore surrendered their Company Stock Certificates in accordance with this
Section 1.7 shall thereafter look only to Parent for satisfaction of their claims for Parent Common Stock, cash in lieu
of fractional shares of Parent Common Stock and any dividends or distributions with respect to shares of Parent
Common Stock.

(e) Each of the Exchange Agent, Parent and the Surviving Corporation shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from
any consideration deliverable pursuant to this Agreement to any holder of any Company Stock Certificate such
amounts as are required to be deducted or withheld from such consideration under the Code or under any other
applicable Law. To the extent such amounts are so deducted or withheld, and remitted to the appropriate taxing
authority, such amounts shall be treated for all purposes under this Agreement as having been paid to the Person to
whom such amounts would otherwise have been paid.

(f) No party to this Agreement shall be liable to any holder of any Company Stock Certificate or to any other Person
with respect to any shares of Parent Common Stock (or dividends or distributions with respect thereto) or for any cash
amounts delivered to any public official pursuant to any applicable abandoned property Law, escheat Law or similar
Law.

1.8. Appraisal Rights.

(a) Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, shares of Company Capital Stock that are
outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time and which are held by stockholders who have exercised and
perfected appraisal rights for such shares of Company Capital Stock in accordance with the DGCL (collectively, the

Dissenting Shares ) shall not be converted into or represent the right to receive the Merger Consideration described in
Section 1.5 attributable to such Dissenting Shares. Such stockholders shall be entitled to receive payment of the
appraised value of such shares of Company Capital Stock held by them in accordance with the DGCL, unless and
until such stockholders fail to perfect or effectively withdraw or otherwise lose their appraisal rights under the DGCL.
All Dissenting Shares held by stockholders who shall have failed to perfect or shall have effectively withdrawn or lost
their right to appraisal of such shares of Company Capital Stock under the DGCL (whether occurring before, at or
after the Effective Time) shall thereupon be deemed to be converted into and to have become exchangeable for, as of
the Effective Time, the right to receive the Merger Consideration, without interest, attributable to such Dissenting
Shares upon their surrender in the manner provided in Sections 1.5 and 1.7.

(b) The Company shall give Parent prompt written notice of any demands by dissenting stockholders received by the
Company, withdrawals of such demands and any other instruments served on the Company and any material
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correspondence received by the Company in connection with such demands, and Parent shall have the right to direct
all negotiations and proceedings with respect to such demands; provided that the Company shall have the right to
participate in such negotiations and proceedings. The Company shall not, except with Parent s prior written consent,
voluntarily make any payment with respect to, or settle or offer to settle, any such demands, or approve any
withdrawal of any such demands or agree to do any of the foregoing.
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1.9. Pro-Forma Capitalization. The anticipated pro-forma capitalization of the Company immediately prior to the
Effective Time (assuming the Effective Time occurs on February 28, 2019 and excluding any Permitted Bridge
Financing) is set forth in Section 1.9 of the Company Disclosure Schedule. The pro-forma capitalization of Parent
immediately following the Effective Time (assuming the Effective Time occurs on February 28, 2019) is set forth in
Section 1.9 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule.

1.10. Further Action. If, at any time after the Effective Time, any further action is determined by the Surviving
Corporation to be necessary or desirable to carry out the purposes of this Agreement or to vest the Surviving
Corporation with full right, title and possession of and to all rights and property of the Company, then the officers and
directors of the Surviving Corporation shall be fully authorized, and shall use their and its commercially reasonable
efforts (in the name of the Company, in the name of Merger Sub, in the name of the Surviving Corporation and
otherwise) to take such action.

Section 2.  REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY
Subject to Section 10.13(i), except as set forth in the written disclosure schedule delivered by the Company to Parent
(the Company Disclosure Schedule ), the Company represents and warrants to Parent and Merger Sub as follows:

2.1. Due Organization; Subsidiaries.

(a) The Company is a corporation or duly incorporated or otherwise organized, validly existing and in good standing
under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organization and has all necessary power and authority: (i) to
conduct its business in the manner in which its business is currently being conducted; and (ii) to own or lease and use
its property and assets in the manner in which its property and assets are currently owned or leased and used, except in
the case of the foregoing (i) and (ii), where the failure to have such power or authority would not reasonably be
expected to be material to the Company, or prevent or materially delay the ability of the Company to consummate the
Contemplated Transactions.

(b) The Company is duly licensed and qualified to do business, and is in good standing (to the extent applicable in
such jurisdiction), under the Laws of all jurisdictions where the nature of its business requires such licensing or
qualification other than in jurisdictions where the failure to be so qualified individually or in the aggregate would not
be reasonably expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

(¢) The Company has no Subsidiaries, nor does the Company own any capital stock of, or any equity, ownership or
profit sharing interest of any nature in, or controls directly or indirectly, any other Entity. The Company is not, nor has
it otherwise been, directly or indirectly, a party to, member of or participant in any partnership, joint venture or similar
business entity. The Company has not agreed, nor is it obligated to make, nor is it bound by any Contract under which
it may become obligated to make, any future investment in or capital contribution to any other Entity. The Company
has not, at any time, been a general partner of, or has otherwise been liable for any of the debts or other obligations of,
any general partnership, limited partnership or other Entity.

2.2. Organizational Documents. The Company has delivered to Parent accurate and complete copies of the
Organizational Documents of the Company. The Company is not in material breach or violation of its Organizational
Documents.

2.3. Authority; Binding Nature of Agreement. The Company has all necessary corporate power and authority to
enter into and to perform its obligations under this Agreement and to consummate the Contemplated Transactions.
The Company Board has (i) determined that the Contemplated Transactions are fair to, advisable and in the best
interests of the Company and its stockholders, (ii) approved and declared advisable this Agreement and the
Contemplated Transactions and (iii) determined to recommend, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth
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in this Agreement, that the stockholders of the Company vote to adopt this Agreement and thereby approve the
Contemplated Transactions. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Company and assuming the
due authorization, execution and delivery by Parent and Merger Sub, constitutes the legal, valid and binding
obligation of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms, subject to the
Enforceability Exceptions. Prior to the execution of the Company Stockholder Support Agreements, the Company
Board approved the Company Stockholder Support Agreements and the transactions contemplated thereby.
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2.4. Yote Required. The affirmative vote (or written consent) of the holders of a majority of the shares of Company
Common Stock outstanding on the record date for the Company Stockholder Written Consent and entitled to vote
thereon (the Required Company Stockholder Vote ), is the only vote (or written consent) of the holders of any class or
series of Company Capital Stock necessary to adopt and approve this Agreement and approve the Contemplated
Transactions.

2.5. Non-Contravention; Consents. Subject to obtaining the Required Company Stockholder Vote, the filing of the
Certificate of Merger required by the DGCL and obtaining the Consents set forth on Section 2.5 of the Company
Disclosure Schedule, neither (x) the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement by the Company, nor (y)
the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions, will directly or indirectly (with or without notice or lapse of
time):

(a) contravene, conflict with or result in a violation of any of the provisions of the Company s Organizational
Documents;

(b) contravene, conflict with or result in a violation of, or give any Governmental Body or, to the Knowledge of the
Company, other Person the right to challenge the Contemplated Transactions or to exercise any remedy or obtain any
relief under, any Law or any order, writ, injunction, judgment or decree to which the Company, or any of the assets
owned or used by the Company, is subject, except as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Company
or its business;

(c) contravene, conflict with or result in a violation of any of the terms or requirements of, or give any Governmental
Body the right to revoke, withdraw, suspend, cancel, terminate or modify, any Governmental Authorization that is
held by the Company, or require any notice to or Consent by any Governmental Body, except as would not reasonably
be expected to be material to the Company or its business;

(d) contravene, conflict with or result in a violation or breach of, or result in a default or require any notice or
Consent under, any provision of any Company Material Contract, or give any Person the right to: (i) declare a default
or exercise any remedy under any Company Material Contract; (ii) any material payment, rebate, chargeback, penalty
or change in delivery schedule under any Company Material Contract; (iii) accelerate the maturity or performance of
any Company Material Contract; or (iv) cancel, terminate or modify any term of any Company Material Contract,
except in each case as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Company or its business; or

(e) result in the imposition or creation of any Encumbrance upon or with respect to any asset owned or used by the
Company (except for Permitted Encumbrances).

The Company Board has taken and will take all actions necessary to ensure that the restrictions applicable to business
combinations contained in Section 203 of the DGCL are, and will be, inapplicable to the execution, delivery and
performance of this Agreement and the Company Stockholder Support Agreements and to the consummation of the
Contemplated Transactions. No other state takeover statute or similar Law applies or purports to apply to the Merger,
this Agreement, the Company Stockholder Support Agreements or any of the Contemplated Transactions. The
Company is not included within a person (as defined in 16 C.F.R. §801.1(a)(1)) that has one hundred and sixty eight
million, eight hundred thousand dollars ($168,800,000) or more of total assets or annual net sales, in each case as
determined in accordance with 16 C.F.R. §801.11.

2.6. Capitalization.

(a) The authorized Company Capital Stock as of the date of this Agreement consists of (i) 100,000,000 shares of
Company Common Stock, par value $0.00001 per share, of which 10,518,521 shares have been issued and are
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outstanding as of the date of this Agreement, and (ii) 25,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.00001 per
share (the Company Preferred Stock ), none of which are issued or outstanding as of the date of this Agreement. The
Company does not hold any shares of its capital stock in its treasury.

(b) All of the outstanding shares of Company Common Stock have been duly authorized and validly issued, and are
fully paid and nonassessable. Except as set forth in the Investor Agreements, none of the outstanding shares of

Company Common Stock is entitled or subject to any preemptive right, right of
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participation, right of maintenance or any similar right and none of the outstanding shares of Company Common
Stock is subject to any right of first refusal in favor of the Company. Except as contemplated herein and in the
Investor Agreements, there is no Company Contract relating to the voting or registration of, or restricting any Person
from purchasing, selling, pledging or otherwise disposing of (or granting any option or similar right with respect to),
any shares of Company Common Stock or Company Preferred Stock. The Company is not under any obligation, nor
is it bound by any Contract pursuant to which it may become obligated, to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire
any outstanding shares of Company Common Stock or other securities. Section 2.6(b) of the Company Disclosure
Schedule accurately and completely lists all repurchase rights held by the Company with respect to shares of
Company Common Stock (including shares issued pursuant to the exercise of stock options) and specifies which of
those repurchase rights are currently exercisable.

(c) Except for the Company Stock Plans, the Company does not have any stock option plan or any other plan,
program, agreement or arrangement providing for any equity-based compensation for any Person. As of the date of
this Agreement, the Company has reserved 3,421,650 shares of Company Common Stock for issuance under the
Company Stock Plans, of which 5,313 shares have been issued and are currently outstanding, 1,259,066 shares have
been reserved for issuance upon exercise of Company Options granted under the Company Stock Plans, and, after
giving effect to the expiration of the Company 2009 Stock Option Plan, 1,710,825 shares of Company Common Stock
remain available for future issuance pursuant to the Company Stock Plans.

(d) Section 2.6(d) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth the following information with respect to each
Company Option outstanding as of the date of this Agreement: (i) the name of the optionee; (ii) the number of shares
of Company Common Stock subject to such Company Option at the time of grant; (iii) the number of shares of
Company Common Stock subject to such Company Option as of the date of this Agreement; (iv) the exercise price of
such Company Option; (v) the date on which such Company Option was granted; (vi) the applicable vesting schedule,
including the number of vested and unvested shares as of the date of this Agreement and any acceleration provisions;
(vii) the date on which such Company Option expires; and (viii) whether such Company Option is intended to
constitute an incentive stock option (as defined in the Code) or a non-qualified stock option. The Company has made
available to Parent an accurate and complete copy of the Company Stock Plans and all stock option agreements
evidencing outstanding options granted thereunder.

(e) Except for the Company Options or as set forth on Section 2.6(e) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, there is
no: (i) outstanding subscription, option, call, warrant or right (whether or not currently exercisable) to acquire any
shares of the capital stock or other securities of the Company; or (ii) outstanding security, instrument or obligation that
is or may become convertible into or exchangeable for any shares of the capital stock or other securities of the
Company. There are no outstanding or authorized stock appreciation, phantom stock, profit participation or other
similar rights with respect to the Company.

(f) All outstanding shares of Company Common Stock, Company Options, Company Warrants and other securities
of the Company have been issued and granted in material compliance with (i) all applicable securities Laws and other
applicable Law, and (ii) all requirements set forth in applicable Contracts.

2.7. Financial Statements.

(a) Concurrently with the execution hereof, the Company has provided to Parent true and complete copies of (i) the
Company s audited balance sheets at December 31, 2017 and 2016, together with related audited statements of income,
stockholders equity and cash flows, and notes thereto, of the Company for the fiscal years then ended and (ii) the
Company Unaudited Interim Balance Sheet, together with the unaudited statements of income, stockholders equity

and cash flows of the Company for the period reflected in the Company Unaudited Interim Balance Sheet

(collectively, the Company Financials ). The Company Financials were prepared in accordance with GAAP (except as
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may be indicated in the notes to such financial statements and except that the unaudited financial statements may not
contain footnotes and are subject to normal and recurring year-end adjustments, none of which are material) and fairly
present, in all material respects, the financial position and operating results of the Company as of the dates and for the
periods indicated therein.
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(b) The Company maintains accurate books and records reflecting their assets and liabilities and maintains a system
of internal accounting controls designed to provide reasonable assurance that: (i) transactions are executed in
accordance with management s general or specific authorizations; (ii) transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of the financial statements of the Company and to maintain accountability of the Company s assets; (iii)
access to the Company s assets is permitted only in accordance with management s general or specific authorization;
(iv) the recorded accountability for the Company s assets is compared with the existing assets at regular intervals and
appropriate action is taken with respect to any differences; and (v) accounts, notes and other receivables and inventory
are recorded accurately, and proper and adequate procedures are implemented to effect the collection thereof on a
current and timely basis. The Company maintains internal control over financial reporting that provides reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes.

(c) Section 2.7(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedule lists, and the Company has delivered to Parent accurate and
complete copies of the documentation creating or governing, all securitization transactions and off-balance sheet
arrangements (as defined in Item 303(c) of Regulation S-K under the Exchange Act) effected by the Company since
January 1, 2016.

(d) Since January 1, 2016, there have been no formal internal investigations regarding financial reporting or
accounting policies and practices discussed with, reviewed by or initiated at the direction of the chief executive
officer, chief financial officer or general counsel of the Company, the Company Board or any committee thereof.
Since January 1, 2016, neither the Company nor its independent auditors have identified (i) any significant deficiency
or material weakness in the design or operation of the system of internal accounting controls utilized by the Company,
(i1) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves the Company, the Company s management or other employees
who have a role in the preparation of financial statements or the internal accounting controls utilized by the Company
or (iii) any claim or allegation regarding any of the foregoing.

2.8. Absence of Changes. Except as set forth on Section 2.8 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, between the date
of the Company Unaudited Interim Balance Sheet and the date of this Agreement, the Company has conducted its
business only in the Ordinary Course of Business (except for the execution and performance of this Agreement and
the discussions, negotiations and transactions related thereto) and there has not been any (a) Company Material
Adverse Effect or (b) action, event or occurrence that would have required the consent of Parent pursuant to Section
4.2(b) had such action, event or occurrence taken place after the execution and delivery of this Agreement.

2.9. Absence of Undisclosed Liabilities. As of the date of this Agreement, the Company does not have any liability,
indebtedness, obligation or expense of any kind, whether accrued, absolute, contingent, matured or unmatured (each a

Liability ), individually or in the aggregate, of a type required to be recorded or reflected on a balance sheet or
disclosed in the footnotes thereto under GAAP except for: (a) Liabilities disclosed, reflected or reserved against in the
Company Unaudited Interim Balance Sheet; (b) Liabilities that have been incurred by the Company since the date of
the Company Unaudited Interim Balance Sheet in the Ordinary Course of Business; (c) Liabilities incurred in
connection with the Contemplated Transactions; (d) Liabilities which would not, individually or in the aggregate,
reasonably be expected to be material to the Company, and (e) Liabilities listed in Section 2.9 of the Company
Disclosure Schedule.

2.10. Title to Assets. The Company owns, and has good and valid title to, or, in the case of leased properties and
assets, valid leasehold interests in, all tangible properties or tangible assets and equipment used or held for use in its
business or operations or purported to be owned by it, including: (a) all tangible assets reflected on the Company
Unaudited Interim Balance Sheet; and (b) all other tangible assets reflected in the books and records of the Company
as being owned by the Company. All of such assets are owned or, in the case of leased assets, leased by the Company
free and clear of any Encumbrances, other than Permitted Encumbrances.
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2.11. Real Property; Leasehold. The Company does not own nor has it ever owned any real property. The
Company has made available to Parent (a) an accurate and complete list of all real properties with respect to which the
Company directly or indirectly holds a valid leasehold interest as well as any other real estate that is in the possession
of or leased by the Company, and (b) copies of all leases under which any such real property is
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possessed (the Company Real Estate Leases ), each of which is in full force and effect (assuming the due execution by
the counterparty thereto), with no existing material default thereunder. The Company s use and operation of each such
leased property conforms to all applicable Laws in all material respects, and the Company has exclusive possession of
each such leased property and has not granted any occupancy rights to tenants or licensees with respect to such leased
property. In addition, each such leased property is free and clear of all Encumbrances other than Permitted
Encumbrances. The Company has not received written notice from its landlords or any Governmental Body that: (i)
relates to violations of building, zoning, safety or fire ordinances or regulations; (ii) claims any defect or deficiency

with respect to any of such properties; or (iii) requests the performance of any repairs, alterations or other work to

such properties.

2.12. Intellectual Property.

(a) The Company owns, or has the legal and valid right to use, as currently being used by the Company, all Company
Owned IP Rights and Company Licensed IP Rights, and with respect to Company Owned IP Rights, has the right to
bring actions for the infringement (including actions for both damages and injunctive relief) of such Company Owned
IP Rights, in each case except for any failure to own, have such rights to use, or have such rights to bring actions for
infringement that would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Company or its business.

(b) Section 2.12(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth an accurate, true and complete listing of all (i)
Company Registered IP, and, specifying as to each such item, as applicable, the owner(s) of record (and, in the case of
domain names, the registrar), the beneficial owner(s) (if different from the owner(s) of record), jurisdiction of
application and/or registration, the application and/or registration number, the date of application and/or registration,
and the status of application and/or registration, and (ii) material unregistered Trademarks included in the Company
Owned IP Rights. Each item of Company Registered IP is and at all times has been filed and maintained in
compliance in all material respects with all applicable Law and all filings, payments, and other actions required to be
made or taken to maintain such item of Company Registered IP in full force and effect have been made by the
applicable deadline, except for any failure to perform any of the foregoing, individually or collectively, that would not
reasonably be expected to be material to the Company or its business.

(c) Section 2.12(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedule accurately identifies (i) all Company Contracts pursuant to
which Company Licensed IP Rights are licensed to the Company (other than (A) any non-customized software that (1)
is so licensed solely in executable or object code form pursuant to a non-exclusive, internal use software license and
other Intellectual Property non-exclusively licensed with such software and (2) is not incorporated into, or material to
the development, manufacturing, or distribution of, any of the Company s products or services, (B) any Intellectual
Property licensed ancillary to the purchase or use of services, equipment, reagents or other materials and (C) any
immaterial confidential information provided under confidentiality agreements), and (ii) whether the license or
licenses granted to the Company are exclusive or non-exclusive. For purposes of greater certainty, the term license in
this Section 2.12(c) and in Section 2.12(d) includes any license, sublicense, covenant, non-assert, consent, release or
waiver. Except as set forth in Section 2.12(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, there are no royalties, honoraria,
fees or other payments payable by the Company or any Person for the purchase, license, sublicense or use of any
Company Licensed IP Rights.

(d) Section 2.12(d) of the Company Disclosure Schedule accurately identifies all Company Contracts pursuant to
which the Company has granted any license under, or any right (whether or not currently exercisable) or interest in,
any Company Owned IP Rights or Company Exclusively Licensed IP Rights to any Person (other than any Company
Owned IP Rights or Company Exclusively Licensed IP Rights non-exclusively licensed to suppliers or service
providers for the sole purpose of enabling such suppliers or service providers to provide products and services for the
Company s benefit).
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(e) Except as set forth in Section 2.12(e) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, (i) the Company is not bound by, and
no Company Owned IP Rights are subject to, any Company Contract containing any covenant or other provision, or
any judicial, administrative or arbitral order, judgment, award, order, decree, injunction, settlement or stipulation, that
affects the validity or enforceability of such Company Owned IP Rights or limits or restricts the ability of the
Company to use, exploit, assert, enforce, sell, transfer or dispose of any such Company Owned IP Rights anywhere in
the world, in each case, in a manner that
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would materially limit the business of the Company as currently conducted or planned to be conducted; and (ii) no
Company Exclusively Licensed IP Rights are subject to any Company Contract containing any covenant or other
provision, or, to the Actual Knowledge of the Company, any judicial, administrative or arbitral order, judgment,
award, order, decree, injunction, settlement or stipulation that affects the validity or enforceability of such Company
Exclusively Licensed IP Rights or limits or restricts the ability of the Company to use, exploit, assert, enforce, sell,
transfer or dispose of any such Company Exclusively Licensed IP Rights anywhere in the world, in each case, in a
manner that would materially limit the business of the Company as currently conducted or planned to be conducted.

(f) Except as identified in Section 2.12(f) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, the Company is the sole and
unrestricted legal and beneficial owner of all right, title, and interest to and in Company Owned IP Rights, in each
case, free and clear of any Encumbrances (other than Permitted Encumbrances).

(g) Each Person who is or was an employee or contractor of the Company and who is or was involved in the creation
or development of any material Company Owned IP Rights has signed a valid, enforceable agreement containing a
present-tense assignment of such Intellectual Property to the Company and confidentiality provisions protecting
Proprietary Information and other confidential information of the Company.

(h) No current or former stockholder, officer, director, or employee of the Company has any claim, right (whether or
not currently exercisable), or interest to or in any Company Owned IP Rights. To the Knowledge of the Company, no
employee of the Company is (A) bound by or otherwise subject to any Contract restricting him or her from performing
his or her duties for the Company or (B) in breach of any Contract with any former employer or other Person
concerning Company Owned IP Rights or confidentiality provisions protecting Proprietary Information and other
confidential information comprising Company Owned IP Rights.

(1) Except as identified in Section 2.12(i) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, no material Company Owned IP
Rights or, to the Actual Knowledge of the Company, Company Exclusively Licensed IP Rights were developed, in
whole or in part (A) pursuant to or in connection with the development of any professional, technical or industry
standard, (B) under contract with or using the resources of any Governmental Body, academic institution or other
entity that would subject any Company Owned IP Rights or, to the Actual Knowledge of the Company, Company
Exclusively Licensed IP Rights to the rights of any Governmental Body, academic institution or other entity or (C)
under any grants or other funding arrangements with third parties. To the extent that any Company Owned IP Rights
or Company Exclusively Licensed IP Rights are disclosed in Section 2.12(i) of the Company Disclosure Schedule,
Section 2.12(i) of the Company Disclosure Schedule identifies each Company Contract that relates to such Company
Owned IP Rights or Company Exclusively Licensed IP Rights.

() The Company has taken all commercially reasonable and appropriate steps to protect and maintain the Company
Owned IP Rights, including to preserve the confidentiality of all Proprietary Information that the Company holds, or
purports to hold, as a material trade secret.

(k) Except as set forth in Section 2.12(k) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, the Company has not assigned, sold
or otherwise transferred (other than standard licenses or rights to use granted to customers, suppliers or service
providers in the Ordinary Course of Business) any of the Company Owned IP Rights to any third party, and there
exists no obligation by the Company to assign, sell or otherwise transfer any of the Company Owned IP Rights to any
third party.

(1) To the Knowledge of the Company, the Company Owned IP Rights are valid and enforceable and, to the Actual
Knowledge of the Company, the Company Exclusively Licensed IP Rights are valid and enforceable.
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(m) The manufacture, marketing, license, sale or intended use of any product or technology currently licensed or
sold, in each case, to a third party or actively under development by the Company does not violate any license or
agreement between the Company and any third party, and to the Company s Knowledge, the Company does not
infringe, misappropriate, violate or conflict, nor, to the Company s Knowledge, has the Company in the last two (2)
years infringed, misappropriated, violated, or conflicted with any Intellectual Property right of any third party, which
infringement, misappropriation, violation or
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conflict would reasonably be expected to be material to the Company or its business. To the Knowledge of the
Company with respect to Company Owned IP Rights, and to the Actual Knowledge of the Company in the case of the
Company Exclusively Licensed IP Rights, no third party is infringing upon any Company Owned IP Rights or
Company Exclusively Licensed IP Rights or violating any license or agreement between the Company and any third
party. The Company has not sent any written communication to or asserted or threatened in writing any action or
claim against any Person involving or relating to any Company IP Rights.

(n) There is no current or pending Legal Proceeding (including, opposition, interference, inter partes review, or other
proceeding in any patent or other government office) contesting the validity, ownership or right to use, sell, license or
disposal of any Company Owned IP Rights or, to the Actual Knowledge of the Company, Company Exclusively
Licensed IP Rights, or any of the Company s products or technologies, nor has the Company received any written
notice asserting that (i) any Company IP Rights, or the Company s right to use, sell, license or dispose of any Company
IP Rights or products or technologies conflicts with, violates, infringes or misappropriates or will conflict with,

violate, infringe or misappropriate the rights of any other Person or (ii) that a license under any other Person s
Intellectual Property is or may be required.

(o) Except as set forth in the Contracts listed on Section 2.12(0) of the Company Disclosure Schedule and except for
Company Contracts entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business, (i) the Company is not bound by any Contract to
indemnify, defend, hold harmless, or reimburse any other Person with respect to any Intellectual Property
infringement, misappropriation, or similar claim, in each case, that would reasonably be expected to be material to the
Company or its business, and (ii) the Company has not assumed, or agreed to discharge or otherwise take
responsibility for, any existing or potential liability of another Person for infringement, misappropriation, or violation
of any Intellectual Property right, which assumption, agreement or responsibility is material and remains in force as of
the date of this Agreement.

(p) There are no Contracts pursuant to which Company or any existing or future Affiliate of Company granted or is
required to grant to any Person any rights under the Company IP Rights other than Company Owned IP Rights or
Company Exclusively Licensed IP Rights as of the Closing Date.

2.13. Agreements, Contracts and Commitments.

(a) Section 2.13(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule lists the following Company Contracts in effect as of the
date of this Agreement other than any Company Benefit Plans (each, a Company Material Contract and collectively,
the Company Material Contracts ):

(i) each Company Contract relating to any agreement of indemnification or guaranty not entered into in the Ordinary
Course of Business;

(i) each Company Contract containing (A) any covenant limiting the freedom of the Company or the Surviving
Corporation to engage in any line of business or compete with any Person, (B) any most-favored pricing arrangement,

(C) any exclusivity provision, or (D) any non-solicitation provision;

(iii)) each Company Contract relating to capital expenditures and requiring payments after the date of this Agreement
in excess of $100,000 pursuant to its express terms and not cancelable without penalty;

(iv) each Company Contract relating to the disposition or acquisition of material assets or any ownership interest in
any Entity;
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(v) each Company Contract relating to any mortgages, indentures, loans, notes or credit agreements, security
agreements or other agreements or instruments relating to the borrowing of money or extension of credit or creating
any material Encumbrances with respect to any assets of the Company or any loans or debt obligations with officers or
directors of the Company;

(vi) each Company Contract requiring payment by or to the Company after the date of this Agreement in excess of
$100,000 per twelve (12) month period pursuant to its express terms relating to: (A) any distribution agreement
(identifying any that contain exclusivity provisions); (B) any agreement involving provision of services or products
with respect to any pre-clinical or clinical development activities of the Company; (C) any dealer, distributor, joint
marketing, alliance, joint venture, cooperation, development or other agreement currently in force under which the
Company has
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continuing obligations to develop or market any product, technology or service, or any agreement pursuant to which
the Company has continuing obligations to develop any Intellectual Property that will not be owned, in whole or in
part, by the Company; or (D) any Contract to license any third party to manufacture or produce any product, service or
technology of the Company or any Contract to sell, distribute or commercialize any products or service of the
Company, in each case, except for Company Contracts entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(vii) each Company Contract with any Person, including any financial advisor, broker, finder, investment banker or
other Person, providing advisory services to the Company in connection with the Contemplated Transactions;

(viii) each Company Contract with a labor union, labor organization, or similar Person;

(ix) each Company Real Estate Lease;

(x) each Company Contract with any Governmental Body;

(xi) each Company Contract required to be listed on Section 2.12 of the Company Disclosure Schedule;

(xii) each Company Contract containing any royalty, dividend or similar arrangement based on the revenues or
profits of the Company; or

(xiii) any other Company Contract that is not terminable at will (with no penalty or payment) by the Company and
(A) which involves payment or receipt by the Company after the date of this Agreement under any such agreement,
contract or commitment of more than $25,000 in the aggregate for any twelve (12) month period, or obligations after
the date of this Agreement in excess of $25,000 in the aggregate for any twelve (12) month period, or (B) that is
material to the business or operations of the Company, taken as a whole.

(b) The Company has delivered or made available to Parent accurate and complete copies of all Company Material
Contracts, including all amendments thereto. Except as set forth in Section 2.13(b) of the Company Disclosure
Schedule, there are no Company Material Contracts that are not in written form. Neither the Company nor to the
Knowledge of the Company as of the date of this Agreement has any other party to a Company Material Contract,
breached, violated or defaulted under, or received written notice that it breached, violated or defaulted under, any of
the terms or conditions of any Company Material Contract in such manner as would permit any other party to cancel
or terminate any such Company Material Contract, or would permit any other party to seek damages which would
reasonably be expected to be material to the Company or its business. As to the Company, as of the date of this
Agreement, each Company Material Contract is valid, binding, enforceable and in full force and effect, subject to the
Enforceability Exceptions.

2.14. Compliance; Permits; Restrictions.

(a) The Company is, and since January 1, 2016 has been, in compliance in all material respects with all applicable
Laws, including the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act ( FDCA ), the Food and Drug Administration ( FDA )
regulations adopted thereunder, the Controlled Substance Act and any other similar Law administered or promulgated
by the FDA, the European Medicines Evaluation Agency ( EMEA ) or other comparable Governmental Body
responsible for regulation of the development, clinical testing, manufacturing, sale, marketing, distribution and
importation or exportation of drug products (the FDA, EMEA and each such other comparable Governmental Body, a
Drug Regulatory Agency ), except for any noncompliance, either individually or in the aggregate, which would not be
material to the Company. No investigation, claim, suit, proceeding, audit or other action by any Governmental Body is
pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened in writing against the Company. There is no agreement,
judgment, injunction, order or decree binding upon the Company which (i) has or would reasonably be expected to
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have the effect of prohibiting or materially impairing any business practice of the Company, any acquisition of
material property by the Company or the conduct of business by the Company as currently conducted, (ii) is
reasonably likely to have an adverse effect on the Company s ability to comply with or perform any covenant or
obligation under this Agreement, or (iii) is reasonably likely to have the effect of preventing, delaying, making illegal
or otherwise interfering with the Contemplated Transactions.
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(b) The Company holds all required Governmental Authorizations which are material to the operation of the business
of the Company as currently conducted (the Company Permits _). Section 2.14(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule
identifies each Company Permit. The Company is in material compliance with the terms of the Company Permits. No
Legal Proceeding is pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened, which seeks to revoke, limit, suspend,

or materially modify any Company Permit. The rights and benefits of each Company Permit will be available to the
Surviving Corporation immediately after the Effective Time on terms substantially similar to those enjoyed by the
Company as of the date of this Agreement and immediately prior to the Effective Time.

(c) There are no proceedings pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened with respect to an alleged
material violation by the Company of the FDCA, FDA regulations adopted thereunder, the Controlled Substance Act
or any other similar Law administered or promulgated by any Drug Regulatory Agency.

(d) The Company holds all required Governmental Authorizations issuable by any Drug Regulatory Agency
necessary or material to the conduct of the business of the Company as currently conducted, and, as applicable, the
development, clinical testing, manufacturing, marketing, distribution and importation or exportation, as currently
conducted, of any of its products or product candidates (collectively, the Company Products ) (collectively, the

Company Regulatory Permits ) and no such Company Regulatory Permit has been (i) revoked, withdrawn, suspended,
cancelled or terminated or (ii) modified in any adverse manner, other than immaterial adverse modifications. The
Company is in compliance in all material respects with the Company Regulatory Permits and has not received any
written notice or other written communication, or to the Knowledge of the Company, any other communication from
any Drug Regulatory Agency regarding (A) any material violation of or failure to comply materially with any term or
requirement of any Company Regulatory Permit or (B) any revocation, withdrawal, suspension, cancellation,
termination or material modification of any Company Regulatory Permit. Except as set forth on Section 2.14(d) of the
Company Disclosure Schedule, the Company has made available to Parent complete copies of the following (to the
extent there are any): (x) copies of all investigational new drug applications (INDs) submitted to the FDA, and all
supplements to and amendments of such INDs; new drug applications; adverse event reports; clinical study reports
and material study data; inspection reports, notices of adverse findings, warning letters, filings and letters and other
material written correspondence to and from any Drug Regulatory Agency; and (y) similar notices, letters, filings,
correspondence and meeting minutes with any other Governmental Body. The Company has complied in all material
respects with the ICH E9 Guidance for Industry: Statistical Principles for Clinical Trials in the management of the
clinical data that have been presented by the Company. To the Company s Knowledge, there are no studies, tests or
trials the results of which the Company believes reasonably call into question (i) the study, test or trial results of any
Company Products, (ii) the efficacy or safety of any Company Products or (iii) any of the Company s filings with any
Governmental Body.

(e) All clinical, pre-clinical and other studies and tests conducted by or on behalf of, or sponsored by, the Company,
or in which the Company or its current products or product candidates, including the Company Products, have
participated, were and, if still pending, are being conducted in all material respects in accordance with standard
medical and scientific research procedures and in compliance in all material respects with the applicable regulations of
any applicable Drug Regulatory Agency and other applicable Law, including 21 C.F.R. Parts 50, 54, 56, 58 and 312.
No preclinical or clinical trial conducted by or on behalf of the Company has been terminated or suspended prior to
completion for safety or non-compliance reasons. Since January 1, 2016, the Company has not received any notices,
correspondence, or other communications from any Drug Regulatory Agency requiring, or to the Knowledge of the
Company threatening to initiate, the termination or suspension of any clinical studies conducted by or on behalf of, or
sponsored by, the Company or in which the Company or its current products or product candidates, including the
Company Products, have participated.

(f) The Company is not the subject of any pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened investigation in
respect of its business or products by the FDA pursuant to its Fraud, Untrue Statements of Material Facts, Bribery, and
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Illegal Gratuities Final Policy set forth in 56 Fed. Reg. 46191 (September 10, 1991) and any amendments thereto. To
the Knowledge of the Company, the Company has not committed any acts, made any statement, or failed to make any
statement, in each case in respect of its
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business or products that would violate the FDA s Fraud, Untrue Statements of Material Facts, Bribery, and Illegal
Gratuities Final Policy, and any amendments thereto or any comparable applicable Law of any other Drug Regulatory
Agency. Neither the Company nor, to the Knowledge of the Company, any of its officers, employees or agents has
been convicted of any crime or engaged in any conduct that would result in a debarment or exclusion (i) under 21
U.S.C. Section 335a or (ii) any similar applicable Law. No debarment or exclusionary claims, actions, proceedings or
investigations in respect of the Company s business or products are pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company,
threatened against the Company or, to the Knowledge of the Company any of its officers, employees or agents.

(g) The Company has complied in all material respects with all Laws relating to patient, medical or individual health
information, including the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and its implementing
regulations promulgated thereunder, all as amended from time to time (collectively HIPAA ), including the standards
for the privacy of Individually Identifiable Health Information at 45 C.F.R. Parts 160 and 164, Subparts A and E, the
standards for the protection of Electronic Protected Health Information set forth at 45 C.F.R. Part 160 and 45 C.F.R.
Part 164, Subpart A and Subpart C, the standards for transactions and code sets used in electronic transactions at 45
C.F.R. Part 160, Subpart A and Part 162, and the standards for Breach Notification for Unsecured Protected Health
Information at 45 C.F.R. Part 164, Subpart D, all as amended from time to time. The Company has entered into, where
required, and are in compliance in all material respects with the terms of all Business Associate (as defined in HIPAA)
agreements to which the Company is a party or otherwise bound. The Company has not received written notice from
the Office for Civil Rights for the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services or any other Governmental Body of
any allegation regarding its failure to comply with HIPAA or any other state law or regulation applicable to the
protection of individually identifiable health information or personally identifiable information. To the Company s
Knowledge, no successful Security Incident, Breach of Unsecured Protected Health Information or breach of
personally identifiable information under applicable state or federal laws has occurred with respect to information
maintained or transmitted to the Company or an agent or third party subject to a Business Associate Agreement with
the Company. The Company is currently submitting, receiving and handling or is capable of submitting receiving and
handling transactions in accordance in all material respects with the Standard Transaction Rule. All capitalized terms
in this Section 2.14(g) not otherwise defined in this Agreement shall have the meanings set forth under HIPAA.

2.15. Legal Proceedings; Orders.

(a) As of the date of this Agreement, there is no pending Legal Proceeding and, to the Knowledge of the Company,
no Person has threatened in writing to commence any Legal Proceeding: (i) that involves (A) the Company, (B) to the
Company s Knowledge, any Company Associate (in his or her capacity as such) or (C) any of the material assets
owned or used by the Company; or (ii) that challenges, or that may have the effect of preventing, delaying, making
illegal or otherwise interfering with, the Contemplated Transactions.

(b) Except as set forth in Section 2.15(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, since January 1, 2016, no Legal
Proceeding has been pending against the Company that resulted in material liability to the Company.

(c) There is no order, writ, injunction, judgment or decree to which the Company or any of the material assets owned
or used by the Company is subject. To the Knowledge of the Company, no officer or other Key Employee of the
Company is subject to any order, writ, injunction, judgment or decree that prohibits such officer or employee from
engaging in or continuing any conduct, activity or practice relating to the business of the Company or to any material
assets owned or used by the Company.

2.16. Tax Matters.

(a) The Company has timely filed all income Tax Returns and other material Tax Returns that they were required to
file under applicable Law. All such Tax Returns are correct and complete in all material respects and have been
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prepared in compliance with all applicable Law. No claim has ever been made by any Governmental Body in any
jurisdiction where the Company does not file a particular Tax Return or pay a particular Tax that the Company is
subject to taxation by that jurisdiction.

A-15

96



Edgar Filing: - Form
TABLE OF CONTENTS

(b) All income and other material Taxes due and owing by the Company on or before the date hereof (whether or not
shown on any Tax Return) have been fully paid. Since the date of the Company Unaudited Interim Balance Sheet, the
Company has not incurred any material Liability for Taxes outside the Ordinary Course of Business.

(c) All Taxes that the Company is or was required by Law to withhold or collect have been duly and timely withheld
or collected in all material respects on behalf of its respective employees, independent contractors, stockholders, or
other third parties and, have been timely paid to the proper Governmental Body or other Person or properly set aside
in accounts for this purpose.

(d) There are no Encumbrances for material Taxes (other than Taxes not yet due and payable) upon any of the assets
of the Company.

(e) No deficiencies for income or other material Taxes with respect to the Company have been claimed, proposed or
assessed by any Governmental Body in writing. There are no pending or ongoing, and to the Knowledge of the
Company, threatened audits, assessments or other actions for or relating to any liability in respect of a material
amount of Taxes of the Company. Neither the Company nor any of its predecessors has waived any statute of
limitations in respect of any income or other material Taxes or agreed to any extension of time with respect to any
income or other material Tax assessment or deficiency.

(f) The Company has not been a United States real property holding corporation within the meaning of Section
897(c)(2) of the Code during the applicable period specified in Section 897(c)(1)(A)(ii) of the Code.

(g) The Company is not party to any Tax allocation agreement, Tax sharing agreement, Tax indemnity agreement, or
similar agreement or arrangement, other than customary commercial contracts entered into in the Ordinary Course of
Business the principal subject matter of which is not Taxes.

(h) The Company will not be required to include any material item of income in, or exclude any material item of
deduction from, taxable income for any Tax period (or portion thereof) ending after the Closing Date as a result of

any: (i) change in method of accounting for Tax purposes; (ii) use of an improper method of accounting for a Tax

period ending on or prior to the Closing Date; (iii) closing agreement as described in Section 7121 of the Code (or any
similar provision of state, local or foreign Law) executed on or prior to the Closing Date; (iv) intercompany

transaction or excess loss account described in Treasury Regulations under Section 1502 of the Code (or any similar
provision of state, local or foreign Law); (v) installment sale or open transaction disposition made on or prior to the
Closing Date; (vi) prepaid amount received or deferred revenue accrued on or prior to the Closing Date; or (vii)

election under Section 108(i) of the Code (or any similar provision of state, local or foreign Law).

(1) The Company has never been a member of a consolidated, combined or unitary Tax group (other than such a
group the common parent of which is the Company). The Company has no Liability for any material Taxes of any
Person (other than the Company) under Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of state,
local, or foreign Law), or as a transferee or successor.

() The Company has not distributed stock of another Person, or has had its stock distributed by another Person, in a
transaction that was purported or intended to be governed in whole or in part by Section 355 of the Code or Section

361 of the Code (or any similar provisions of state, local or foreign Law).

(k) The Company has never had a permanent establishment (within the meaning of an applicable Tax treaty) or
otherwise has an office or fixed place of business in a jurisdiction outside of the United States.
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(1) The Company has not participated in or been a party to a transaction that, as of the date of this Agreement,
constitutes a listed transaction that is required to be reported to the IRS pursuant to Section 6011 of the Code and
applicable Treasury Regulations thereunder.

(m) The Company has not taken any action or has Knowledge of any fact that would reasonably be expected to
prevent the Merger from qualifying for the Intended Tax Treatment.

For purposes of this Section 2.16, each reference to the Company shall be deemed to include any Person that was
liquidated into, merged with, or is otherwise a predecessor to, the Company.
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2.17. Employee and Labor Matters; Benefit Plans.

(a) Section 2.17(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule is a list of all material Company Benefit Plans, including,
without limitation, each Company Benefit Plan that provides for retirement, change in control, non-qualified deferred
compensation, incentive compensation, severance or retiree medical or retiree life insurance benefits. Company
Benefit Plan means each (i) employee benefit plan as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA and (ii) other pension,
retirement, deferred compensation, profit sharing, bonus, incentive, equity or equity-based, phantom equity,
employment, consulting, severance, change-of-control, retention, health, life, disability, time off, holiday, welfare and
fringe benefit plan, program, contract, or arrangement (whether written or unwritten), in any case, maintained,
contributed to, or required to be contributed to, by the Company or any Company ERISA Affiliate for the benefit of
any current or former employee, director, officer or consultant (that is a natural person) of the Company or under
which the Company has any actual or contingent liability (including, without limitation, as to the result of it being
treated as a single employer under Code Section 414 with any other person).

(b) As applicable with respect to each material Company Benefit Plan, the Company has made available to Parent,
true and complete copies of (i) each material Company Benefit Plan, including all amendments thereto, and in the case
of an unwritten material Company Benefit Plan, a written description thereof, (ii) all current trust documents,
administrative services agreements and insurance and annuity contracts relating thereto, (iii) the current summary plan
description and each summary of material modifications thereto, (iv) the most recently filed annual reports with any
Governmental Body (e.g., Form 5500 and all schedules thereto), (v) the most recent IRS determination, opinion or
advisory letter, (vi) the most recent summary annual reports, nondiscrimination testing reports, actuarial reports,
financial statements and trustee reports, (vii) all records, notices and filings concerning IRS or Department of Labor or
other Governmental Body audits or investigations or prohibited transactions within the meaning of Section 406 of
ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code, in any case under this clause (vii), within the last three (3) years and (viii) all
policies and procedures established to comply with the privacy and security rules of HIPAA.

(c) Each Company Benefit Plan has been maintained, operated and administered in compliance in all material
respects with its terms and any related documents or agreements and the applicable provisions of ERISA, the Code
and all other Laws.

(d) The Company Benefit Plans which are employee pension benefit plans within the meaning of Section 3(2) of
ERISA and which are intended to meet the qualification requirements of Section 401(a) of the Code have each
received a favorable determination, opinion or advisory letter from the IRS to the effect that such Company Benefit
Plan is qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code, and nothing has occurred that would reasonably be expected to
result in the loss of such qualification of such Company Benefit Plan.

(e) Neither the Company nor any Company ERISA Affiliate maintains, contributes to, is required to contribute to, or
has any actual or contingent liability with respect to, (i) any employee pension benefit plan (within the meaning of
Section 3(2) of ERISA) that is subject to Title IV or Section 302 of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code, (ii) any

multiemployer plan (within the meaning of Section 3(37) of ERISA), (iii) any multiple employer plan (within the
meaning of Section 413 of the Code) or (iv) any multiple employer welfare arrangement (within the meaning of
Section 3(40) of ERISA).

(f) There are no pending audits or investigations by any Governmental Body involving any Company Benefit Plan,
and no pending nor, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened claims (except for individual claims for benefits
payable in the normal operation of the Company Benefit Plans), suits or proceedings involving any Company Benefit
Plan, in any case, except as would not be reasonably expected to result in material liability to the Company.
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(g) No Company Benefit Plan provides death, medical, dental, vision or life insurance benefits beyond termination of
service or retirement other than coverage mandated by Law and neither the Company nor any Company ERISA
Affiliate has made a written or oral representation promising the same.

(h) Neither the execution of, nor the performance of the transactions contemplated by, this Agreement will either
alone or in connection with any other event(s) (i) result in any payment becoming due to any current or former

employee, director, officer, or consultant (who is a natural person) of the Company,
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(i) increase any amount of compensation or benefits otherwise payable under any Company Benefit Plan, (iii) result
in the acceleration of the time of payment, funding or vesting of any benefits under any Company Benefit Plan or (iv)
require any contribution or payment to fund any obligation under any Company Benefit Plan.

(1) The exercise price of each Company Option was not less than the fair market value of one share of Company
Common Stock as of the grant date of such Company Option.

() No current or former employee, officer, director or independent contractor of the Company has any gross up
agreements or other assurance of reimbursement for any Taxes imposed under Code Section 409A or Code Section
4999.

(k) The Company does not maintain any Company Benefit Plan outside of the United States.

(1) The Company is not a party to, bound by, nor has a duty to bargain under any collective bargaining agreement or
other Contract with a labor union, labor organization, or similar Person representing any of its employees, and there is
no labor union, labor organization, or similar Person representing or, to the Knowledge of the Company, purporting to
represent or seeking to represent any employees of the Company, including through the filing of a petition for
representation election.

(m) The Company is, and since January 1, 2016 has been, in compliance in all material respects with all applicable
Laws respecting labor, employment, employment practices, and terms and conditions of employment, including
worker classification, tax withholding, prohibited discrimination and retaliation, equal employment opportunities,
harassment, fair employment practices, meal and rest periods, immigration, employee safety and health, wages
(including overtime wages), unemployment and workers compensation, leaves of absence, and hours of work. Except
as would not be reasonably likely to result in a material liability to the Company, with respect to employees of the
Company, the Company since January 1, 2016: (i) has withheld and reported all amounts required by Law or by
agreement to be withheld and reported with respect to wages, salaries and other payments, benefits, or compensation
to employees, (ii) is not liable for any arrears of wages (including overtime wages), severance pay or any Taxes or any
penalty for failure to comply with any of the foregoing, and (iii) is not liable for any payment to any trust or other
fund governed by or maintained by or on behalf of any Governmental Body, with respect to unemployment
compensation benefits, disability, social security or other benefits or obligations for employees (other than routine
payments to be made in the Ordinary Course of Business). There are no Legal Proceedings pending or, to the
Knowledge of the Company, threatened or reasonably anticipated against the Company with respect to, by, or on
behalf of any employee, applicant for employment, consultant, employment agreement or Company Benefit Plan
(other than routine claims for benefits).

(n) Except as would not be reasonably likely to result in a material liability to the Company, with respect to each
individual who currently renders services to the Company, the Company has accurately classified each such individual
as an employee, independent contractor, or otherwise under all applicable Laws and, for each individual classified as
an employee, the Company has accurately classified him or her as overtime eligible or overtime ineligible under all
applicable Laws. The Company does not have any material liability with respect to any misclassification of: (i) any
Person as an independent contractor rather than as an employee, (ii) any employee leased from another employer, or
(iii) any employee currently or formerly classified as exempt from overtime wages.

(o) There is not and has not been in the past three (3) years, nor is there or has there been in the past three (3) years
any threat of, any strike, slowdown, work stoppage, lockout, union election petition, demand for recognition, or any
similar activity or dispute, or, to the Knowledge of the Company, any union organizing activity, against the Company.
No event has occurred, and no condition or circumstance exists, that might directly or indirectly be likely to give rise
to or provide a basis for the commencement of any such strike, slowdown, work stoppage, lockout or any similar
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activity or dispute.
(p) There is no Legal Proceeding, including any claim, unfair labor practice charge or complaint, labor dispute or
grievance, pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened against the Company relating to labor,

employment, employment practices, or terms and conditions of employment.

(qQ) As of the date hereof, no Key Employee of the Company has submitted his or her resignation or, to the
Knowledge of the Company, intends to resign.

A-18
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2.18. Environmental Matters. The Company is and since January 1, 2016 has complied with all applicable
Environmental Laws, which compliance includes the possession by the Company of all permits and other
Governmental Authorizations required under applicable Environmental Laws and compliance with the terms and
conditions thereof, except for any failure to be in such compliance that, either individually or in the aggregate, would
not reasonably be expected to be material to the Company or its business. The Company has not received since
January 1, 2016 (or prior to that time, which is pending and unresolved), any written notice or other communication
(in writing or otherwise), whether from a Governmental Body or other Person, that alleges that the Company is not in
compliance with or has liability pursuant to any Environmental Law. No current or (during the time a prior property
was leased by the Company) prior property leased by the Company has had a release of or exposure to Hazardous
Substances in material violation of or as would reasonably be expected to result in any material liability of the
Company pursuant to Environmental Law. No consent, approval or Governmental Authorization of or registration or
filing with any Governmental Body is required by Environmental Laws in connection with the execution and delivery
of this Agreement or the Contemplated Transactions. Prior to the date hereof, the Company has provided or otherwise
made available to Parent true and correct copies of all material environmental reports, assessments, studies and audits
in the possession or control of the Company with respect to any property leased by the Company.

2.19. Insurance. The Company has delivered or made available to Parent accurate and complete copies of all
material insurance policies and all material self-insurance programs and arrangements relating to the business, assets,
liabilities and operations of the Company. Each of such insurance policies is in full force and effect and the Company
is in compliance in all material respects with the terms thereof. Other than customary end of policy notifications from
insurance carriers, since January 1, 2016, the Company has not received any notice or other communication regarding
any actual or possible: (i) cancellation or invalidation of any insurance policy; or (ii) refusal or denial of any coverage,
reservation of rights or rejection of any material claim under any insurance policy. The Company has provided timely
written notice to the appropriate insurance carrier(s) of each Legal Proceeding that is currently pending against the
Company for which the Company has insurance coverage, and no such carrier has issued a denial of coverage or a
reservation of rights with respect to any such Legal Proceeding, or informed the Company of its intent to do so. This
Section 2.19 does not apply to insurance under any Company Benefit Plan.

2.20. No Brokers Fees. Except as set forth on Section 2.20 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, no broker, finder
or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage fee, finder s fee, opinion fee, success fee, transaction fee or other fee
or commission in connection with the Contemplated Transactions based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of
the Company.

2.21. Disclosure. The information supplied by the Company for inclusion in the Proxy Statement (including any of
the Company Financials) will not, as of each of the date of the Proxy Statement and the date such information is
prepared or presented, (i) contain any statement that is inaccurate or misleading with respect to any material facts, or
(ii) omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make such information, in light of the circumstances under
which such information will be provided, not false or misleading.

2.22. Transactions with Affiliates.

(a) Section 2.22(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule describes any material transactions or relationships, since
January 1, 2016, between, on one hand, the Company and, on the other hand, any (i) executive officer or director of
the Company or any of such executive officer s or director s immediate family members, (ii) owner of more than five
percent (5%) of the voting power of the outstanding Company Capital Stock or (iii) to the Knowledge of the
Company, any related person (within the meaning of Item 404 of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act) of any
such officer, director or owner (other than the Company) in the case of each of (i), (ii) or (iii) that is of the type that
would be required to be disclosed under Item 404 of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act.
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(b) Section 2.22(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule lists each stockholders agreement, voting agreement,
registration rights agreement, co-sale agreement or other similar Contract between the Company and any holders of
Company Capital Stock, including any such Contract granting any Person investor rights, rights of first refusal, rights
of first offer, registration rights, director designation rights or similar rights (collectively, the Investor Agreements ).
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2.23. Anti-Bribery. Neither the Company nor any of its directors, officers, employees or, to the Company s
Knowledge, agents or any other Person acting on their behalf has directly or indirectly made any bribes, rebates,

payoffs, influence payments, kickbacks, illegal payments, illegal political contributions, or other payments, in the

form of cash, gifts, or otherwise, or taken any other action, in violation of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977,

the UK Bribery Act of 2010 or any other anti-bribery or anti-corruption Law (collectively, the Anti-Bribery Laws ). To
the Company s Knowledge, the Company is not and has not been the subject of any investigation or inquiry by any
Governmental Body with respect to potential violations of Anti-Bribery Laws.

2.24. Information Technology: Data Privacy.

(a) The Company has taken commercially reasonable steps to ensure the continued operation of the material software
and databases included in the Company Owned IP Rights, and all of its material computers and other information
technology infrastructure and assets used in the business (collectively, the IT Assets ), and to protect the security and
confidentiality of its IT Assets and the material information and records stored on or accessed or transmitted using the
IT Assets. The IT Assets of the Company operate and perform in all material respects as is necessary and sufficient for
the conduct of the business of the Company as currently conducted by them. To the Company s Knowledge, the IT
Assets are free from malicious code and do not contain any bugs, errors, vulnerabilities or problems that, in each case,
would be expected to materially adversely affect the operation or use of any such IT Assets in the business of the
Company. To the Company s Knowledge, there has not been in the past three (3) years any material (i) unauthorized
intrusions or breach of the security of the IT Assets, (ii) malfunction of the IT Assets or (iii) accidental or
unauthorized access to, loss or misuse of Personal Data maintained by the Company. The Company has implemented
commercially reasonable backups and security measures to duplicate, store and protect its material information that is
stored in electronic form or media.

(b) The Company and, to the Knowledge of the Company, each of the Company s Data Processors, is in compliance
in all material respects with all applicable Data Privacy Requirements. To the Company s Knowledge, the Company is
not under investigation by any Governmental Body for a material violation of applicable Laws relating to data privacy
or security, nor has the Company received any written complaint or inquiry related to its data privacy or security
practices. The Company and, to the Knowledge of the Company, each of the Company s Data Processors, has
implemented and maintains commercially reasonable organizational, physical, administrative and technical measures
substantially consistent with industry standards to protect the operation, confidentiality, integrity and security of all
Personal Data or other sensitive business data against loss, theft, or unauthorized access, disclosure or use. To the
Company s Knowledge, the Company has not experienced any security incident in which an unauthorized party
accessed or acquired Personal Data or sensitive business data maintained by or on behalf of the Company.

2.25. Disclaimer of Other Representations or Warranties. Except as previously set forth in this Section 2 or in
any certificate delivered by the Company to Parent and/or Merger Sub pursuant to this Agreement, the Company
makes no representation or warranty, express or implied, at law or in equity, with respect to it or any of its assets,
liabilities or operations, and any such other representations or warranties are hereby expressly disclaimed.

Section 3. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND MERGER SUB

Subject to Section 10.13(i), except (i) as set forth in the written disclosure schedule delivered by Parent to the
Company (the Parent Disclosure Schedule ) or (ii) with respect to each of the representations and warranties set forth
3.26 and the Parent Fundamental Representations, as disclosed in the Parent SEC Documents filed with the SEC prior
to the date hereof and publicly available on the SEC s Electronic Data Gathering Analysis and Retrieval system (but
(A) without giving effect to any amendment thereof filed with, or furnished to the SEC on or after the date hereof and
(B) excluding any disclosures contained under the heading Risk Factors and any disclosure of risks included in any

forward-looking statements disclaimer or in any other section to the extent they are forward-looking statements or

105



Edgar Filing: - Form

cautionary, predictive or forward-looking in nature), Parent and Merger Sub represent and warrant to the Company as
follows:
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3.1. Due Organization; Subsidiaries.

(a) Each of Parent and Merger Sub is a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under
the Laws of the State of Delaware and has all necessary corporate power and authority (i) to conduct its business in
the manner in which its business is currently being conducted and (ii) to own or lease and use its property and assets
in the manner in which its property and assets are currently owned or leased and used, except in the case of the
foregoing (i) and (ii), where the failure to have such power or authority would not reasonably be expected to be
material to Parent, or prevent or materially delay the ability of Parent and Merger Sub to consummate the
Contemplated Transactions. Since the date of its incorporation, Merger Sub has not engaged in any activities other
than activities incident to its formation or in connection with or as contemplated by this Agreement.

(b) Parent is duly licensed and qualified to do business, and is in good standing (to the extent applicable in such
jurisdiction), under the Laws of all jurisdictions where the nature of its business requires such licensing or
qualification other than in jurisdictions where the failure to be so qualified individually or in the aggregate would not
be reasonably expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

(c) Except for Merger Sub, Parent has no Subsidiaries, nor does Parent own any capital stock of, or any equity,
ownership or profit sharing interest of any nature in, or controls directly or indirectly, any other Entity. Parent is not,
nor has it otherwise been, directly or indirectly, a party to, member of or participant in any partnership, joint venture
or similar business entity. Parent has not agreed, nor is it obligated to make, nor is it bound by any Contract under
which it may become obligated to make, any future investment in or capital contribution to any other Entity. Parent
has not, at any time, been a general partner of, or has otherwise been liable for any of the debts or other obligations of,
any general partnership, limited partnership or other Entity.

3.2. Organizational Documents. Parent has made available to the Company accurate and complete copies of
Parent s and Merger Sub s Organizational Documents. Neither Parent nor Merger Sub is in material breach or violation
of its respective Organizational Documents.

3.3. Authority; Binding Nature of Agreement. Each of Parent and Merger Sub has all necessary corporate power
and authority to enter into and to perform its obligations under this Agreement and to consummate the Contemplated
Transactions. The Parent Board (at meetings duly called and held) has (other than Brian Leuthner, who recused
himself) (a) determined that the Contemplated Transactions are fair to, advisable and in the best interests of Parent and
its stockholders; (b) approved and declared advisable this Agreement and the Contemplated Transactions, including
the issuance of shares of Parent Common Stock to the stockholders of the Company pursuant to the terms of this
Agreement and the treatment of the Company Options pursuant to this Agreement; and (c) determined to recommend,
upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, that the stockholders of Parent vote to
approve this Agreement and the Contemplated Transactions, including the issuance of shares of Parent Common
Stock to the stockholders of the Company pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. The Merger Sub Board (by
unanimous written consent) has: (x) determined that the Contemplated Transactions are fair to, advisable, and in the
best interests of Merger Sub and its sole stockholder; (y) deemed advisable and approved this Agreement and the
Contemplated Transactions; and (z) determined to recommend, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth
in this Agreement, that the stockholder of Merger Sub vote to adopt this Agreement and thereby approve the
Contemplated Transactions. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Parent and Merger Sub and,
assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by the Company, constitutes the legal, valid and binding
obligation of Parent and Merger Sub, enforceable against each of Parent and Merger Sub in accordance with its terms,
subject to the Enforceability Exceptions.

3.4. Yote Required. The affirmative vote of (i) a majority of the votes cast at the Parent Stockholders Meeting is the
only vote of the holders of any class or series of Parent s capital stock necessary to approve the issuance of the shares
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of Parent Common Stock to the stockholders of the Company pursuant to the terms of this Agreement (the Required
Parent Stockholder Merger Vote ) and (ii) a majority of the outstanding shares of Parent Common Stock is the only
vote of the holders of any class or series of Parent s capital stock necessary to approve the Reverse Split (the Required
Parent Stockholder Reverse Split Vote, such vote, together with the Required Parent Stockholder Merger Vote, the

Required Parent Stockholder Vote ).
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3.5. Non-Contravention; Consents. Subject to obtaining the Required Parent Stockholder Vote, the filing of the
Certificate of Merger required by the DGCL, obtaining the Consents set forth on Section 3.5 of the Parent Disclosure
Schedule, neither (x) the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement by Parent or Merger Sub, nor (y) the
consummation of the Contemplated Transactions, will directly or indirectly (with or without notice or lapse of time):

(a) contravene, conflict with or result in a violation of any of the provisions of the Organizational Documents of
Parent or Merger Sub;

(b) contravene, conflict with or result in a violation of, or give any Governmental Body or other Person the right to
challenge the Contemplated Transactions or to exercise any remedy or obtain any relief under, any Law or any order,
writ, injunction, judgment or decree to which Parent or Merger Sub, or any of the assets owned or used by Parent or
Merger Sub, is subject, except as would not reasonably be expected to be material to Parent or its business;

(c) contravene, conflict with or result in a violation of any of the terms or requirements of, or give any Governmental
Body the right to revoke, withdraw, suspend, cancel, terminate or modify, any Governmental Authorization that is
held by Parent, or require any notice to or Consent by any Governmental Body, except as would not reasonably be
expected to be material to Parent or its business;

(d) contravene, conflict with or result in a violation or breach of, or result in a default or require any notice or
Consent under, any provision of any Parent Material Contract, or give any Person the right to: (i) declare a default or
exercise any remedy under any Parent Material Contract; (ii) any material payment, rebate, chargeback, penalty or
change in delivery schedule under any Parent Material Contract; (iii) accelerate the maturity or performance of any
Parent Material Contract; or (iv) cancel, terminate or modify any term of any Parent Material Contract, except in each
case as would not reasonably be expected to be material to Parent or its business; or

(e) result in the imposition or creation of any Encumbrance upon or with respect to any asset owned or used by
Parent (except for Permitted Encumbrances).

The Parent Board and the Merger Sub Board have taken and will take all actions necessary to ensure that the
restrictions applicable to business combinations contained in Section 203 of the DGCL are, and will be, inapplicable
to the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and to the consummation of the Contemplated
Transactions. No other state takeover statute or similar Law applies or purports to apply to the Merger, this Agreement
or any of the other Contemplated Transactions. Parent is not included within a person (as defined in 16 C.F.R. §
801.1(a)(1)) that has one hundred and sixty eight million, eight hundred thousand dollars ($168,800,000) or more of
total assets or annual net sales, in each case as determined in accordance with 16 C.F.R. § 801.11.

3.6. Capitalization.

(a) The authorized capital stock of Parent consists of (i) 75,000,000 shares of Parent Common Stock, par value
$0.00033 per share, of which 31,328,128 shares have been issued and are outstanding as of October 25, 2018 (the

Capitalization Date ) and (ii) 5,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, par value $0.00033 per share, of which no shares
have been issued and are outstanding as of the Capitalization Date. Parent does not hold any shares of its capital stock
in its treasury.

(b) All of the outstanding shares of Parent Common Stock have been duly authorized and validly issued, and are
fully paid and nonassessable. None of the outstanding shares of Parent Common Stock is entitled or subject to any
preemptive right, right of participation, right of maintenance or any similar right and none of the outstanding shares of
Parent Common Stock is subject to any right of first refusal in favor of Parent. Except as contemplated herein or as set
forth on Section 3.6(b) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule, there is no Parent Contract relating to the voting or
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registration of, or restricting any Person from purchasing, selling, pledging or otherwise disposing of (or granting any
option or similar right with respect to), any shares of Parent Common Stock. Except as set forth on Section 3.6(b) of
the Parent Disclosure Schedule or any Parent Benefit Plan (excluding any Parent Benefit Plan or amendment or Board
resolution with respect thereto adopted, approved or executed on or after October 1, 2018), Parent is not under any
obligation, nor is it bound by any Contract pursuant to which it may become obligated, to repurchase, redeem or
otherwise acquire any outstanding shares of Parent Common Stock or other securities.
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(c) Except for the Parent Stock Plans, and except as set forth on Section 3.6(c) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule,
Parent does not have any stock option plan or any other plan, program, agreement or arrangement providing for any
equity-based compensation for any Person. As of the date of this Agreement, 7,481,106 shares have been reserved for
issuance upon exercise of Parent Options granted under the Parent Stock Plans that are outstanding as of the date of
this Agreement, 601,394 shares have been reserved for issuance upon settlement of Parent RSUs granted under the
Parent Stock Plans that are outstanding as of the date of this Agreement, and 333,190 shares remain available for
future issuance pursuant to the Parent Stock Plans. Based on the assumptions set forth on Section 3.6(c) of the Parent
Disclosure Schedule, not more than 13,824 shares (subject to equitable adjustment for stock splits and similar events)
would be issued after the date of this Agreement under the Parent 401(k) Plan as matching contributions for the 2018
plan year.

(d) Section 3.6(d) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule sets forth the following information with respect to each Parent
Option and Parent RSU outstanding as of the date of this Agreement: (i) the name of the holder; (ii) the number of
shares of Parent Common Stock subject to such Parent Option as of the date of this Agreement; (iii) the exercise price
of such Parent Option; (iv) the date on which such Parent Option or Parent RSU was granted; (v) the date on which
such Parent Option or Parent RSU expires; and (vi) whether such Parent Option is intended to constitute an incentive
stock option (as defined in the Code) or a non-qualified stock option.

(e) Except for the Parent Stock Plans, including the Parent Options and the Parent RSUs, and as otherwise set forth
on Section 3.6(e) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule, there is no: (i) outstanding subscription, option, call, warrant or
right (whether or not currently exercisable) to acquire any shares of the capital stock or other securities of Parent or
any of its Subsidiaries; (ii) outstanding security, instrument or obligation that is or may become convertible into or
exchangeable for any shares of the capital stock or other securities of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries; or (iii)
condition or circumstance that is reasonably likely to give rise to or provide a basis for the assertion of a claim by any
Person to the effect that such Person is entitled to acquire or receive any shares of capital stock or other securities of
Parent or any of its Subsidiaries. There are no outstanding or authorized stock appreciation, phantom stock, or other
similar rights with respect to Parent or any of its Subsidiaries.

(f) All outstanding shares of Parent Common Stock, Parent Options, Parent RSUs and other securities of Parent have
been issued and granted in material compliance with (i) all applicable securities Laws and other applicable Law, and
(ii) all requirements set forth in applicable Contracts.

3.7. SEC Filings; Financial Statements.

(a) Parent has delivered or made available to the Company accurate and complete copies of all registration

statements, proxy statements, Certifications (as defined below) and other statements, reports, schedules, forms and

other documents filed by Parent with the SEC since January 1, 2016 (the Parent SEC Documents ), other than such
documents that can be obtained on the SEC s website at www.sec.gov. All material statements, reports, schedules,
forms and other documents required to have been filed by Parent or its officers with the SEC have been so filed on a
timely basis. As of the time it was filed with the SEC (or, if amended or superseded by a filing prior to the date of this
Agreement, then on the date of such filing), each of the Parent SEC Documents complied in all material respects with
the applicable requirements of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act (as the case may be) and, as of the time they

were filed, none of the Parent SEC Documents contained any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a
material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. The certifications and statements required by (i) Rule
13a-14 under the Exchange Act and (ii) 18 U.S.C. §1350 (Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act) relating to the

Parent SEC Documents (collectively, the Certifications ) are accurate and complete and comply as to form and content
with all applicable Laws. As used in this Section 3.7, the term file and variations thereof shall be broadly construed to
include any manner in which a document or information is furnished, supplied or otherwise made available to the
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(b) The financial statements (including any related notes) contained or incorporated by reference in the Parent SEC
Documents: (i) complied as to form in all material respects with the published rules and regulations of the SEC

applicable thereto; (ii) were prepared in accordance with GAAP (except as may be indicated in the notes to such
financial statements or, in the case of unaudited financial statements, except as
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permitted by Form 10-Q of the SEC, and except that the unaudited financial statements may not contain footnotes and
are subject to normal and recurring year-end adjustments) applied on a consistent basis unless otherwise noted therein
throughout the periods indicated; and (iii) fairly present, in all material respects, the financial position of Parent as of
the respective dates thereof and the results of operations and cash flows of Parent for the periods covered thereby.
Other than as expressly disclosed in the Parent SEC Documents filed prior to the date hereof, there has been no
material change in Parent s accounting methods or principles that would be required to be disclosed in Parent s
financial statements in accordance with GAAP. The books of account and other financial records of Parent are true
and complete in all material respects.

(c) Except as set forth on Section 3.7(c) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule, Parent is in compliance in all material
respects with the applicable current listing and governance rules and regulations of NASDAQ.

(d) Parent maintains a system of internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)
of the Exchange Act) that is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP and to provide reasonable
assurance (i) that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with GAAP, (ii) that receipts and expenditures are made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
the Parent Board and (iii) regarding prevention or timely detection of the unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition
of Parent s assets that could have a material effect on Parent s financial statements. Parent has evaluated the
effectiveness of Parent s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017, and, to the extent required
by applicable Law, presented in any applicable Parent SEC Document that is a report on Form 10-K or Form 10-Q (or
any amendment thereto) its conclusions about the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting as of
the end of the period covered by such report or amendment based on such evaluation. Parent has disclosed, based on
its most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to Parent s auditors and audit committee (and
made available to the Company a summary of the significant aspects of such disclosure) (A) all significant
deficiencies, if any, in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting that are reasonably likely to
adversely affect Parent s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information and (B) any known
fraud that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in Parent s internal control over
financial reporting. Parent has not identified, based on its most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, any material weaknesses in the design or operation of Parent s internal control over financial reporting.

(e) Parent maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the
Exchange Act) that are reasonably designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by Parent in the
periodic reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the required time periods, and that all such information is accumulated and communicated to Parent s
management as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure and to make the Certifications.

3.8. Absence of Undisclosed Liabilities. As of the date hereof, Parent does not have any Liability, individually or in
the aggregate, of a type required to be recorded or reflected on a balance sheet or disclosed in the footnotes thereto
under GAAP except for: (a) Liabilities disclosed, reflected or reserved against in the Parent Balance Sheet; (b)
Liabilities that have been incurred by Parent since the date of the Parent Balance Sheet in the Ordinary Course of
Business; (c) Liabilities incurred in connection with the Contemplated Transactions; (d) Liabilities which would not,
individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to be material to the Parent; and (e) Liabilities described in
Section 3.8 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule.

3.9. Real Property; Leasehold. Parent does not own, nor has it ever owned, any real property. Parent has made
available to the Company (a) an accurate and complete list of all real properties with respect to which Parent directly
or indirectly holds a valid leasehold interest as well as any other real estate that is in the possession of or leased by
Parent, and (b) copies of all leases under which any such real property is possessed (the Parent Real Estate Leases ),
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each of which is in full force and effect, with no existing material default thereunder. Parent s use and operation of
each such leased property conforms to all applicable Laws in all material respects, and Parent has exclusive
possession of each such leased property and has not granted any occupancy rights to tenants or licensees with respect
to such leased property. In addition, each such leased property is free and clear of all Encumbrances other than
Permitted Encumbrances. Parent has not received
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written notice from its landlords or any Governmental Body that: (i) relates to violations of building, zoning, safety or
fire ordinances or regulations; (ii) claims any defect or deficiency with respect to any of such properties; or (iii)
requests the performance of any repairs, alterations or other work to such properties.

3.10. Intellectual Property.

(a) Section 3.10(a) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule accurately identifies each Parent Contract pursuant to which
Parent has granted any license to any material Parent Owned IP Rights or Parent Exclusively Licensed IP Rights
(other than any Parent Owned IP Rights or Parent Exclusively Licensed IP Rights that have been non-exclusively
licensed to suppliers or service providers for the purpose of enabling such suppliers or service providers to provide
services for Parent s benefit) (the Parent IP Agreements ). To the Knowledge of Parent, (i) the manufacture,
marketing, license, sale or intended use of any product or technology currently licensed to a third party pursuant to the
Parent IP Agreements, and (ii) the conduct of Parent s business as currently conducted and as has in the last two (2)
years been conducted does not and has not infringed or misappropriated any Intellectual Property right of any third
party, in each of case (i) and (ii) above, which infringement or misappropriation would reasonably be expected to be
material to Parent or its business, and Parent has not, since January 1, 2016, received any written notice of any such
infringement, misappropriation or similar claim.

(b) Section 3.10(b) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule accurately identifies (i) all Parent Contracts pursuant to which
Parent Licensed IP Rights are licensed to Parent (other than (A) any non-customized software that (1) is so licensed
solely in executable or object code form pursuant to a non-exclusive, internal use software license and other
Intellectual Property nonexclusively licensed with such software and (2) is not incorporated into, or material to the
development, manufacturing, or distribution of, any of Parent s products or services, (B) any Intellectual Property
licensed ancillary to the purchase or use of services, equipment, reagents or other materials and (C) any immaterial
confidential information provided under confidentiality agreements), and (ii) whether the license or licenses granted to
Parent are exclusive or nonexclusive. For purposes of greater certainty, the term license in this Section 3.10(b) and in
Section 3.10(a) includes any license, sublicense, covenant, non-assert, consent, release or waiver. Except as set forth
in Section 3.10(b) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule, there are no royalties, honoraria, fees or other payments payable
by Parent or any Person for the purchase, license, sublicense or use of any Parent IP Rights.

(c) To the Knowledge of Parent, with respect to Parent Owned IP Rights and to the Actual Knowledge of Parent with
respect to Parent Exclusively Licensed IP Rights, no employee of Parent who is or was involved in the development
of material Parent Owned IP Rights or Parent Exclusively Licensed IP Rights is or was (at the time of development)
(1) bound by or otherwise subject to any Contract restricting him or her from performing his or her duties for Parent or
(i) in breach of any Contract with any former employer or other Person concerning Parent IP Rights purported to be
owned by Parent or confidentiality provisions protecting Proprietary Information and other confidential information
comprising Parent Owned IP Rights or Parent Exclusively Licensed IP Rights.

(d) Except as identified in Section 3.10(d) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule, no material Parent Owned IP Rights or,
to the Actual Knowledge of Parent, Parent Exclusively Licensed IP Rights were developed, in whole or in part (i)
pursuant to or in connection with the development of any professional, technical or industry standard, (ii) under
contract with or using the resources of any Governmental Body, academic institution or other entity that would subject
any Parent Owned IP Rights or Parent Exclusively Licensed IP Rights to the rights of any Governmental Body,
academic institution or other entity or (iii) under any grants or other funding arrangements with third parties. To the
extent that any Parent Owned IP Rights or Parent Exclusively Licensed IP Rights are disclosed in Section 3.10(d) of
the Parent Disclosure Schedule, Section 3.10(d) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule identifies each Parent Contract that
relates to such Parent Owned IP Rights or Parent Exclusively Licensed IP Rights.
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(e) Except as set forth in the Contracts listed on Section 3.10(e) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule and except for
Parent Contracts entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business, (i) Parent is not bound by any Contract to
indemnify, defend, hold harmless, or reimburse any other Person with respect to any Intellectual Property
infringement, misappropriation, or similar claim, in each case, that would reasonably be expected to be material to
Parent or its business, and (ii) Parent has not assumed, or agreed to discharge or
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otherwise take responsibility for, any existing or potential liability of another Person for infringement,
misappropriation, or violation of any Intellectual Property right, which assumption, agreement or responsibility is
material and remains in force as of the date of this Agreement.

(f) There are no Contracts pursuant to which Parent or any existing or future Affiliate of Parent granted or is required
to grant to any Person any rights under the Intellectual Property of Parent other than Intellectual Property owned or
controlled by Parent as of the Closing Date.

(g) Section 3.10(g) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule sets forth, as of the date specified thereon, an accurate, true and
complete listing of all Patents included in the Parent Registered IP, and, specifying as to each such item, as applicable,
jurisdiction of application and/or registration, the application and/or registration number, the date of application and/or
registration, and the status of application and/or registration. Except as otherwise indicated on Section 3.10(g) of the
Parent Disclosure Schedule, Parent is the owner of record and beneficial owner of all Parent Registered IP. Each item
of Parent Registered IP required to be listed on Section 3.10(g) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule is and at all times
has been filed and maintained in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Law and all filings, payments,
and other actions required to be made or taken to maintain such item of Parent Registered IP in full force and effect
have been made by the applicable deadline, except for any failure to perform any of the foregoing, individually or
collectively, that would not reasonably be expected to be material to Parent or its business. There are no (and as of the
Closing there will be no) ongoing payment or other financial obligations to any third party with respect to any Parent
Registered IP required to be listed on Section 3.10(g) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule that is jointly owned by
Parent and any third party.

3.11. Agreements, Contracts and Commitments. Section 3.11 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule identifies each
Parent Contract that is in effect as of the date of this Agreement (other than any Parent Benefit Plan) and is:

(a) a material contract as defined in Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K as promulgated under the Securities Act;

(b) a Contract relating to any agreement of indemnification or guaranty not entered into in the Ordinary Course of
Business;

(c) aContract containing (A) any covenant limiting the freedom of Parent to engage in any line of business or
compete with any Person, (B) any most-favored pricing arrangement, (C) any exclusivity provision, or (D) any
non-solicitation provision;

(d) a Contract relating to capital expenditures and requiring payments after the date of this Agreement in excess of
$100,000 pursuant to its express terms and not cancelable without penalty;

(e) a Contract relating to the disposition or acquisition of material assets or any ownership interest in any Entity;

(f) a Contract relating to any mortgages, indentures, loans, notes or credit agreements, security agreements or other
agreements or instruments relating to the borrowing of money or extension of credit or creating any material
Encumbrances with respect to any assets of Parent or any loans or debt obligations with officers or directors of Parent;

(g) a Contract requiring payment by or to Parent after the date of this Agreement in excess of $100,000 pursuant to
its express terms relating to: (A) any distribution agreement (identifying any that contain exclusivity provisions); (B)
any agreement involving provision of services or products with respect to any pre-clinical or clinical development
activities of Parent; (C) any dealer, distributor, joint marketing, alliance, joint venture, cooperation, development or
other agreement currently in force under which Parent has continuing obligations to develop or market any product,
technology or service, or any agreement pursuant to which Parent has continuing obligations to develop any
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Intellectual Property that will not be owned, in whole or in part, by Parent; or (D) any Contract to license any third
party to manufacture or produce any product, service or technology of Parent or any Contract to sell, distribute or
commercialize any products or service of Parent, in each case, except for Contracts entered into in the Ordinary
Course of Business;
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(h) a Contract with any Person, including any financial advisor, broker, finder, investment banker or other Person,
providing advisory services to Parent in connection with the Contemplated Transactions;

(1) a Contract with a labor union, labor organization, or similar Person;
(j) aParent Real Estate Lease;
(k) a Contract with any Governmental Body;

(1) aParent IP Agreement or other Contract required to be disclosed on Section 3.10 of the Parent Disclosure
Schedule;

(m) a Contract containing any royalty, dividend or similar arrangement based on the revenues or profits of Parent; or

(n) any other Contract that is not terminable at will (with no penalty or payment) by Parent and (A) which involves
payment or receipt by Parent after the date of this Agreement under any such agreement, contract or commitment of
more than $100,000 in the aggregate, or obligations after the date of this Agreement in excess of $100,000 in the
aggregate, or (B) that is material to the business or operations of Parent.

Parent has delivered or made available to the Company accurate and complete copies of all Contracts to which Parent
is a party or by which it is bound of the type described in the foregoing clauses (a)-(m) (any such Contract, a Parent
Material Contract ). There are no Parent Material Contracts that are not in written form. Parent has not nor, to Parent s
Knowledge, as of the date of this Agreement, has any other party to a Parent Material Contract, breached, violated or
defaulted under, or received written notice that it breached, violated or defaulted under, any of the terms or conditions
of any Parent Material Contract in such manner as would permit any other party to cancel or terminate any such
Parent Material Contract, or would permit any other party to seek damages which would reasonably be expected to be
material to Parent or its business. As to Parent, as of the date of this Agreement, each Parent Material Contract is
valid, binding, enforceable and in full force and effect, subject to the Enforceability Exceptions. No Person is
renegotiating, or has a right pursuant to the terms of any Parent Material Contract to change, any material amount paid
or payable to Parent under any Parent Material Contract or any other material term or provision of any Parent Material
Contract.

3.12. Compliance; Permits.

(a) Parent is, and since January 1, 2016 has been, in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws,
including the FDCA, the FDA regulations adopted thereunder, the Controlled Substance Act and any other similar
Law administered or promulgated by any Drug Regulatory Agency, except for any noncompliance, either individually
or in the aggregate, which would not be material to Parent. No investigation, claim, suit, proceeding, audit or other
action by any Governmental Body is pending or, to the Knowledge of Parent, threatened in writing against Parent.
There is no agreement, judgment, injunction, order or decree binding upon Parent which (i) has or would reasonably
be expected to have the effect of prohibiting or materially impairing any business practice of Parent, any acquisition of
material property by Parent or the conduct of business by Parent as currently conducted, (ii) is reasonably likely to
have an adverse effect on Parent s ability to comply with or perform any covenant or obligation under this Agreement,
or (iii) is reasonably likely to have the effect of preventing, delaying, making illegal or otherwise interfering with the
Contemplated Transactions.

(b) Parent holds all required Governmental Authorizations which are material to the operation of the business of

Parent as currently conducted (the Parent Permits _). Section 3.12(b) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule identifies each
Parent Permit. Parent is in material compliance with the terms of the Parent Permits. No Legal Proceeding is pending
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or, to the Knowledge of Parent, threatened, which seeks to revoke, limit, suspend, or materially modify any Parent
Permit.

(c) There are no proceedings pending or, to the Knowledge of Parent, threatened with respect to an alleged material
violation by Parent of the FDCA, FDA regulations adopted thereunder, the Controlled Substance Act or any other
similar Law administered or promulgated by any Drug Regulatory Agency.
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(d) Parent is not the subject of any pending or, to the Knowledge of Parent, threatened investigation in respect of its
business or products by the FDA pursuant to its Fraud, Untrue Statements of Material Facts, Bribery, and Illegal
Gratuities Final Policy set forth in 56 Fed. Reg. 46191 (September 10, 1991) and any amendments thereto. To the
Knowledge of Parent, Parent has not committed any acts, made any statement, or failed to make any statement, in
each case in respect of its business or products that would violate the FDA s Fraud, Untrue Statements of Material
Facts, Bribery, and Illegal Gratuities Final Policy, and any amendments thereto or any comparable applicable Law of
any other Drug Regulatory Agency. Neither Parent nor, to the Knowledge of Parent, any of its officers, employees or
agents has been convicted of any crime or engaged in any conduct that would result in a debarment or exclusion (i)
under 21 U.S.C. Section 335a or (ii) any similar applicable Law. No debarment or exclusionary claims, actions,
proceedings or investigations in respect of Parent s business or products are pending or, to the Knowledge of Parent,
threatened against Parent or, to the Knowledge of Parent any of its officers, employees or agents.

(e) Parent has complied in all material respects with all Laws relating to patient, medical or individual health
information, including HIPAA, including the standards for the privacy of Individually Identifiable Health Information
at 45 C.F.R. Parts 160 and 164, Subparts A and E, the standards for the protection of Electronic Protected Health
Information set forth at 45 C.F.R. Part 160 and 45 C.F.R. Part 164, Subpart A and Subpart C, the standards for
transactions and code sets used in electronic transactions at 45 C.F.R. Part 160, Subpart A and Part 162, and the
standards for Breach Notification for Unsecured Protected Health Information at 45 C.F.R. Part 164, Subpart D, all as
amended from time to time. Parent has entered into, where required, and are in compliance in all material respects
with the terms of all Business Associate (as defined in HIPAA) agreements to which Parent is a party or otherwise
bound. Parent has created and maintained written policies and procedures to protect the privacy of all protected health
information, provide training to all employees and agents as required under HIPAA, and has implemented security
procedures, including physical, technical and administrative safeguards, to protect all personal information and
Protected Health Information stored or transmitted in electronic form. Parent has not received written notice from the
Office for Civil Rights for the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services or any other Governmental Body of
any allegation regarding its failure to comply with HIPAA or any other state law or regulation applicable to the
protection of individually identifiable health information or personally identifiable information. To Parent s
Knowledge, no successful Security Incident, Breach of Unsecured Protected Health Information or breach of
personally identifiable information under applicable state or federal laws has occurred with respect to information
maintained or transmitted to Parent or an agent or third party subject to a Business Associate Agreement with Parent.
Parent is currently submitting, receiving and handling or is capable of submitting receiving and handling transactions
in accordance in all material respects with the Standard Transaction Rule. All capitalized terms in this Section 3.12(e)
not otherwise defined in this Agreement shall have the meanings set forth under HIPAA.

3.13. Legal Proceedings; Orders.

(a) Except as set forth in Section 3.13(a) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule, as of the date of this Agreement, there is
no material pending Legal Proceeding and, to the Knowledge of Parent, no Person has threatened in writing to
commence any Legal Proceeding: (i) that involves (A) Parent, (B) to Parent s Knowledge, any current or former
employee, independent contractor, officer or director of Parent (in his or her capacity as such) or (C) any of the
material assets owned or used by Parent; or (ii) that challenges, or that may have the effect of preventing, delaying,
making illegal or otherwise interfering with, the Contemplated Transactions.

(b) Except as set forth in Section 3.13(b) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule, since January 1, 2016, no Legal
Proceeding has been pending against Parent that resulted in material liability to Parent.

(c) There is no order, writ, injunction, judgment or decree to which Parent, or any of the material assets owned or
used by Parent, is subject. To the Knowledge of Parent, no officer or other Key Employee of Parent is subject to any

order, writ, injunction, judgment or decree that prohibits such officer or employee from engaging in or continuing any
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conduct, activity or practice relating to the business of Parent or to any material assets owned or used by Parent.
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3.14. Tax Matters.

(a) Parent has timely filed all income Tax Returns and other material Tax Returns that they were required to file
under applicable Law. All such Tax Returns are correct and complete in all material respects and have been prepared
in compliance with all applicable Law. No claim has ever been made by any Governmental Body in any jurisdiction
where Parent does not file a particular Tax Return or pay a particular Tax that Parent is subject to taxation by that
jurisdiction.

(b) All income and other material Taxes due and owing by Parent on or before the date hereof (whether or not shown
on any Tax Return) have been fully paid. Since the Parent Balance Sheet Date, Parent has not incurred any material
Liability for Taxes outside the Ordinary Course of Business.

(c) All Taxes that Parent is or was required by Law to withhold or collect have been duly and timely withheld or
collected in all material respects on behalf of its respective employees, independent contractors, stockholders, or other
third parties and, have been timely paid to the proper Governmental Body or other Person or properly set aside in
accounts for this purpose.

(d) There are no Encumbrances for material Taxes (other than Taxes not yet due and payable) upon any of the assets
of Parent.

(e) No deficiencies for income or other material Taxes with respect to Parent have been claimed, proposed or
assessed by any Governmental Body in writing. There are no pending or ongoing, and to the Knowledge of Parent,
threatened audits, assessments or other actions for or relating to any liability in respect of a material amount of Taxes
of Parent. Neither Parent nor any of its predecessors has waived any statute of limitations in respect of any income or
other material Taxes or agreed to any extension of time with respect to any income or other material Tax assessment
or deficiency.

(f) Parent has not been a United States real property holding corporation within the meaning of Section 897(c)(2) of
the Code during the applicable period specified in Section 897(c)(1)(A)(ii) of the Code.

(g) Parent is not a party to any Tax allocation agreement, Tax sharing agreement, Tax indemnity agreement, or
similar agreement or arrangement, other than customary commercial contracts entered into in the Ordinary Course of
Business the principal subject matter of which is not Taxes.

(h) Parent will not be required to include any material item of income in, or exclude any material item of deduction
from, taxable income for any Tax period (or portion thereof) ending after the Closing Date as a result of any: (i)
change in method of accounting for Tax purposes; (ii) use of an improper method of accounting for a Tax period
ending on or prior to the Closing Date; (iii) closing agreement as described in Section 7121 of the Code (or any
similar provision of state, local or foreign Law) executed on or prior to the Closing Date; (iv) intercompany
transaction or excess loss account described in Treasury Regulations under Section 1502 of the Code (or any similar
provision of state, local or foreign Law); (v) installment sale or open transaction disposition made on or prior to the
Closing Date; (vi) prepaid amount received or deferred revenue accrued on or prior to the Closing Date; or (vii)
election under Section 108(i) (or any similar provision of state, local or foreign Law).

(i) Parent has never been a member of a consolidated, combined or unitary Tax group (other than such a group the
common parent of which is Parent). Parent has no Liability for any material Taxes of any Person (other than Parent)
under Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of state, local, or foreign Law), or as a
transferee or successor.

123



Edgar Filing: - Form

(j) Parent has not distributed stock of another Person, or had its stock distributed by another Person, in a transaction
that was purported or intended to be governed in whole or in part by Section 355 of the Code or Section 361 of the
Code (or any similar provisions of state, local or foreign Law).

(k) Parent has never had a permanent establishment (within the meaning of an applicable Tax treaty) or otherwise has
an office or fixed place of business in a jurisdiction outside of the United States.

(1) Parent has not participated in or been a party to a transaction that, as of the date of this Agreement, constitutes a
listed transaction that is required to be reported to the IRS pursuant to Section 6011 of the Code and applicable

Treasury Regulations thereunder.
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(m) Parent has not taken any action or knows of any fact that would reasonably be expected to prevent the Merger
from qualifying for the Intended Tax Treatment.

For purposes of this Section 3.14, each reference to Parent shall be deemed to include any Person that was liquidated
into, merged with, or is otherwise a predecessor to, Parent.

3.15. Employee and Labor Matters; Benefit Plans.

(a) Section 3.15(a) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule is a list of all material Parent Benefit Plans, including, without
limitation, each Parent Benefit Plan that provides for retirement, change in control, non-qualified deferred
compensation, incentive compensation, severance or retiree medical or retiree life insurance benefits. Parent Benefit
Plan means each (i) employee benefit plan as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA and (ii) other pension, retirement,
deferred compensation, profit sharing, bonus, incentive, equity or equity-based, phantom equity, employment,
consulting, severance, change-of-control, retention, health, life, disability, time off, holiday, welfare and fringe benefit
plan, program, contract, or arrangement (whether written or unwritten), in any case, maintained, contributed to, or
required to be contributed to, by Parent or any Parent ERISA Affiliate for the benefit of any current or former
employee, director, officer or consultant (that is a natural person) of Parent or under which Parent has any actual or
contingent liability (including, without limitation, as to the result of it being treated as a single employer under Code
Section 414 with any other person).

(b) As applicable with respect to each material Parent Benefit Plan, Parent has made available to the Company, true
and complete copies of (i) each material Parent Benefit Plan, including all amendments thereto, and in the case of an
unwritten material Parent Benefit Plan, a written description thereof, (ii) all current trust documents, administrative
services agreements and insurance and annuity contracts relating thereto, (iii) the current summary plan description
and each summary of material modifications thereto, (iv) the most recently filed annual reports with any
Governmental Body (e.g., Form 5500 and all schedules thereto), (v) the most recent IRS determination, opinion or
advisory letter, (vi) the most recent summary annual reports, nondiscrimination testing reports, actuarial reports,
financial statements and trustee reports, (vii) all records, notices and filings concerning IRS or Department of Labor or
other Governmental Body audits or investigations or prohibited transactions within the meaning of Section 406 of
ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code, in any case under this clause (vii), within the last three years and (viii) all
policies and procedures established to comply with the privacy and security rules of HIPAA.

(c) Each Parent Benefit Plan has been maintained, operated and administered in compliance in all material respects
with its terms and any related documents or agreements and the applicable provisions of ERISA, the Code and all
other Laws.

(d) The Parent Benefit Plans which are employee pension benefit plans within the meaning of Section 3(2) of ERISA
and which are intended to meet the qualification requirements of Section 401(a) of the Code have each received a
favorable determination, opinion or advisory letter from the IRS to the effect that such Parent Benefit Plan is qualified
under Section 401(a) of the Code, and nothing has occurred that would reasonably be expected to result in the loss of

the qualification of such Parent Benefit Plan.

(e) Neither Parent nor any Parent ERISA Affiliate maintains, contributes to, is required to contribute to, or has any

actual or contingent liability with respect to, (i) any employee pension benefit plan (within the meaning of Section

3(2) of ERISA) that is subject to Title IV or Section 302 of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code, (ii) any multiemployer
plan (within the meaning of Section 3(37) of ERISA), (iii) any multiple employer plan (within the meaning of Section
413 of the Code) or (iv) any multiple employer welfare arrangement (within the meaning of Section 3(40) of ERISA).
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(f) There are no pending audits or investigations by any Governmental Body involving any Parent Benefit Plan, and
no pending nor, to the Knowledge of Parent, threatened claims (except for individual claims for benefits payable in
the normal operation of the Parent Benefit Plans), suits or proceedings involving any Parent Benefit Plan, in any case,
except as would not be reasonably expected to result in material liability to Parent.

(g) No Parent Benefit Plan provides death, medical, dental, vision or life insurance benefits beyond termination of
service or retirement other than coverage mandated by Law and neither Parent nor any Parent ERISA Affiliate has

made a written or oral representation promising the same.
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(h) Neither the execution of, nor the performance of the transactions contemplated by, this Agreement will either
alone or in connection with any other event(s) (i) result in any payment becoming due to any current or former
employee, director, officer, or consultant (who is a natural person) of Parent, (ii) increase any amount of compensation
or benefits otherwise payable under any Parent Benefit Plan, (iii) result in the acceleration of the time of payment,
funding or vesting of any benefits under any Parent Benefit Plan or (iv) require any contribution or payment to fund
any obligation under any Parent Benefit Plan.

(1) The exercise price of each Parent Option is not, never has been and can never be less than the fair market value of
one share of Parent Common Stock as of the grant date of such Parent Option.

() No current or former employee, officer, director or independent contractor of Parent has any gross up agreements
or other assurance of reimbursement for any Taxes imposed under Code Section 409A or Code Section 4999.

(k) Parent does not maintain any Parent Benefit Plan outside of the United States.

(1) Parent is not a party to, bound by, nor has a duty to bargain under any collective bargaining agreement or other
Contract with a labor union, labor organization, or similar Person representing any of its employees, and there is no
labor union, labor organization, or similar Person representing or, to the Knowledge of Parent, purporting to represent
or seeking to represent any employees of Parent, including through the filing of a petition for representation election.

(m) Parent is, and since January 1, 2016 has been, in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws
respecting labor, employment, employment practices, and terms and conditions of employment, including worker
classification, tax withholding, prohibited discrimination and retaliation, equal employment opportunities, harassment,
fair employment practices, meal and rest periods, immigration, employee safety and health, wages (including overtime
wages), unemployment and workers compensation, leaves of absence, and hours of work. Except as would not be
reasonably likely to result in a material liability to Parent, with respect to employees of Parent, Parent, since January
1, 2016: (i) has withheld and reported all amounts required by Law or by agreement to be withheld and reported with
respect to wages, salaries and other payments, benefits, or compensation to employees, (ii) is not liable for any arrears
of wages (including overtime wages), severance pay or any Taxes or any penalty for failure to comply with any of the
foregoing, and (iii) is not liable for any payment to any trust or other fund governed by or maintained by or on behalf
of any Governmental Body, with respect to unemployment compensation benefits, disability, social security or other
benefits or obligations for employees (other than routine payments to be made in the Ordinary Course of Business).
There are no Legal Proceedings pending or, to the Knowledge of Parent, threatened or reasonably anticipated against
Parent with respect to, by, or on behalf of any employee, applicant for employment, consultant, employment
agreement or Parent Benefit Plan (other than routine claims for benefits).

(n) Except as would not be reasonably likely to result in a material liability to Parent, with respect to each individual
who currently renders services to Parent, Parent has accurately classified each such individual as an employee,
independent contractor, or otherwise under all applicable Laws and, for each individual classified as an employee,
Parent has accurately classified him or her as overtime eligible or overtime ineligible under all applicable Laws.
Parent has no material liability with respect to any misclassification of: (i) any Person as an independent contractor
rather than as an employee, (ii) any employee leased from another employer, or (iii) any employee currently or
formerly classified as exempt from overtime wages.

(o) There is not and has not been in the past three (3) years, nor is there or has there been in the past three (3) years
any threat of, any strike, slowdown, work stoppage, lockout, union election petition, demand for recognition, or any
similar activity or dispute, or, to the Knowledge of Parent, any union organizing activity, against Parent. No event has
occurred, and no condition or circumstance exists, that might directly or indirectly be likely to give rise to or provide a
basis for the commencement of any such strike, slowdown, work stoppage, lockout, or any similar activity or dispute.
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(p) There is no Legal Proceeding, including any claim, unfair labor practice charge or complaint, labor dispute or
grievance, pending or, to the Knowledge of Parent, threatened against Parent relating to labor, employment,
employment practices, or terms and conditions of employment.
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(qQ) As of the date hereof, no Key Employee of Parent has submitted his or her resignation or, to the Knowledge of
Parent, intends to resign.

3.16. Environmental Matters. Parent is and since January 1, 2016 has complied with all applicable Environmental
Laws, which compliance includes the possession by Parent of all permits and other Governmental Authorizations
required under applicable Environmental Laws and compliance with the terms and conditions thereof, except for any
failure to be in such compliance that, either individually or in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to be
material to Parent or its business. Parent has not received since January 1, 2016 (or prior to that time, which is pending
and unresolved), any written notice or other communication (in writing or otherwise), whether from a Governmental
Body or other Person, that alleges that Parent is not in compliance with or has liability pursuant to any Environmental
Law. No current or (during the time a prior property was leased by Parent) prior property leased by Parent has had a
release of or exposure to Hazardous Substances in material violation of or as would reasonably be expected to result in
any material liability of Parent pursuant to Environmental Law. No consent, approval or Governmental Authorization
of or registration or filing with any Governmental Body is required by Environmental Laws in connection with the
execution and delivery of this Agreement or the consummation of Contemplated Transactions. Prior to the date
hereof, Parent has provided or otherwise made available to the Company true and correct copies of all material
environmental reports, assessments, studies and audits in the possession or control of Parent with respect to any
property leased by Parent.

3.17. Insurance.

(a) Parent has delivered or made available to the Company accurate and complete copies of all material insurance
policies and all material self-insurance programs and arrangements relating to the business, assets, liabilities and
operations of Parent. Each of such insurance policies is in full force and effect and Parent is in compliance in all
material respects with the terms thereof. Other than customary end of policy notifications from insurance carriers,
since January 1, 2016, Parent has not received any notice or other communication regarding any actual or possible: (i)
cancellation or invalidation of any insurance policy; or (ii) refusal or denial of any coverage, reservation of rights or
rejection of any material claim under any insurance policy. Parent has provided timely written notice to the
appropriate insurance carrier(s) of each Legal Proceeding that is currently pending against Parent for which Parent has
insurance coverage, and no such carrier has issued a denial of coverage or a reservation of rights with respect to any
such Legal Proceeding, or informed Parent of its intent to do so. This Section 3.17 does not apply to insurance under
any Parent Benefit Plan.

(b) Section 3.17(b) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule accurately sets forth (i) the insurance policies providing
coverage with respect to any Liabilities arising under the matters disclosed on Section 3.13 of the Parent Disclosure
Schedule (the Identified Claim ) and identifies the order of recovery against such policies, and (ii) the coverage
amount, deductible and claim limits applicable to the Identified Claim. All material Liabilities of Parent arising with
respect to or in connection with the Identified Claim are covered by such insurance policies, subject to the deductible
set forth on Section 3.17(b) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule.

3.18. Transactions with Affiliates. Except as set forth in the Parent SEC Documents filed prior to the date of this
Agreement, since January 1, 2016, no event has occurred that would be required to be reported by Parent pursuant to
Item 404 of Regulation S-K.

3.19. No Brokers Fees. Except as set forth on Section 3.19 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule, no broker, finder or
investment banker is entitled to any brokerage fee, finder s fee, opinion fee, success fee, transaction fee or other fee or
commission in connection with the Contemplated Transactions based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of
Parent.
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3.20. Valid Issuance. The Parent Common Stock to be issued in the Merger will, when issued in accordance with the
provisions of this Agreement, be validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.

3.21. Opinion of Financial Advisor. The Parent Board has received an opinion of Piper Jaffray & Co. to the effect
that, as of the date of such opinion and subject to the assumptions, qualifications, limitations and other matters set

forth therein, the Merger Consideration to be paid by Parent is fair, from a financial point of view, to Parent.
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3.22. Title to Assets. Parent owns, and has good and valid title to, or, in the case of leased properties and assets,
valid leasehold interests in, all tangible properties or tangible assets and equipment used or held for use in its business
or operations or purported to be owned by it, including: (a) all assets reflected on the Parent Balance Sheet; and (b) all
other assets reflected in the books and records of Parent as being owned Parent. All of such assets are owned or, in the
case of leased assets, leased by Parent free and clear of any Encumbrances, other than Permitted Encumbrances.

3.23. Absence of Changes. Except as set forth on Section 3.22 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule or as disclosed in
the Parent SEC Documents, between the date of the Parent Balance Sheet and the date of this Agreement, Parent has
conducted its business only in the Ordinary Course of Business (except for the execution and performance of this
Agreement and the discussions, negotiations and transactions related thereto) and there has not been any (a) Parent
Material Adverse Effect or (b) action, event or occurrence that would have required the consent of the Company
pursuant to Section 4.1(b) had such action, event or occurrence taken place after the execution and delivery of this
Agreement.

3.24. Anti-Bribery. Neither Parent nor any of its directors, officers, employees or, to Parent s Knowledge, agents or
any other Person acting on their behalf has directly or indirectly made any bribes, rebates, payoffs, influence
payments, kickbacks, illegal payments, illegal political contributions, or other payments, in the form of cash, gifts, or
otherwise, or taken any other action, in violation of any Ant-Bribery Laws. To Parent s Knowledge, Parent is not and
has not been the subject of any investigation or inquiry by any Governmental Body with respect to potential violations
of Anti-Bribery Laws.

3.25. Information Technology: Data Privacy.

(a) Parent has taken commercially reasonable steps to ensure the continued operation of the material software and
databases included in the Parent Owned IP Rights, and all of its material computers and other information technology
infrastructure and assets used in the business (collectively, the Parent IT Assets ), and to protect the security and
confidentiality of the Parent IT Assets and the material information and records stored on or accessed or transmitted
using the Parent IT Assets. The Parent IT Assets operate and perform in all material respects as is necessary and
sufficient for the conduct of the business of Parent as currently conducted by it. To Parent s Knowledge, the Parent IT
Assets are free from malicious code and do not contain any bugs, errors, vulnerabilities or problems that, in each case,
would be expected to materially adversely affect the operation or use of any such Parent IT Assets in the business of
Parent. To Parent s Knowledge, there has not been in the past three (3) years any material (i) unauthorized intrusions or
breach of the security of the Parent IT Assets, (ii) malfunction of the Parent IT Assets or (iii) accidental or
unauthorized access to, loss or misuse of Personal Data maintained by Parent. Parent has implemented commercially
reasonable backups and security measures to duplicate, store and protect its material information that is stored in
electronic form or media.

(b) Parent and, to the Knowledge of Parent, each of Parent s Data Processors, is in compliance in all material respects
with all applicable Data Privacy Requirements. To Parent s Knowledge, Parent is not under investigation by any
Governmental Body for a material violation of applicable Laws relating to data privacy or security, nor has Parent
received any written complaint or inquiry related to its data privacy or security practices. Parent and, to the

Knowledge of Parent, each of Parent s Data Processors, has implemented and maintains commercially reasonable
organizational, physical, administrative and technical measures substantially consistent with industry standards to
protect the operation, confidentiality, integrity and security of all Personal Data or other sensitive business data

against loss, theft, or unauthorized access, disclosure or use. To Parent s Knowledge, Parent has not experienced any
security incident in which an unauthorized party accessed or acquired Personal Data or sensitive business data
maintained by or on behalf of Parent.
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3.26. Contract Termination Fees; Severance. Section 3.26 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule accurately sets forth
(1) all fees, expenses or other amounts payable upon termination of any Parent Material Contract (the Parent
Contract Termination Payments ) and (ii) the dollar amount of all severance obligations payable to current and
former employees of Parent (including the dollar amount of any ongoing benefits paid to or on behalf of such
employees, but excluding any acceleration of any equity awards) (the Parent Severance Payments ). Except as set
forth on Sections 3.26() and (ii) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule, all Parent
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Material Contracts are terminable by Parent upon less than sixty (60) days notice with no payment due thereunder
except for amounts accrued for services provided in the Ordinary Course of Business under such Parent Material
Contract and, with respect to amounts accrued as of the Closing, included in the Parent Net Cash calculation.

3.27. Disclaimer of Other Representations or Warranties. Except as previously set forth in this Section 3 or in
any certificate delivered by Parent or Merger Sub to the Company pursuant to this Agreement, neither Parent nor
Merger Sub makes any representation or warranty, express or implied, at law or in equity, with respect to it or any of
its assets, liabilities or operations, and any such other representations or warranties are hereby expressly disclaimed.

Section 4. CERTAIN COVENANTS OF THE PARTIES
4.1. Operation of Parent s Business.

(a) Except as set forth on Section 4.1(a) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule, as expressly permitted by this Agreement,
as required by applicable Law or unless the Company shall otherwise consent in writing(which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned), during the period commencing on the date of this Agreement and
continuing until the earlier to occur of the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 9 and the Effective Time
(the Pre-Closing Period ): Parent shall conduct its business and operations in the Ordinary Course of Business and in
compliance with all applicable Laws and the requirements of all Contracts that constitute Parent Material Contracts.

(b) Except (i) as expressly permitted by this Agreement, (ii) as set forth in Section 4.1(b) of the Parent Disclosure
Schedule, (iii) as required by applicable Law or (iv) with the prior written consent of the Company (which consent
shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned), at all times during the Pre-Closing Period, Parent shall
not:

(i) declare, accrue, set aside or pay any dividend or make any other distribution in respect of any shares of its capital
stock or repurchase, redeem or otherwise reacquire any shares of its capital stock or other securities (except in
connection with the payment of the exercise price (but not for withholding Taxes except in respect of obligations that
existed prior to October 1, 2018 or are set forth on Section 3.6(b) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule) incurred upon the
exercise, settlement or vesting of any award granted under any Parent Stock Plans);

(i1) sell, issue, grant, pledge or otherwise dispose of or encumber or authorize any of the foregoing with respect to:
(A) any capital stock or other security of Parent (except for Parent Common Stock issued upon the valid exercise or
settlement of outstanding Parent Options or Parent RSUs); (B) any option, warrant or right to acquire any capital stock
or any other security; or (C) any instrument convertible into or exchangeable for any capital stock or other security of
Parent;

(iii) except to the extent required to give effect to anything in contemplation of the Closing, amend any of its
Organizational Documents, or effect any stock split or reverse stock split;

(iv) effect or be a party to any merger, consolidation, share exchange, business combination, recapitalization,
reclassification of shares or similar transaction except, for the avoidance of doubt, the Contemplated Transactions;

(v) form any Subsidiary or acquire any equity interest or other interest in any other Entity or enter into a joint venture
with any other Entity;

(vi) (A) lend money to any Person (except for advancement of expenses to employees, directors or consultants in the
Ordinary Course of Business), (B) incur or guarantee any indebtedness for borrowed money, (C) guarantee any debt
securities of others, or (D) make any capital expenditure or commitment in excess of the budgeted capital expenditure
and commitment amounts set forth in the Parent operating budget delivered to the Company concurrently with the
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(vii) (A) except to the extent required by applicable Law, adopt, terminate, establish or enter into any Parent Benefit
Plan; (B) except to the extent required by applicable Law, cause or permit any Parent Benefit Plan to be amended; (C)

increase the amount of the wages, salary, commissions, benefits
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or other compensation or remuneration payable to, any of its directors, officers or employees; (D) increase the
severance or change of control benefits offered to any current or new employees, directors or consultants or (E) hire,
terminate (other than for cause) or give notice of termination (other than for cause) to any (x) officer or (y) employee
whose annual base salary is or is expected to be more than $25,000 per year;

(viii) recognize any labor union, labor organization, or similar Person;
(ix) enter into any material transaction other than in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(x) acquire any material asset or sell, lease or otherwise irrevocably dispose of any of its assets or properties, or grant
any Encumbrance with respect to such assets or properties, except in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(xi) make, change or revoke any Tax election, fail to pay any income or other material Tax as such Tax becomes due
and payable, file any amendment making any material change to any Tax Return, settle or compromise any income or
other material Tax liability, enter into any Tax allocation, sharing, indemnification or other similar agreement or
arrangement, request or consent to any extension or waiver of any limitation period with respect to any claim or
assessment for any income or other material Taxes (other than in connection with any extension of time to file any
Tax Return), or adopt or change any accounting method in respect of Taxes;

(xii) except as contemplated by this Agreement, enter into, materially amend or terminate any Parent Material
Contract, or any Contract that would be a Parent Material Contract if executed on or prior to the date hereof;

(xiii) except as otherwise set forth in the Parent Budget, make any expenditures, incur any Liabilities or discharge or
satisfy any Liabilities, in each case, in amounts that exceed the aggregate amount of the Parent Budget by $300,000;

(xiv) other than as required by Law or GAAP, take any action to change accounting policies or procedures;

(xv) initiate any Legal Proceeding other than (A) for the routine collection of bills, (B) in such cases where Parent in
good faith determines that failure to commence suit would result in the material impairment of a valuable aspect of
Parent s business, provided that Parent consults with the Company prior to the initiation of such Legal Proceeding or
(C) for any claim related to or arising out of, or in respect of any breach of this Agreement;

(xvi) settle any Legal Proceeding; or
(xvii) agree, resolve or commit to do any of the foregoing.

Nothing contained in this Agreement shall give the Company, directly or indirectly, the right to control or direct the
operations of Parent prior to the Effective Time. Prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall exercise, consistent with the
terms and conditions of this Agreement, complete unilateral control and supervision over its business operations.

4.2. Operation of the Company s Business.

(a) Except as set forth on Section 4.2(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, as expressly permitted by this
Agreement, as required by applicable Law or unless Parent shall otherwise consent in writing (which consent shall not
be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned), during the Pre-Closing Period: the Company shall conduct its
business and operations in the Ordinary Course of Business and in compliance with all applicable Laws and the
requirements of all Contracts that constitute Company Material Contracts.
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(b) Except (i) as expressly permitted by this Agreement, (ii) as set forth in Section 4.2(b) of the Company Disclosure
Schedule, (iii) as required by applicable Law or (iv) with the prior written consent of Parent (which consent shall not
be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned), at all times during the Pre-Closing Period, the Company shall not
do any of the following:

(i) declare, accrue, set aside or pay any dividend or make any other distribution in respect of any shares of capital
stock; or repurchase, redeem or otherwise reacquire any shares of its capital stock or other securities (except for shares
of Company Common Stock from terminated employees, directors or consultants of the Company);

(ii) other than as contemplated by a Permitted Bridge Financing or Permitted Post-Measurement Date Financing, sell,
issue, grant, pledge or otherwise dispose of or encumber or authorize any of the foregoing with respect to: (A) any
capital stock or other security of the Company (except for shares of outstanding Company Common Stock issued upon
the valid exercise of outstanding Company Options or Company Warrants); (B) any option, warrant or right to acquire
any capital stock or any other security; or (C) any instrument convertible into or exchangeable for any capital stock or
other security of the Company;

(iii) except as required to give effect to anything in contemplation of the Closing, amend any of its Organizational
Documents, or effect or be a party to any merger, consolidation, share exchange, business combination,
recapitalization, reclassification of shares, stock split, reverse stock split or similar transaction except, for the
avoidance of doubt, the Contemplated Transactions;

(iv) form any Subsidiary or acquire any equity interest or other interest in any other Entity or enter into a joint
venture with any other Entity;

(v) (A) lend money to any Person (except for advancement of expenses to employees, directors or consultants in the
Ordinary Course of Business), (B) incur or guarantee any indebtedness for borrowed money (other than a Permitted
Bridge Financing or Permitted Post-Measurement Date Financing), (C) guarantee any debt securities of others, or (D)
make any capital expenditure or commitment in excess of $100,000;

(vi) (A) except to the extent required by applicable Law, adopt, terminate, establish or enter into any Company
Benefit Plan; (B) except to the extent required by applicable Law, cause or permit any Company Benefit Plan to be
amended in any material respect; (C) increase the amount of the wages, salary, commissions, benefits or other
compensation or remuneration payable to, any of its directors, officers or employees, other than increases in base
salary and annual cash bonus opportunities and payments made in the Ordinary Course of Business; (D) increase the
severance or change of control benefits offered to any current or new employees, directors or consultants or (E) hire,
terminate (other than for cause) or give notice of termination (other than for cause) to any (x) officer or (y) employee
whose annual base salary is or is expected to be more than $125,000 per year;

(vii) recognize any labor union, labor organization, or similar Person;

(viii) enter into any material transaction other than in the Ordinary Course of Business or as contemplated by a
Permitted Bridge Financing or Permitted Post-Measurement Date Financing;

(ix) acquire any material asset or sell, lease or otherwise irrevocably dispose of any of its assets or properties, or
grant any Encumbrance with respect to such assets or properties, except in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(x) sell, assign, transfer, license, sublicense or otherwise dispose of any material Company Owned IP Rights (other
than pursuant to non-exclusive licenses in the Ordinary Course of Business);
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(xi) make, change or revoke any material Tax election, fail to pay any income or other material Tax as such Tax
becomes due and payable, file any amendment making any material change to any Tax Return, settle or compromise
any income or other material Tax liability, enter into any Tax allocation, sharing, indemnification or other similar
agreement or arrangement (other than customary commercial Contracts entered into in the Ordinary Course of
Business the principal subject of which is not Taxes),
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request or consent to any extension or waiver of any limitation period with respect to any claim or assessment for any
income or other material Taxes (other than in connection with any extension of time to file any Tax Return), or adopt
or change any material accounting method in respect of Taxes;

(xii) other than as contemplated by a Permitted Bridge Financing or Permitted Post-Measurement Date Financing, or
as otherwise contemplated by this Agreement, enter into, materially amend or terminate any Company Material
Contract, or any Contract that would be a Company Material Contract if executed on or prior to the date hereof,
except in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(xiii) other than as required by Law or GAAP, take any action to change accounting policies or procedures;

(xiv) initiate any Legal Proceeding other than (A) for the routine collection of bills, (B) in such cases where the
Company in good faith determines that failure to commence suit would result in the material impairment of a valuable
aspect of the Company s business, provided that the Company consults with Parent prior to the initiation of such Legal
Proceeding or (C) for any claim related to or arising out of, or in respect of any breach of this Agreement;

(xv) settle any Legal Proceeding; or
(xvi) agree, resolve or commit to do any of the foregoing.

(c) Nothing contained in this Agreement shall give Parent, directly or indirectly, the right to control or direct the
operations of the Company prior to the Effective Time. Prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall exercise,
consistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, complete unilateral control and supervision over its
business operations.

4.3. Access and Investigation. Subject to the terms of the Confidentiality Agreement, which the Parties agree will
continue in full force following the date of this Agreement, during the Pre-Closing Period, upon reasonable notice,
Parent, on the one hand, and the Company, on the other hand, shall and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to
cause such Party s Representatives to: (a) provide the other Party and such other Party s Representatives with
reasonable access during normal business hours to such Party s Representatives, personnel, property and assets and to
all existing books, records, Tax Returns, work papers and other documents and information relating to such Party and
its Subsidiaries; (b) provide the other Party and such other Party s Representatives with such copies of the existing
books, records, Tax Returns, work papers, product data, and other documents and information relating to such Party
and its Subsidiaries, and with such additional financial, operating and other data and information regarding such Party
and its Subsidiaries as the other Party may reasonably request; (c) permit the other Party s officers and other
employees to meet, upon reasonable notice and during normal business hours, with the chief financial officer and
other officers and managers of such Party responsible for such Party s financial statements and the internal controls of
such Party to discuss such matters as the other Party may deem necessary or appropriate and; (d) make available to the
other Party copies of unaudited financial statements, material operating and financial reports prepared for senior
management or the board of directors of such Party, and any material notice, report or other document filed with or
sent to or received from any Governmental Body in connection with the Contemplated Transactions. Any
investigation conducted by either Parent or the Company pursuant to this Section 4.3 shall be conducted in such
manner as not to interfere unreasonably with the conduct of the business of the other Party. Each of the Company and
Parent shall provide the other Party with unaudited cash balances and a statement of accounts payable of such Party
(on a consolidated basis) as of the end of each calendar month, or such longer period as each of the providing Party
and receiving Party may agree to in writing.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Party may restrict the foregoing access to the extent that any Law applicable to
such Party requires such Party to restrict or prohibit access to any such properties or information or as may be
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necessary to preserve the attorney-client privilege under any circumstances in which such privilege may be
jeopardized by such disclosure or access.

4.4. Parent Non-Solicitation.
(a) Parent agrees that, during the Pre-Closing Period, neither it nor any of its Subsidiaries shall, nor shall it or any of
its Subsidiaries authorize any of its Representatives to, directly or indirectly: (i) solicit, initiate or knowingly

encourage, induce or facilitate the communication, making, submission or
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announcement of any Acquisition Proposal or Acquisition Inquiry or take any action that could reasonably be
expected to lead to an Acquisition Proposal or Acquisition Inquiry; (ii) furnish any non-public information regarding
Parent or any of its Subsidiaries to any Person in connection with or in response to an Acquisition Proposal or
Acquisition Inquiry; (iii) engage in discussions or negotiations with any Person with respect to any Acquisition
Proposal or Acquisition Inquiry; (iv) approve, endorse or recommend any Acquisition Proposal (subject to Section
5.3); (v) execute or enter into any letter of intent or any Contract contemplating or otherwise relating to any
Acquisition Transaction; or (vi) publicly propose to do any of the foregoing; provided, however, that, notwithstanding
anything contained in this Section 4.4 and subject to compliance with this Section 4.4, prior to obtaining the Required
Parent Stockholder Vote, Parent may furnish non-public information regarding Parent and its Subsidiaries to, and
enter into discussions or negotiations with, any Person in response to a bona fide written Acquisition Proposal by such
Person which the Parent Board determines in good faith, after consultation with Parent s outside financial advisors and
outside legal counsel, constitutes, or is reasonably likely to result in, a Superior Offer (and is not withdrawn) if: (A)
neither Parent nor any of its Representatives shall have breached this Section 4.4 in any material respect, (B) the
Parent Board concludes in good faith based on the advice of outside legal counsel, that the failure to take such action
is reasonably likely to be inconsistent with the fiduciary duties of the Parent Board under applicable Law; (C) Parent
receives from such Person an executed confidentiality agreement containing provisions (including nondisclosure
provisions, use restrictions, non-solicitation provisions and no hire provisions) at least as favorable to Parent as those
contained in the Confidentiality Agreement; and (D) substantially contemporaneously with furnishing any such
nonpublic information to such Person, Parent furnishes such nonpublic information to the Company (to the extent
such information has not been previously furnished by Parent to the Company). Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, Parent acknowledges and agrees that, in the event any Representative of Parent (whether or not such
Representative is purporting to act on behalf of Parent) takes any action that, if taken by Parent, would constitute a
breach of this Section 4.4, the taking of such action by such Representative shall be deemed to constitute a breach of
this Section 4.4 by Parent for purposes of this Agreement.

(b) If Parent or any Representative of Parent receives an Acquisition Proposal or Acquisition Inquiry at any time
during the Pre-Closing Period, then Parent shall promptly (and in no event later than one Business Day after Parent
becomes aware of such Acquisition Proposal or Acquisition Inquiry) advise the Company orally and in writing of such
Acquisition Proposal or Acquisition Inquiry (including the identity of the Person making or submitting such
Acquisition Proposal or Acquisition Inquiry, and the material terms thereof). Parent shall keep the Company
reasonably informed with respect to the status and material terms of any such Acquisition Proposal or Acquisition
Inquiry and any material modification or proposed material modification thereto.

(c) Parent shall immediately cease and cause to be terminated any existing discussions, negotiations and
communications with any Person that relate to any Acquisition Proposal or Acquisition Inquiry as of the date of this
Agreement and request the destruction or return of any nonpublic information of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries
provided to such Person.

4.5. Company Non-Solicitation.

(a) The Company agrees that, during the Pre-Closing Period, the Company shall not, nor shall it authorize any of its
Representatives to, directly or indirectly: (i) solicit, initiate or knowingly encourage, induce or facilitate the
communication, making, submission or announcement of any Acquisition Proposal or Acquisition Inquiry or take any
action that could reasonably be expected to lead to an Acquisition Proposal or Acquisition Inquiry; (ii) furnish any
non-public information regarding the Company to any Person in connection with or in response to an Acquisition
Proposal or Acquisition Inquiry; (iii) engage in discussions or negotiations with any Person with respect to any
Acquisition Proposal or Acquisition Inquiry; (iv) approve, endorse or recommend any Acquisition Proposal; (v)
execute or enter into any letter of intent or any Contract contemplating or otherwise relating to any Acquisition
Transaction; or (vi) publicly propose to do any of the foregoing. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the

140



Edgar Filing: - Form

Company acknowledges and agrees that, in the event any Representative of the Company (whether or not such
Representative is purporting to act on behalf of the Company) takes any action that, if taken by the Company, would
constitute a breach of this Section 4.5, the taking of such action by such Representative shall be deemed to constitute a
breach of this Section 4.5 by the Company for purposes of this Agreement.
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(b) If the Company or any Representative of the Company receives an Acquisition Proposal or Acquisition Inquiry at
any time during the Pre-Closing Period, then the Company shall promptly (and in no event later than one Business
Day after the Company becomes aware of such Acquisition Proposal or Acquisition Inquiry) advise Parent orally and
in writing of such Acquisition Proposal or Acquisition Inquiry (including the identity of the Person making or
submitting such Acquisition Proposal or Acquisition Inquiry, and the material terms thereof). The Company shall keep
Parent reasonably informed with respect to the status and material terms of any such Acquisition Proposal or
Acquisition Inquiry and any material modification or proposed material modification thereto.

(¢) The Company shall immediately cease and cause to be terminated any existing discussions, negotiations and
communications with any Person that relate to any Acquisition Proposal or Acquisition Inquiry as of the date of this
Agreement and request the destruction or return of any nonpublic information of the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries provided to such Person.

4.6. Notification of Certain Matters.

(a) During the Pre-Closing Period, the Company shall promptly notify Parent (and, if in writing, furnish copies of) if
any of the following occurs: (i) any written notice or other written communication is received from any Person
alleging that the Consent of such Person is or may be required in connection with any of the Contemplated
Transactions; (ii) any Legal Proceeding against or involving or otherwise affecting the Company is commenced, or, to
the Knowledge of the Company, threatened in writing against the Company or, to the Knowledge of the Company,
any director, officer or Key Employee of the Company in such individual s capacity as such; (iii) the Company
becomes aware of any inaccuracy in any representation or warranty made by it in this Agreement; or (iv) the failure of
the Company to comply with any covenant or obligation of the Company; in the case of (iii) and (iv) that would
reasonably be expected to make the timely satisfaction of any of the conditions set forth in Sections 6 and 7, as
applicable, impossible or materially less likely. No notification given to Parent pursuant to this Section 4.6 shall
change, limit or otherwise affect any of the representations, warranties, covenants or obligations of the Company
contained in this Agreement or the Company Disclosure Schedule for purposes of Sections 6 and 7, as applicable.

(b) During the Pre-Closing Period, Parent shall promptly notify the Company (and, if in writing, furnish copies of) if
any of the following occurs: (i) any written notice or other written communication is received from any Person
alleging that the Consent of such Person is or may be required in connection with any of the Contemplated
Transactions; (ii) any Legal Proceeding against or involving or otherwise affecting Parent or its Subsidiaries is
commenced, or, to the Knowledge of Parent, threatened in writing against Parent or its Subsidiaries or, to the
Knowledge of Parent, any director, officer or Key Employee of Parent or its Subsidiaries in such individual s capacity
as such; (iii) Parent becomes aware of any inaccuracy in any representation or warranty made by it or Merger Sub in
this Agreement; or (iv) the failure of Parent or Merger Sub to comply with any covenant or obligation of Parent or
Merger Sub; in the case of (iii) and (iv) that would reasonably be expected to make the timely satisfaction of any of
the conditions set forth in Sections 6 and 8, as applicable, impossible or materially less likely. No notification given to
the Company pursuant to this Section 4.6 shall change, limit or otherwise affect any of the representations, warranties,
covenants or obligations of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries contained in this Agreement or the Parent Disclosure
Schedule for purposes of Sections 6 and §, as applicable.

Section 5. ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES
5.1. Registration Statement; Proxy Statement.

(a) As promptly as practicable after the date of this Agreement, the Parties shall prepare, and Parent shall cause to be
filed with the SEC, the Registration Statement, in which the Proxy Statement will be included as a prospectus. Parent

covenants and agrees that the information provided by Parent for inclusion in the Proxy Statement, including any pro

forma financial statements included therein (and the letter to stockholders, notice of meeting and form of proxy
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included therewith) will, at the time that the Proxy Statement or any amendment or supplement thereto is filed with
the SEC or is first mailed to the Stockholders, not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any
material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements made therein, in light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. Prior to the Registration Statement being declared
effective,
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(1) Parent shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to execute and deliver to DLA Piper LLP (US) ( DLA ) and to
Dechert LLP ( Dechert ) the applicable Tax Representation Letter referenced in Section 5.12(c); and (2) the Company
shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to execute and deliver to DLA and to Dechert the applicable Tax
Representation Letter referenced in Section 5.12(c). Following the delivery of the Tax Representation Letters
pursuant to the preceding sentence, (x) Parent shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause Dechert to deliver
to it a tax opinion satisfying the requirements of Item 601 of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act; and (y) the
Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause DLA to deliver to it a tax opinion satisfying the
requirements of Item 601 of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act. In rendering such opinions, each of such
counsel shall be entitled to rely on the Tax Representation Letters referred to in this Section 5.1(a). The Company
covenants and agrees that the information provided by the Company to Parent for inclusion in the Proxy Statement
(including the Company Financials) will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any
material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make such information not misleading.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Parent makes no covenant, representation or warranty with respect to statements made
in the Proxy Statement (and the letter to stockholders, notice of meeting and form of proxy included therewith), if any,
based on information provided by the Company or any of their Representatives specifically for inclusion therein. The
Company and its legal counsel shall be given reasonable opportunity to review and comment on the Proxy Statement,
including all amendments and supplements thereto, prior to the filing thereof with the SEC, and on the response to any
comments of the SEC on the Proxy Statement, prior to the filing thereof with the SEC. Parent shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to cause the Registration Statement and the Proxy Statement to comply with the applicable rules
and regulations promulgated by the SEC, to respond promptly to any comments of the SEC or its staff and to have the
Registration Statement declared effective under the Securities Act as promptly as practicable after it is filed with the
SEC. Each of the Parties shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Proxy Statement to be mailed to
Parent s stockholders as promptly as practicable after the Registration Statement is declared effective under the
Securities Act. Each Party shall promptly furnish to the other Party all information concerning such Party and such
Party s Affiliates and such Party s stockholders that may be required or reasonably requested in connection with any
action contemplated by this Section 5.1. If Parent, Merger Sub or the Company become aware of any event or
information that, pursuant to the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, should be disclosed in an amendment or
supplement to the Registration Statement or Proxy Statement, as the case may be, then such Party, as the case may be,
shall promptly inform the other Parties thereof and shall cooperate with such other Parties in filing such amendment or
supplement with the SEC and, if appropriate, in mailing such amendment or supplement to the Parent stockholders.

(b) The Company shall reasonably cooperate with Parent and provide, and require its Representatives to provide,
Parent and its Representatives, with all true, correct and complete information regarding the Company that is required
by Law to be included in the Registration Statement or reasonably requested by Parent to be included in the
Registration Statement. Without limiting the foregoing, the Company will use commercially reasonable efforts to

cause to be delivered to Parent a consent letter of the Company s independent accounting firm, dated no more than two
Business Days before the date on which the Registration Statement becomes effective (and reasonably satisfactory in
form and substance to Parent), that is customary in scope and substance for consent letters delivered by independent
public accountants in connection with registration statements similar to the Registration Statement.

5.2. Company Information Statement; Stockholder Written Consent.

(a) Promptly after the Registration Statement shall have been declared effective under the Securities Act, and in any
event no later than three Business Days thereafter, the Company shall prepare, with the reasonable cooperation of
Parent, and cause to be mailed to its stockholders an information statement to solicit the approval by written consent
from Company stockholders sufficient for the Required Company Stockholder Vote in lieu of a meeting pursuant to
Section 228 of the DGCL, for purposes of (i) adopting and approving this Agreement and the Contemplated
Transactions, (ii) acknowledging that the approval given thereby is irrevocable and that such stockholder is aware of
its rights to demand appraisal for its shares pursuant to Section 262 of the DGCL, a true and correct copy of which
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will be attached thereto, and that such stockholder has received and read a copy of Section 262 of the DGCL, and (iii)
acknowledging that by its approval of the Merger it is not entitled to appraisal rights with respect to its shares in
connection
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with the Merger and thereby waives any rights to receive payment of the fair value of its capital stock under the
DGCL. Under no circumstances shall the Company assert that any other approval or consent is necessary by its
stockholders to approve this Agreement.

(b) Reasonably promptly following receipt of the Required Company Stockholder Vote, the Company shall prepare
and mail a notice (the Stockholder Notice ) to every stockholder of the Company that did not execute the Company
Stockholder Written Consent. The Stockholder Notice shall (i) be a statement to the effect that the Company Board
determined that the Merger is advisable in accordance with Section 251(b) of the DGCL and in the best interests of
the stockholders of the Company and approved and adopted this Agreement, the Merger and the other Contemplated
Transactions, (ii) provide the stockholders of the Company to whom it is sent with notice of the actions taken in the
Company Stockholder Written Consent, including the adoption and approval of this Agreement, the Merger and the
other Contemplated Transactions in accordance with Section 228(e) of the DGCL and the certificate of incorporation
and bylaws of the Company and (iii) include a description of the appraisal rights of the Company s stockholders
available under the DGCL, along with such other information as is required thereunder and pursuant to applicable
Law. All materials (including any amendments thereto) submitted to the stockholders of the Company in accordance
with this Section 5.2(b) shall be subject to Parent s advance review and reasonable approval.

(¢) The Company agrees that: (i) the Company Board shall recommend that the Company s stockholders vote to adopt
and approve this Agreement and the Contemplated Transactions and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to

solicit such approval within the time set forth in Section 5.2(a) (the recommendation of the Company Board that the
Company s stockholders vote to adopt and approve this Agreement being referred to as the Company Board
Recommendation ); and (ii) the Company Board Recommendation shall not be withdrawn or modified (and the
Company Board shall not publicly propose to withdraw or modify the Company Board Recommendation) in a manner
adverse to Parent, and no resolution by the Company Board or any committee thereof to withdraw or modify the
Company Board Recommendation in a manner adverse to Parent or to adopt, approve or recommend (or publicly
propose to adopt, approve or recommend) any Acquisition Proposal shall be adopted or proposed.

(d) The Company s obligation to solicit the consent of its stockholders to sign the Company Stockholder Written
Consent in accordance with Section 5.2(a) shall not be limited or otherwise affected by the commencement,
disclosure, announcement or submission of any Superior Offer or other Acquisition Proposal.

5.3. Parent Stockholders Meeting.

(a) Promptly after the Registration Statement has been declared effective by the SEC under the Securities Act, Parent
shall take all action necessary under applicable Law to call, give notice of and hold a meeting of the holders of Parent
Common Stock to consider and vote to approve (i) the issuance of the shares of Parent Common Stock to the
stockholders of the Company pursuant to the terms of this Agreement and (ii) the Reverse Split (the Parent
Stockholder Matters and such meeting, the Parent Stockholders Meeting ). The Parent Stockholders Meeting shall
be held as promptly as practicable after the Registration Statement is declared effective under the Securities Act.
Parent shall take reasonable measures to ensure that all proxies solicited in connection with the Parent Stockholders
Meeting are solicited in compliance with all applicable Law. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained
herein, if on the date of the Parent Stockholders Meeting, or a date preceding the date on which the Parent
Stockholders Meeting is scheduled, Parent reasonably believes that (i) it will not receive proxies sufficient to obtain
the Required Parent Stockholder Vote, whether or not a quorum would be present or (ii) it will not have sufficient
shares of Parent Common Stock represented (whether in person or by proxy) to constitute a quorum necessary to
conduct the business of the Parent Stockholders Meeting, Parent may postpone or adjourn, or make one or more
successive postponements or adjournments of, the Parent Stockholders Meeting as long as the date of the Parent
Stockholders Meeting is not postponed or adjourned more than an aggregate of 60 calendar days in connection with
any postponements or adjournments.
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(b) Parent agrees that, subject to Section 5.3(c): (i) the Parent Board shall recommend that the holders of Parent
Common Stock vote to approve the Parent Stockholder Matters, (ii) the Proxy Statement shall include a statement to
the effect that the Parent Board recommends that Parent s stockholders vote to
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approve the Parent Stockholder Matters (the recommendation of the Parent Board being referred to as the Parent
Board Recommendation ); and (iii) the Parent Board Recommendation shall not be withheld, amended, withdrawn or
modified (and the Parent Board shall not publicly propose to withhold, amend, withdraw or modify the Parent Board
Recommendation) in a manner adverse to the Company (the actions set forth in the foregoing clause (iii), collectively,
a Parent Board Adverse Recommendation Change ).

(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Section 5.3(b), and subject to compliance with Section 4.4
and Section 5.3, if at any time prior to the approval of Parent Stockholder Matters by the Required Parent Stockholder
Vote, Parent receives a bona fide written Superior Offer from any Person that has not been withdrawn, the Parent
Board may make a Parent Board Adverse Recommendation Change if, but only if, following the receipt of and on
account of such Superior Offer, (i) the Parent Board determines in good faith, based on the advice of its outside legal
counsel, that the failure to make a Parent Board Adverse Recommendation Change would be reasonably likely to be
inconsistent with its fiduciary duties under applicable Law, (ii) Parent has, and has caused its financial advisors and
outside legal counsel to, during the Parent Notice Period (as defined below), negotiate with the Company in good faith
(if the Company so desires) to make such adjustments to the terms and conditions of this Agreement so that such
Acquisition Proposal ceases to constitute a Superior Offer, and (iii) if after the Company shall have delivered to Parent
a written offer to alter the terms or conditions of this Agreement during the Parent Notice Period, the Parent Board
shall have determined in good faith, based on the advice of its outside legal counsel, that the failure to withhold,
amend, withdraw or modify the Parent Board Recommendation would be reasonably likely to be inconsistent with its
fiduciary duties under applicable Law (after taking into account such alterations of the terms and conditions of this
Agreement); provided that the Company receives written notice from Parent confirming that the Parent Board has
determined to change its recommendation at least four Business Days in advance of such Parent Board Adverse
Recommendation Change, (the Parent Notice Period ), which notice shall include written copies of any relevant
proposed transaction agreements with any party making a potential Superior Offer. In the event of any material
amendment to any Superior Offer, Parent shall be required to provide the Company with notice of such material
amendment and the Parent Notice Period shall be extended, if applicable, to ensure that at least two Business Days
remain in the Parent Notice Period following such notification during which the parties shall comply again with the
requirements of this Section 5.3(c) and the Parent Board shall not make a Parent Board Adverse Recommendation
Change prior to the end of such Parent Notice Period as so extended.

(d) Other than in connection with a bona fide written Superior Offer (which shall be subject to Section 5.3(c)), the
Parent Board may make a Parent Board Adverse Recommendation Change in response to a Parent Change in
Circumstance, if and only if: (A) the Parent Board determines in good faith, after consultation with the Company s
outside legal counsel, that the failure to do so is reasonably likely to be inconsistent with its fiduciary duties under
applicable Law; (B) the Company receives written notice from Parent confirming that the Parent Board has
determined to change its recommendation at least four Business Days in advance of the Parent Board Adverse
Recommendation Change (the Parent Change in Circumstance Notice ); and (C) (1) Parent shall have specified the
Parent Change in Circumstance in reasonable detail, (2) Parent shall have given the Company four Business Days
after the Parent Change in Circumstance Notice to propose revisions to the terms of this Agreement or make another
proposal so that such Parent Change in Circumstance would no longer necessitate a Parent Board Adverse
Recommendation Change, and shall have negotiated in good faith with the Company (if the Company so desires) with
respect to such proposed revisions or other proposal, if any, and (3) after considering the results of such negotiations
and giving effect to the proposals made by the Company, if any, after consultation with outside legal counsel, the
Parent Board shall have determined, in good faith, that the failure to make the Parent Board Adverse Recommendation
Change in response to such Parent Change in Circumstance is reasonably likely to be inconsistent with its fiduciary
duties under applicable Law.

(e) Nothing contained in this Agreement shall prohibit Parent or the Parent Board from (i) complying with Rules
14d-9 and 14e-2(a) promulgated under the Exchange Act, (ii) issuing a stop, look and listen communication or similar
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communication of the type contemplated by Section 14d-9(f) under the Exchange Act or (iii) otherwise making any
disclosure to the Parent stockholders; provided however, that in the case of the foregoing clause (iii) the Parent Board
determines in good faith, after consultation with its outside legal counsel, that failure to make such disclosure would
be reasonably likely to be inconsistent with applicable Law, including its fiduciary duties under applicable Law;
provided, further, that any such
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disclosures (other than a stop, look and listen communication or similar communication of the type contemplated by
Section 14d-9(f) under the Exchange Act) shall be deemed to be a change of the Parent Board Recommendation

unless the Parent Board expressly publicly reaffirms the Parent Board Recommendation (i) in such communication or
(i1) within three Business Days after being requested in writing to do so by the Company.

5.4. Regulatory Approvals. Each Party shall use reasonable best efforts to file or otherwise submit, as soon as
practicable after the date of this Agreement, all applications, notices, reports and other documents reasonably required
to be filed by such Party with or otherwise submitted by such Party to any Governmental Body with respect to the
Contemplated Transactions, and to submit promptly any additional information requested by any such Governmental
Body.

5.5. Company Options.

(a) At the Effective Time, each Company Option that is outstanding and unexercised immediately prior to the
Effective Time under the Company Stock Plans shall be fully vested and converted into and become an option to
purchase Parent Common Stock, and Parent shall assume the Company Stock Plans and each such Company Option
in accordance with the terms (as in effect as of the date of this Agreement) of the Company Stock Plans and the terms
of the stock option agreement by which each such Company Option is evidenced (but with changes to such documents
as Parent in good faith determines are appropriate to reflect the substitution of the Company Options by Parent to
purchase shares of Parent Common Stock). All rights with respect to Company Common Stock under Company
Options assumed by Parent shall thereupon be converted into rights with respect to Parent Common Stock in
accordance with this Section 5.5(a). Accordingly, from and after the Effective Time: (i) each Company Option
assumed by Parent may be exercised solely for shares of Parent Common Stock; (ii) the number of shares of Parent
Common Stock (as of immediately after the Effective Time) subject to each Company Option assumed by Parent shall
be determined by multiplying (A) the number of shares of Company Common Stock that were subject to such
Company Option, as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time, by (B) the Exchange Ratio, and rounding the
resulting number down to the nearest whole number of shares of Parent Common Stock; (iii) the per share exercise
price (as of immediately after the Effective Time) for the Parent Common Stock issuable upon exercise of each
Company Option assumed by Parent shall be determined by dividing (A) the per share exercise price of Company
Common Stock subject to such Company Option, as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time, by (B) the
Exchange Ratio and rounding the resulting exercise price up to the nearest whole cent; and (iv) any restriction on the
exercise of any Company Option assumed by Parent shall continue in full force and effect and the term, exercisability,
vesting schedule and other provisions of such Company Option shall otherwise remain unchanged; provided, however,
that: (A) Parent may amend the terms of the Company Options and the Company Stock Plans to reflect Parent s
substitution of the Company Options with options to purchase Parent Common Stock (such as by making any change
in control or similar definition relate to Parent and having any provision that provides for the adjustment of Company
Options upon the occurrence of certain corporate events relate to corporate events that relate to Parent and/or Parent
Common Stock); and (B) the Parent Board or a committee thereof shall succeed to the authority and responsibility of
the Company Board or any committee thereof with respect to each Company Option assumed by Parent.

(b) Parent shall file with the SEC, promptly after the Effective Time, a registration statement on Form S-8 (or any
successor form), if available for use by Parent, relating to the shares of Parent Common Stock issuable with respect to
Company Options assumed by Parent in accordance with Section 5.5(a).

(c) Prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall take all actions that may be necessary (under the Company Stock
Plans and otherwise) to effectuate the provisions of this Section 5.5 and to ensure that, from and after the Effective
Time, holders of Company Options have no rights with respect thereto other than those specifically provided in this
Section 5.5.
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5.6. Parent Options and Parent RSUs. Prior to the Closing, the Parent Board shall have adopted appropriate
resolutions and taken all other actions necessary and appropriate to provide that each outstanding and unexercised
Parent Option, whether vested or unvested, and each outstanding and unvested Parent RSU, shall be accelerated in full
effective as of immediately prior to the Effective Time, with each (i) unexercised Parent
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Option remaining outstanding immediately after the Effective Time in accordance with its terms and (ii) Parent RSU
to be settled within five days after the Effective Time (with settlement to be one share of Parent Common Stock for
each share of Parent Common Stock underlying such Parent RSU).

5.7. Employee Benefits.

(a) For purposes of vesting, eligibility to participate, and level of benefits under the benefit plans, programs,
contracts or arrangements of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries (including, following the Closing, the Company)
providing benefits to any Continuing Employee after the Closing (the Post-Closing Plans ), each employee who
continues to be employed by Parent, the Company or any of their respective Subsidiaries immediately following the
Closing ( Continuing Employees ) shall be credited with his or her years of service with the Parent, the Company or
any of their respective Subsidiaries and their respective predecessors; provided that the foregoing shall not apply to
the extent that its application would result in a duplication of benefits. In addition, and without limiting the generality
of the foregoing, for purposes of each Post-Closing Plan providing medical, dental, pharmaceutical and/or vision
benefits to a Continuing Employee, Parent shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause all pre-existing
condition exclusions and actively-at-work requirements of such Post-Closing Plan to be waived for such Continuing
Employee and his or her covered dependents to the extent such conditions would have been waived or satisfied under
the employee benefit plan whose coverage is being replaced under the Post-Closing Plan, and Parent shall use
commercially reasonable efforts to cause any eligible expenses incurred by a Continuing Employee and his or her
covered dependents during the portion of such plan year in which coverage is replaced with coverage under such a
Post-Closing Plan to be taken into account under such Post-Closing Plan with respect to the plan year in which
participation in such Post-Closing Plan begins for purposes of satisfying all deductible, coinsurance and maximum
out-of-pocket requirements applicable to such Continuing Employee and his or her covered dependents for such plan
year as if such amounts had been paid in accordance with such Post-Closing Plan.

(b) Parent and the Company acknowledge and agree that all provisions contained in this Section 5.7 are included for
the sole benefit of the respective parties to this Agreement and shall not create any right in any other Person, including
any right to continued employment or service with Parent, the Company or any of their respective Affiliates. Without
limiting the generality of the foregoing, nothing in this Section 5.7 shall be deemed to (i) establish or amend any
Company Benefit Plan, Parent Benefit Plan or any other employee benefit plan, program or arrangement of any kind
or (ii) limit the right of the Parent, the Company or any of their respective Affiliates to amend, merge or terminate any
Company Benefit Plan or Parent Benefit Plan.

5.8. Indemnification of Officers and Directors.

(a) From the Effective Time through the sixth anniversary of the date on which the Effective Time occurs, each of
Parent and the Surviving Corporation shall indemnify and hold harmless each person who is now, or has been at any
time prior to the date hereof, or who becomes prior to the Effective Time, a director, officer, fiduciary or agent of
Parent or the Company, respectively (the D&O Indemnified Parties ), against all claims, losses, liabilities, damages,
judgments, fines and reasonable fees, costs and expenses, including attorneys fees and disbursements (collectively,

Costs ), incurred in connection with any claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation, whether civil, criminal,
administrative or investigative, arising out of or pertaining to the fact that the D&O Indemnified Party is or was a
director, officer, fiduciary or agent of Parent or of the Company, whether asserted or claimed prior to, at or after the
Effective Time, in each case, to the fullest extent permitted under applicable Law. Each D&O Indemnified Party will
be entitled to advancement of expenses incurred in the defense of any such claim, action, suit, proceeding or
investigation from each of Parent and the Surviving Corporation, jointly and severally, upon receipt by Parent or the
Surviving Corporation from the D&O Indemnified Party of a request therefor; provided that any such person to whom
expenses are advanced provides an undertaking to Parent, to the extent then required by the DGCL, to repay such
advances if it is ultimately determined that such person is not entitled to indemnification.
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(b) The provisions of the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of Parent with respect to indemnification,
advancement of expenses and exculpation of present and former directors and officers of Parent that are presently set
forth in the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of Parent shall not be
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amended, modified or repealed for a period of six years from the Effective Time in a manner that would adversely
affect the rights thereunder of individuals who, at or prior to the Effective Time, were officers or directors of Parent.
The certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the Surviving Corporation shall contain, and Parent shall cause the
certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the Surviving Corporation to so contain, provisions no less favorable with
respect to indemnification, advancement of expenses and exculpation of present and former directors and officers as
those presently set forth in the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of Parent.

(c) From and after the Effective Time, (i) the Surviving Corporation shall fulfill and honor in all respects the
obligations of the Company to its D&O Indemnified Parties as of immediately prior to the Closing pursuant to any
indemnification provisions under the Company s Organizational Documents and pursuant to any indemnification
agreements between the Company and such D&O Indemnified Parties, with respect to claims arising out of matters
occurring at or prior to the Effective Time and (ii) Parent shall fulfill and honor in all respects the obligations of
Parent to its D&O Indemnified Parties as of immediately prior to the Closing pursuant to any indemnification
provisions under Parent s Organizational Documents and pursuant to any indemnification agreements between Parent
and such D&O Indemnified Parties, with respect to claims arising out of matters occurring at or prior to the Effective
Time.

(d) From and after the Effective Time, Parent shall maintain directors and officers liability insurance policies, with
an effective date as of the Closing Date, on commercially available terms and conditions and with coverage limits
customary for U.S. public companies similarly situated to Parent. In addition, each of Parent and the Company shall
purchase, prior to the Effective Time, a six-year prepaid tail policy for the non-cancellable extension of the directors
and officers liability coverage of Parent s or the Company s, as applicable, existing directors and officers insurance
policies for a claims reporting or discovery period of at least six years from and after the Effective Time with respect

to any claim related to any period of time at or prior to the Effective Time.

(e) From and after the Effective Time, Parent shall pay all expenses, including reasonable attorneys fees, that are
incurred by the persons referred to in this Section 5.8 in connection with their successful enforcement of the rights
provided to such persons in this Section 5.8.

(f) The provisions of this Section 5.8 are intended to be in addition to the rights otherwise available to the current and
former officers and directors of Parent and the Company by Law, charter, statute, bylaw or agreement, and shall
operate for the benefit of, and shall be enforceable by, each of the D&O Indemnified Parties, their heirs and their
representatives.

(g) In the event Parent or the Surviving Corporation or any of their respective successors or assigns (i) consolidates
with or merges into any other Person and shall not be the continuing or surviving corporation or entity of such
consolidation or merger, or (ii) transfers all or substantially all of its properties and assets to any Person, then, and in
each such case, proper provision shall be made so that the successors and assigns of Parent or the Surviving
Corporation, as the case may be, shall succeed to the obligations set forth in this Section 5.8. Parent shall cause the
Surviving Corporation to perform all of the obligations of the Surviving Corporation under this Section 5.8.

5.9. Additional Agreements. The Parties shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause to be taken all actions
necessary to consummate the Contemplated Transactions. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, each Party
to this Agreement: (a) shall make all filings and other submissions (if any) and give all notices (if any) required to be
made and given by such Party in connection with the Contemplated Transactions; (b) shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to obtain each Consent (if any) reasonably required to be obtained (pursuant to any applicable Law
or Contract, or otherwise) by such Party in connection with the Contemplated Transactions or for such Contract to
remain in full force and effect; (c) shall use commercially reasonable efforts to lift any injunction prohibiting, or any
other legal bar to, the Contemplated Transactions; and (d) shall use commercially reasonable efforts to satisfy the
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conditions precedent to the consummation of this Agreement.

5.10. Disclosure. Without limiting any Party s obligations under the Confidentiality Agreement, no Party shall, and
no Party shall permit any of its Subsidiaries or any Representative of such Party to, issue any press release or make
any disclosure (to any customers of such Party, to the public or otherwise) regarding the Contemplated Transactions
unless: (a) the other Party shall have approved such press release or disclosure in writing, such approval not to be
unreasonably conditioned, withheld or delayed; or (b) such disclosure is
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requested by a Governmental Body or such Party shall have determined in good faith that such disclosure is required
by applicable Law or by obligations pursuant to any listing agreement with or rules of any national securities
exchange or interdealer quotation service and, to the extent practicable, before such press release or disclosure is
issued or made, such Party shall have used commercially reasonable efforts to advise the other Party of, and consult
with the other Party regarding, the text of such press release or disclosure; provided, however, that Parent may make
any public statement in response to specific questions by the press, analysts, investors or those attending industry
conferences or financial analyst conference calls, so long as any such statements are consistent with previous press
releases, public disclosures or public statements made by the Company or Parent in compliance with this Section 5.10.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the initial press release regarding the Contemplated Transactions may be issued by
Parent and such press release and the Current Report on Form 8-K to be filed by Parent in connection with the initial
announcement of this Agreement and the Contemplated Transactions shall not be subject to this Section 5.10.

5.11. Listing. (a) Parent shall use its commercially reasonable efforts, to the extent required by the rules and
regulations of NASDAQ, to prepare and submit to NASDAQ a notification form for the listing of the shares of Parent
Common Stock to be issued in connection with the Contemplated Transactions, and to cause such shares to be
approved for listing (subject to official notice of issuance); and (b) the Company shall use its commercially reasonable
efforts, to the extent required by Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 5110, to file an initial listing application for the Parent
Common Stock on NASDAQ (the NASDAQ Listing Application ) and to cause such NASDAQ Listing Application to
be conditionally approved prior to the Effective Time. The Parties will use commercially reasonable efforts to
coordinate with respect to compliance with NASDAQ rules and regulations. The Company agrees to pay all
NASDAQ fees associated with the NASDAQ Listing Application (the cost of which shall be a Company Transaction
Expense). The Parties will cooperate with the other as reasonably requested by the other with respect to the NASDAQ
Listing Application and promptly furnish all information concerning itself and its stockholders that may be required or
reasonably requested in connection with any action contemplated by this Section 5.11.

5.12. Tax Matters.

(a) For United States federal income Tax purposes, (i) the Parties intend that the Merger qualify as a reorganization
within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code (the Intended Tax Treatment ), and (ii) this Agreement is intended
to be, and is hereby adopted as, a plan of reorganization for purposes of Section 354 and 361 of the Code and Treasury
Regulations Section 1.368-2(g) and 1.368-3(a), to which the Parent, Merger Sub and the Company are parties under
Section 368(b) of the Code. The Parties shall treat and shall not take any tax reporting position inconsistent with the
treatment of the Merger as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code for U.S. federal, state

and other relevant Tax purposes, unless otherwise required pursuant to a determination within the meaning of Section
1313(a) of the Code.

(b) The Parties shall use their respective reasonable best efforts to cause the Merger to qualify, and will not take any
action or cause any action to be taken which action would reasonably be expected to prevent the Merger from
qualifying, for the Intended Tax Treatment.

(c) Parent shall use commercially reasonable efforts to deliver to Dechert and DLA a Tax Representation Letter,
dated as of the Closing Date and signed by an officer of Parent, containing representations of Parent, and Merger Sub,
and the Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to deliver to Dechert and DLA a Tax Representation
Letter, dated as of the Closing Date and signed by an officer of the Company, containing representations of the
Company, in each case as shall be necessary or appropriate to enable DL A to render the opinion described in Section
5.12(e) of this Agreement and Dechert to render the opinion described in Section 5.12(d) of this Agreement.

(d) Parent shall use reasonable efforts to obtain an opinion of Dechert, to the effect that the Merger shall qualify for
the Intended Tax Treatment, dated as of the Closing and also dated as of any earlier date as may be required by the
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SEC in connection with the effectiveness of the Registration Statement. In rendering such opinion, Dechert may
require and rely upon (and may incorporate by reference) reasonable and customary representations and covenants,
including those contained in the Tax Representation Letters described in Section 5.12(c) of this Agreement.
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() The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain an opinion of DLA to the effect that the Merger
shall qualify for the Intended Tax Treatment dated as of the Closing and also dated as of any earlier date as may be
required by the SEC in connection with the effectiveness of the Registration Statement. In rendering such opinion,
DLA may require and rely upon (and may incorporate by reference) reasonable and customary representations and
covenants, including the Tax Representation Letters described in Section 5.12(c) of this Agreement.

5.13. Legends. Parent shall be entitled to place appropriate legends on the book entries and/or certificates evidencing
any shares of Parent Common Stock to be received in the Merger by equity holders of the Company who may be
considered affiliates of Parent for purposes of Rules 144 and 145 under the Securities Act reflecting the restrictions set
forth in Rules 144 and 145 and to issue appropriate stop transfer instructions to the transfer agent for Parent Common
Stock.

5.14. Directors and Officers. The Parties shall use reasonable best efforts and take all necessary action so that
immediately after the Effective Time, (a) the Parent Board is comprised of seven (7) members, with three (3) of such
members designated by Parent and four (4) of such members designated by the Company, and (b) the Persons listed in
Exhibit C under the heading Officers are elected or appointed, as applicable, to the positions of officers of Parent and
the Surviving Corporation, as set forth therein, to serve in such positions effective as of the Effective Time until
successors are duly appointed and qualified in accordance with applicable Law. If any Person listed in Exhibit C is
unable or unwilling to serve as an officer of Parent or the Surviving Corporation, as set forth therein, as of the
Effective Time, the Parties shall mutually agree upon a successor. The Persons listed in Exhibit C under the heading
Board Designees — Parent shall be Parent s designees pursuant to clause (a) of this Section 5.14 (which list may be
changed by Parent at any time prior to the Closing by written notice to the Company to include different board
designees who are reasonably acceptable to the Company) (the Parent Designees ). The Persons listed in Exhibit C
under the heading Board Designees — Company shall be the Company s designees pursuant to clause (a) of this Section
5.14 (which list may be changed by the Company at any time prior to the Closing by written notice to Parent to
include different board designees who are reasonably acceptable to Parent).

5.15. Termination of Certain Agreements and Rights. The Company shall cause any Investor Agreements to be
terminated immediately prior to the Effective Time, without any liability being imposed on the part of Parent or the
Surviving Corporation.

5.16. Section 16 Matters. Prior to the Effective Time, Parent and the Company shall take all such steps as may be
required (to the extent permitted under applicable Laws) to cause any acquisitions of Parent Common Stock and any
options to purchase Parent Common Stock in connection with the Contemplated Transactions, by each individual who
is reasonably expected to become subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act with
respect to Parent, to be exempt under Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act. At least thirty (30) days prior
to the Closing Date, the Company shall furnish the following information to Parent for each individual who,
immediately after the Effective Time, will become subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) of the
Exchange Act with respect to Parent: (a) the number of shares of Company Capital Stock owned by such individual
and expected to be exchanged for shares of Parent Common Stock pursuant to the Merger, and (b) the number of other
derivative securities (if any) with respect to Company Capital Stock owned by such individual and expected to be
converted into shares of Parent Common Stock or derivative securities with respect to Parent Common Stock in
connection with the Merger.

5.17. Cooperation. Each Party shall cooperate reasonably with the other Party and shall provide the other Party with
such assistance as may be reasonably requested for the purpose of facilitating the performance by each Party of its
respective obligations under this Agreement and to enable the combined entity to continue to meet its obligations
following the Effective Time.
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5.18. Allocation Certificate.

(a) The Company will prepare and deliver to Parent at least ten Business Days prior to the Closing Date a certificate
signed by the Chief Financial Officer of the Company in a form reasonably acceptable to Parent setting forth (as of
immediately prior to the Effective Time) (a) each holder of Company Capital Stock, Company Options or Company
Warrants, (b) such holder s name and address; (c) the number and type of Company Capital Stock held and/or
underlying the Company Options or Company Warrants as of the Closing Date for each such holder, and (d) the
number of shares of Parent Common Stock to be issued
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to such holder, or to underlie any Parent Option or Parent Warrant to be issued to such holder, pursuant to this
Agreement in respect of the Company Capital Stock, Company Options or Company Warrants held by such holder as
of immediately prior to the Effective Time (the Allocation Certificate ); provided that the Company may update the
Allocation Certificate by written notice to Parent at least two days prior to the Closing in the event that any holder of
Company Options or Company Warrants exercises such Company Options or Company Warrants prior to the
Effective Time.

(b) Parent will prepare and deliver to the Parent at least ten Business Days prior to the Closing Date a certificate

signed by the Chief Financial Officer of Parent in a form reasonably acceptable to the Company setting forth (as of
immediately prior to the Effective Time) (a) the number of outstanding shares of Parent Common Stock, and (b) each
holder of Parent Options and such holder s name, address and number of shares of Parent Common Stock underlying
the Parent Options for each such holder (the Parent Outstanding Equity Certificate ); provided that Parent may update
the Parent Outstanding Equity Certificate by written notice to the Company at least two days prior to the Closing in

the event that any holder of Parent Options exercises such Parent Options prior to the Effective Time.

5.19. Company Financial Statements. To the extent not already provided to Parent as of the date of this
Agreement, as promptly as reasonably practicable following the date hereof, the Company will furnish to Parent (i)
audited financial statements for the fiscal years ended 2016 and 2017, for inclusion in the Proxy Statement and the
Registration Statement (the Company Audited Financial Statements ) and (ii) unaudited interim financial statements
for each interim period completed prior to Closing that would be required to be included in the Registration Statement
or any periodic report due prior to the Closing if the Company were subject to the periodic reporting requirements
under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act (the Company Interim Financial Statements ). Each of the Company
Audited Financial Statements and the Company Interim Financial Statements will be suitable for inclusion in the
Proxy Statement and the Registration Statement and prepared in accordance with GAAP as applied on a consistent
basis during the periods involved (except in each case as described in the notes thereto) and on that basis will present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position and the results of operations, changes in stockholders equity, and
cash flows of the Company as of the dates of and for the periods referred to in the Company Audited Financial
Statements or the Company Interim Financial Statements, as the case may be.

5.20. Takeover Statutes. If any Takeover Statute is or may become applicable to the Contemplated Transactions,
each of the Company, the Company Board, Parent and the Parent Board, as applicable, shall grant such approvals and
take such actions as are necessary so that the Contemplated Transactions may be consummated as promptly as
practicable on the terms contemplated by this Agreement and otherwise act to eliminate or minimize the effects of
such statute or regulation on the Contemplated Transactions.

5.21. Stockholder Litigation.

(a) Parent shall conduct and control the settlement and defense of any stockholder litigation against Parent or any of
its directors relating to this Agreement or the Contemplated Transactions; provided that any settlement or other
resolution of any such stockholder litigation agreed to by Parent after the Closing shall be approved in advance by a
majority of the Parent Designees for so long as any Parent Designees are still members of the Parent Board. Without
limiting the foregoing, prior to the Closing, Parent shall give the Company the opportunity to consult with Parent in
connection with the defense and settlement of any such stockholder litigation, and Parent shall keep the Company
reasonably apprised of any material developments in connection with any such stockholder litigation.

(b) The Company shall conduct and control the settlement and defense of any stockholder litigation against the
Company or any of its directors relating to this Agreement or the Contemplated Transaction. Without limiting the
foregoing, prior to the Closing, the Company shall give Parent the opportunity to consult with the Company in
connection with the defense and settlement of any such stockholder litigation, and the Company shall keep Parent

160



Edgar Filing: - Form

reasonably apprised of any material developments in connection with any such stockholder litigation.
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5.22. Calculation of Net Cash; Adjustment to Company and Parent Allocation Percentage.

(a) Section 5.22(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth the Company s good faith estimate of Company
Net Cash and the components thereof, calculated as if the Closing had occurred on February 28, 2019. The Parties
agree that Company Net Cash, including for purposes of the Company Net Cash Schedule, will be calculated based on
the same assumptions and methodologies used in preparing Section 5.22(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule.

(b) On or prior to the Determination Date, the Company shall deliver the Company Net Cash Schedule to Parent.
Upon the reasonable request of Parent, the Company shall make the work papers and back-up materials used or useful
in preparing the Company Net Cash Schedule available to Parent. Within three calendar days after the Company
delivers the Company Net Cash Schedule to Parent (the Company Net Cash Response Date ), subject to the terms and
definitions of this Agreement, Parent will have the right to dispute any part of such Company Net Cash Schedule by
delivering a written notice to that effect to the Company (a Parent Dispute Notice ). Any Parent Dispute Notice shall
identify in reasonable detail the nature of any proposed revisions to the calculation of Company Net Cash set forth in
the Company Net Cash Schedule. If on or prior to the Company Net Cash Response Date, (i) Parent notifies the
Company in writing that it has no objections to the Company Net Cash Schedule or (ii) Parent fails to deliver a Parent
Dispute Notice, then Company Net Cash as set forth in the Company Net Cash Schedule shall be deemed to have been
finally determined for purposes of this Agreement and to represent the Company Net Cash at the Company Net Cash
Measurement Date for purposes of this Agreement. If Parent delivers a Parent Dispute Notice on or prior to the
Company Net Cash Response Date, then members of senior management of Parent and the Company shall promptly
meet in person or telephonically at mutually agreed upon times and attempt in good faith to resolve the disputed
item(s) and negotiate an agreed-upon determination of Company Net Cash, which agreed upon Company Net Cash
amount shall be deemed to have been finally determined for purposes of this Agreement and to represent the

Company Net Cash at the Company Net Cash Measurement Date for purposes of this Agreement.

(c) Section 5.22(c) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule sets forth Parent s good faith estimate of Parent Net Cash and
the components thereof, calculated as if the Closing had occurred on February 28, 2019. The Parties agree that Parent
Net Cash, including for purposes of the Parent Net Cash Schedule, will be calculated based on the same assumptions

and methodologies used in preparing Section 5.22(c) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule.

(d) On or prior to the Determination Date, Parent shall deliver the Parent Net Cash Schedule to the Company. Upon
the reasonable request of the Company, Parent shall make the work papers and back-up materials used or useful in
preparing the Parent Net Cash Schedule available to the Company. Within three calendar days after Parent delivers the
Parent Net Cash Schedule to the Company (the Parent Net Cash Response Date ), subject to the terms and definitions
of this Agreement, the Company will have the right to dispute any part of such Parent Net Cash Schedule by
delivering a written notice to that effect to Parent (a Company Dispute Notice ). Any Company Dispute Notice shall
identify in reasonable detail the nature of any proposed revisions to the calculation of Parent Net Cash set forth in the
Parent Net Cash Schedule. If on or prior to the Parent Net Cash Response Date, (i) the Company notifies Parent in
writing that it has no objections to the Parent Net Cash Schedule or (ii) the Company fails to deliver a Company
Dispute Notice, then Parent Net Cash as set forth in the Parent Net Cash Schedule shall be deemed to have been
finally determined for purposes of this Agreement and to represent the Parent Net Cash at the Anticipated Closing
Date for purposes of this Agreement. If the Company delivers a Company Dispute Notice on or prior to the Parent Net
Cash Response Date, then members of senior management of Parent and the Company shall promptly meet in person
or telephonically at mutually agreed upon times and attempt in good faith to resolve the disputed item(s) and negotiate
an agreed-upon determination of Parent Net Cash, which agreed upon Parent Net Cash amount shall be deemed to
have been finally determined for purposes of this Agreement and to represent the Parent Net Cash at the Anticipated
Closing Date for purposes of this Agreement.
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(e) If (i) Parent delivers a Parent Dispute Notice on or prior to the Company Net Cash Response Date and Parent and
the Company are unable to negotiate an agreed-upon determination of Company Net Cash as of the Company Net
Cash Measurement Date pursuant to Section 5.22(b) within three calendar days after delivery of the Parent Dispute
Notice and/or (ii) the Company delivers a Company Dispute Notice on or
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prior to the Parent Net Cash Response Date and Parent and the Company are unable to negotiate an agreed-upon
determination of Parent Net Cash as of the Anticipated Closing Date pursuant to Section 5.22(d) within three calendar
days after delivery of the Company Dispute Notice, then, in either case, Ernst & Young LLP or another independent
accounting firm of national standing mutually agreed upon by Parent and the Company (the Accounting Firm ) shall
be engaged to resolve any remaining disagreements as to the determination of Company Net Cash at the Company Net
Cash Measurement Date and/or Parent Net Cash at the Anticipated Closing Date, as the case may be. Parent and the
Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Accounting Firm to make its determination within
ten calendar days of accepting its engagement. Each of Parent and the Company shall be afforded the opportunity to
present to the Accounting Firm any material related to the unresolved disputes and to discuss the issues with the
Accounting Firm; provided that the other Party is provided with the opportunity to attend any such presentations or
discussions. The Accounting Firm shall be bound by the assumptions and methodologies used in preparing Section
5.22(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule (in the case of determining Company Net Cash) and/or Section 5.22(c)
of the Parent Disclosure Schedule (in the case of determining Parent Net Cash), and the determination of the
Accounting Firm shall be limited to the disagreements submitted to the Accounting Firm and shall be based solely on
the Company Net Cash Schedule or the Parent Net Cash Schedule, as applicable, and the documentation and other
papers submitted by Parent and the Company in support of its respective determination of Company Net Cash or
Parent Net Cash, as applicable, and shall not be based on any independent review by the Accounting Firm. In
determining the amount of Company Net Cash at the Company Net Cash Measurement Date and/or the Parent Net
Cash at the Anticipated Closing Date, as applicable, the Accounting Firm shall be required to select either Parent s or
the Company s determination of Company Net Cash at the Company Net Cash Measurement Date and/or the Parent
Net Cash at the Anticipated Closing Date, as applicable, based on the Accounting Firm s determination of whichever
such determination the Accounting Firm believes to be closer to the actual amount. Such determination by the
Accounting Firm shall be final and binding for purposes of this Agreement on the Parties. The Parties shall delay the
Closing until two Business Days after the resolution of the matters described in this Section 5.22(e). The fees and
expenses of the Accounting Firm shall be borne by the Party whose determination of Company Net Cash or Parent
Net Cash, as applicable, was not selected by the Accounting Firm; provided that if the Accounting Firm is engaged to
make a final determination of both Company Net Cash and Parent Net Cash and each Party s determination is selected
for one of the foregoing, the fees and expenses of the Accounting Firm shall be borne equally by Parent and the
Company (it being understood and agreed that in all cases, the fees and expenses of the Accounting Firm shall reduce
Company Net Cash and/or Parent Net Cash at the Company Net Cash Measurement Date or the Anticipated Closing
Date, as applicable). If this Section 5.22(e) applies, upon resolution of the determination of Company Net Cash and/or
Parent Net Cash, as applicable, in accordance with this Section 5.22(e), the Parties shall not be required to re-new
such determination again even though the Closing Date may occur later than the Anticipated Closing Date, except that
either Party may request a re-determination if the Closing Date is more than fifteen Business Days after the
Anticipated Closing Date.

(f) Following the final determination of Company Net Cash in accordance with this Section 5.22, the Company
Valuation shall be adjusted as follows: (x) if Company Net Cash is within the Company Collar Range, no adjustment
to the Company Valuation shall be made; (y) if there is a Company Excess Amount, the Company Valuation shall be
increased dollar-for-dollar by the Company Excess Amount; and (z) if there is a Company Deficiency Amount, the
Company Valuation shall be decreased dollar-for-dollar by the Company Deficiency Amount.

(g) Following the final determination of Parent Net Cash in accordance with this Section 5.22, the Parent Valuation
shall be adjusted as follows: (x) if Parent Net Cash is within the Parent Collar Range, no adjustment to the Parent
Valuation shall be made; (y) if there is a Parent Excess Amount, the Parent Valuation shall be increased
dollar-for-dollar by the Parent Excess Amount; and (z) if there is a Parent Deficiency Amount, the Parent Valuation
shall be decreased dollar-for-dollar by the Parent Deficiency Amount.

164



Edgar Filing: - Form

5.23. Reverse Split. Parent shall submit to the holders of Parent Common Stock at the Parent Stockholders Meeting
a proposal to approve and adopt an amendment to the Parent Certificate of Incorporation to authorize the Board of
Directors of Parent to effect a reverse stock split of all outstanding shares of Parent
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Common Stock at a reverse stock split ratio of between 5 and 10 for 1 as mutually agreed to by Parent and the
Company (the Reverse Split ). Parent shall use commercially reasonable efforts, including engaging a proxy solicitor
to solicit from its stockholders proxies in favor of the Reverse Split.

5.24. Contract Confirmations. To the extent requested by the Company, Parent shall use its commercially
reasonable efforts to obtain written confirmations of any remaining amounts due and payable on or prior to the
Anticipated Closing Date under the Contracts set forth on Section 5.24 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule if such
Contracts were terminated by Parent and shall deliver such written confirmations to the Company.

Section 6. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATIONS OF EACH PARTY
The obligations of each Party to effect the Merger and otherwise consummate the Contemplated Transactions to be
consummated at the Closing are subject to the satisfaction or, to the extent permitted by applicable Law, the written
waiver by each of the Parties, at or prior to the Closing, of each of the following conditions:

6.1. Effectiveness of Registration Statement. The Registration Statement shall have become effective in
accordance with the provisions of the Securities Act, and shall not be subject to any stop order or proceeding (or
threatened proceeding by the SEC) seeking a stop order with respect to the Registration Statement that has not been
withdrawn.

6.2. No Restraints. No temporary restraining order, preliminary or permanent injunction or other order preventing
the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions shall have been issued by any court of competent jurisdiction or
other Governmental Body of competent jurisdiction and remain in effect and there shall not be any Law which has the
effect of making the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions illegal.

6.3. Stockholder Approval. (a) Parent shall have obtained the Required Parent Stockholder Vote and (b) the
Company shall have obtained the Required Company Stockholder Vote.

ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATIONS OF PARENT AND MERGER
SUB
The obligations of Parent and Merger Sub to effect the Merger and otherwise consummate the transactions to be
consummated at the Closing are subject to the satisfaction or the written waiver by Parent, at or prior to the Closing,
of each of the following conditions:

Section 7.

7.1. Accuracy of Representations. The Company Fundamental Representations shall have been true and correct in
all material respects as of the date of this Agreement and shall be true and correct in all material respects on and as of
the Closing Date with the same force and effect as if made on and as of such date (except to the extent such
representations and warranties are specifically made as of a particular date, in which case such representations and
warranties shall be true and correct as of such date, and without giving effect to any references therein to any
Company Material Adverse Effect or other materiality qualifications). The Company Capitalization Representations
shall have been true and correct in all respects as of the date of this Agreement and shall be true and correct on and as
of the Closing Date with the same force and effect as if made on and as of such date, except, in each case, (x) for such
inaccuracies representing less than 0.50% of the Company Outstanding Shares in the aggregate or (y) for those
representations and warranties which address matters only as of a particular date (which representations and
warranties shall have been true and correct, subject to the qualifications as set forth in the preceding clause (x), as of
such particular date). The representations and warranties of the Company contained in this Agreement (other than the
Company Fundamental Representations and the Company Capitalization Representations) shall have been true and
correct as of the date of this Agreement and shall be true and correct on and as of the Closing Date with the same force
and effect as if made on the Closing Date except (a) in each case, or in the aggregate, where the failure to be true and
correct would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect (without giving effect to any

166



Edgar Filing: - Form

references therein to any Company Material Adverse Effect or other materiality qualifications), or (b) for those
representations and warranties which address matters only as of a particular date (which representations shall have
been true and correct, subject to the qualifications as set forth in the preceding clause (a), as of such particular date) (it
being understood that, for purposes of determining the accuracy of such representations and warranties, any update of
or modification to the Company Disclosure Schedule made or purported to have been made after the date of this
Agreement shall be disregarded).
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7.2. Performance of Covenants. The Company shall have performed or complied with in all material respects all
agreements and covenants required to be performed or complied with by it under this Agreement at or prior to the
Effective Time.

7.3. Documents. Parent shall have received the following documents, each of which shall be in full force and effect:

(a) acertificate executed by the Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer of the Company certifying (i) that
the conditions set forth in Sections 7.1, 7.2, 7.5 and 7.6 have been duly satisfied and (ii) that the information set forth
in the Allocation Certificate delivered by the Company in accordance with Section 5.18(a) is true and accurate in all
respects as of the Closing Date;

(b) a written resignation, in a form reasonably satisfactory to Parent, dated as of the Closing Date and effective as of
the Closing, executed by each of the officers and directors of the Company listed in Section 7.3(b) of the Company
Disclosure Schedule; and

(c) Company Representative Confirmation Letters from all attorneys, accountants, investment bankers and other
professional advisors of the Company.

7.4. FIRPTA Certificate. Parent shall have received from the Company an executed notice to the IRS in accordance
with the requirements of Treasury Regulation Section 1.897-2(h), dated as of the Closing Date, and in form and
substance reasonably acceptable to Parent.

7.5. No Company Material Adverse Effect. Since the date of this Agreement, there shall not have occurred any
Company Material Adverse Effect.

7.6. Termination of Investor Agreements. The Investor Agreements shall have been terminated, effective as of the
Closing.

7.7. Lock-Up Agreements. Parent shall have received a copy of a lock-up agreement in substantially the form
attached hereto as Exhibit D-1 (the Lock-Up Agreement ) duly executed by each of the Company Lock-Up
Signatories and each executive officer and director of the Company who is elected or appointed, as applicable, as an
executive officer and director of Parent as of immediately following the Closing, each of which shall be in full force
and effect as of the Closing.

Section 8. ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATION OF THE COMPANY
The obligations of the Company to effect the Merger and otherwise consummate the transactions to be consummated
at the Closing are subject to the satisfaction or the written waiver by the Company, at or prior to the Closing, of each
of the following conditions:

8.1. Accuracy of Representations. Each of the Parent Fundamental Representations shall have been true and correct
in all material respects as of the date of this Agreement and shall be true and correct in all material respects on and as
of the Closing Date with the same force and effect as if made on and as of such date (except to the extent such
representations and warranties are specifically made as of a particular date, in which case such representations and
warranties shall be true and correct as of such date, and without giving effect to any reference therein to Parent
Material Adverse Effect or other materiality qualifications). The Parent Capitalization Representations shall have been
true and correct in all respects as of the date of this Agreement and shall be true and correct on and as of the Closing
Date with the same force and effect as if made on and as of such date, except, in each case, (x) for such inaccuracies
representing less than 0.50% of the Parent Outstanding Shares in the aggregate or (y) for those representations and
warranties which address matters only as of a particular date (which representations and warranties shall have been
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true and correct, subject to the qualifications as set forth in the preceding clause (x), as of such particular date). The
representations and warranties of Parent and Merger Sub contained in this Agreement (other than the Parent
Fundamental Representations and the Parent Capitalization Representations) shall have been true and correct as of the
date of this Agreement and shall be true and correct on and as of the Closing Date with the same force and effect as if
made on the Closing Date except (a) in each case, or in the aggregate, where the failure to be true and correct would
not reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect (without giving effect to any references therein to
any Parent Material Adverse Effect or other materiality qualifications), or (b) for those representations and warranties
which address matters only as of a particular date (which representations shall have been true and correct, subject to
the qualifications as set forth in the preceding clause (a), as of such particular date) (it being understood that, for
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purposes of determining the accuracy of such representations and warranties, any update of or modification to the
Parent Disclosure Schedule made or purported to have been made after the date of this Agreement shall be
disregarded).

8.2. Performance of Covenants. Parent and Merger Sub shall have performed or complied with in all material
respects all of their agreements and covenants required to be performed or complied with by each of them under this
Agreement at or prior to the Effective Time.

8.3. Documents. The Company shall have received the following documents, each of which shall be in full force and
effect:

(a) acertificate executed by the Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer of Parent confirming (i) that the
conditions set forth in Sections 8.1, 8.2, and 8.4 have been duly satisfied; and (ii) that the information set forth in the
Parent Outstanding Equity Certificate delivered by Parent in accordance with Section 5.18(b) is true and accurate in

all respects as of the Closing Date;

(b) a written resignation, in a form reasonably satisfactory to the Company, dated as of the Closing Date and
effective as of the Closing, executed by each of the non-executive directors of Parent who are not to continue as
directors of Parent after the Closing pursuant to Section 5.14 hereof;

(c) evidence in a form reasonably acceptable to the Company, that the Parent Board has terminated, effective as of
the Closing, each of the officers of Parent who are not to continue as officers of Parent after the Closing pursuant to
Section 5.14 hereof from all positions held with Parent; and

(d) evidence in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Company that Parent s assets shall have been
released from all security interest thereon that are listed on Section 8.3(d) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule, and
Parent shall have taken all steps necessary to terminate any UCC financing statements which have been filed with
respect to such security interests; and

(e) Parent Representative Confirmation Letters from all attorneys, accountants, investment bankers and other
professional advisors of Parent.

8.4. No Parent Material Adverse Effect. Since the date of this Agreement, there shall not have occurred any Parent
Material Adverse Effect.

8.5. Lock-Up Agreements. The Company shall have received a copy of a lock-up agreement in substantially the
form attached hereto as Exhibit D-2 (the Parent Lock-Up Agreement ) duly executed by each Person set forth on
Section A of the Parent Disclosure Schedule and each executive officer and director of Parent who is elected or
appointed, as applicable, as an executive officer and director of Parent as of immediately following the Closing, each
of which shall be in full force and effect as of the Closing.

Section 9. TERMINATION
9.1. Termination. This Agreement may be terminated prior to the Effective Time (whether before or after adoption
of this Agreement by the Company s stockholders and whether before or after approval of the Parent Stockholder
Matters by Parent s stockholders, unless otherwise specified below):

(a) by mutual written consent of Parent and the Company;
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(b) by either Parent or the Company if the Contemplated Transactions shall not have been consummated by June 23,
2019 (subject to possible extension as provided in this Section 9.1(b), the End Date ); provided, however, that (i) the
right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 9.1(b) shall not be available to the Company, on the one hand, or
to Parent, on the other hand, if such Party s action or failure to act has been a principal cause of the failure of the
Contemplated Transactions to occur on or before the End Date and such action or failure to act constitutes a breach of
this Agreement and (ii) in the event that a request for additional information has been made by any Governmental
Body, or in the event that the SEC has not declared effective under the Securities Act the Registration Statement by
the date which is sixty (60) days prior to the End Date, then either the Company or Parent shall be entitled to extend
the End Date for an additional sixty (60) days by written notice to the other the Party;
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(c) by either Parent or the Company if a court of competent jurisdiction or other Governmental Body shall have
issued a final and nonappealable order, decree or ruling, or shall have taken any other action, having the effect of
permanently restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the Contemplated Transactions;

(d) by Parent if the Required Company Stockholder Vote shall not have been obtained within three Business Days of
the Registration Statement becoming effective in accordance with the provisions of the Securities Act; provided,
however, that once the Required Company Stockholder Vote has been obtained, Parent may not terminate this
Agreement pursuant to this Section 9.1(d);

(e) by either Parent or the Company if (i) the Parent Stockholders Meeting (including any adjournments and
postponements thereof) shall have been held and (ii) the Parent Stockholder Matters shall not have been approved at
the Parent Stockholders Meeting (or at any adjournment or postponement thereof) by the Required Parent Stockholder
Vote; provided, however, that (i) the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 9.1(e) shall not be available

to the Company, on the one hand, or to Parent, on the other hand, if such Party s action or failure to act has been a
principal cause of the failure of the Required Parent Stockholder Vote to be obtained at such meeting and such action
or failure to act constitutes a breach of this Agreement, and (ii) Parent may not terminate this Agreement pursuant to
this Section 9.1(e) until the date that is sixty-one (61) days after the date that the initial Parent Stockholders Meeting is
held;

(f) by the Company (at any time prior to the approval of the Parent Stockholder Matters by the Required Parent
Stockholder Vote) if a Parent Triggering Event shall have occurred;

(g) by the Company, upon a breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement set forth in this
Agreement by Parent or Merger Sub or if any representation or warranty of Parent or Merger Sub shall have become
inaccurate, in either case, such that the conditions set forth in Section 8.1 or Section 8.2 would not be satisfied as of
the time of such breach or as of the time such representation or warranty shall have become inaccurate; provided that
the Company is not then in material breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement under this
Agreement; provided, further, that if such inaccuracy in Parent s or Merger Sub s representations and warranties or
breach by Parent or Merger Sub is curable by the End Date by Parent or Merger Sub, then this Agreement shall not
terminate pursuant to this Section 9.1(g) as a result of such particular breach or inaccuracy until the expiration of a
30-day period commencing upon delivery of written notice from the Company to Parent or Merger Sub of such breach
or inaccuracy and its intention to terminate pursuant to this Section 9.1(g) (it being understood that this Agreement
shall not terminate pursuant to this Section 9.1(g) as a result of such particular breach or inaccuracy if such breach by
Parent or Merger Sub is cured prior to such termination becoming effective);

(h) by Parent, upon a breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement set forth in this Agreement by
the Company or if any representation or warranty of the Company shall have become inaccurate, in either case, such
that the conditions set forth in Section 7.1 or Section 7.2 would not be satisfied as of the time of such breach or as of
the time such representation or warranty shall have become inaccurate; provided that Parent is not then in material
breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement under this Agreement; provided, further, that if such
inaccuracy in the Company s representations and warranties or breach by the Company is curable by the End Date by
the Company then this Agreement shall not terminate pursuant to this Section 9.1(h) as a result of such particular
breach or inaccuracy until the expiration of a 30-day period commencing upon delivery of written notice from Parent
to the Company of such breach or inaccuracy and its intention to terminate pursuant to this Section 9.1(h) (it being
understood that this Agreement shall not terminate pursuant to this Section 9.1(h) as a result of such particular breach
or inaccuracy if such breach by the Company is cured prior to such termination becoming effective);

(i) by the Company, at any time, in the event that a Parent Material Adverse Effect shall have occurred;

172



Edgar Filing: - Form

(j) by Parent, at any time, in the event that a Company Material Adverse Effect shall have occurred; or
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(k) by Parent, at any time, if (i) Parent has received a Superior Offer, (ii) Parent has complied with its obligations
under Section 5.3(c) in order to accept such Superior Offer, (iii) Parent concurrently terminates this Agreement and
enters into a Permitted Alternative Agreement with respect to such Superior Offer and (iv) within two Business Days
of such termination, Parent pays to the Company the amount contemplated by Section 9.3(c).

9.2. Effect of Termination. In the event of the termination of this Agreement as provided in Section 9.1, this
Agreement shall be of no further force or effect; provided, however, that (a) this Section 9.2, Section 5.10, Section 9.3,
Section 10 and the definitions of the defined terms in such Sections shall survive the termination of this Agreement
and shall remain in full force and effect, and (b) the termination of this Agreement and the provisions of Section 9.3
shall not relieve any Party of any liability for fraud or for any willful or intentional breach of any representation,
warranty, covenant, obligation or other provision contained in this Agreement.

9.3. Expenses; Termination Fees.

(a) Except as set forth in this Section 9.3, Section 5.8(d), and Section 5.11, all fees and expenses incurred in
connection with this Agreement and the Contemplated Transactions shall be paid by the Party incurring such
expenses, whether or not the Merger is consummated; provided, however, that Parent and the Company shall share
equally all fees and expenses incurred in relation to the printing and filing with the SEC of the Registration Statement
(including any financial statements and exhibits) and any amendments or supplements thereto and paid to a financial
printer or the SEC (it being agreed that the cost of which is allocated to the Company pursuant to the foregoing shall
be a Company Transaction Expense). It is understood and agreed that (i) all fees and expenses incurred or to be
incurred by the Company in connection with the Contemplated Transactions and preparing, negotiating and entering
into this Agreement and the performance of its obligations under this Agreement shall be paid by the Company in cash
at or prior to the Closing (and shall be Company Transaction Expenses); and (ii) all fees and expenses incurred or to
be incurred by Parent in connection with the Contemplated Transactions and preparing, negotiating and entering into
this Agreement and the performance of its obligations under this Agreement shall be paid by Parent in cash at or prior
to the Closing (and shall be Parent Transaction Expenses).

(b) If (i) this Agreement is terminated by the Company pursuant to Section 9.1(f), or (ii) (A) this Agreement is
terminated by the Company or Parent pursuant to Section 9.1(e) or Section 9.1(g), (B) an Acquisition Proposal with
respect to Parent shall have been publicly announced or disclosed or otherwise communicated to Parent or the Parent
Board after the date of this Agreement but prior to the termination of this Agreement and (C) within twelve months
after the date of such termination, Parent consummates a Subsequent Transaction, then Parent shall pay to the
Company an amount equal to $1,750,000 (the Company Termination Fee ) (I) in the case of a payment required by
clause (i) above, within two Business Days of the date of termination of this Agreement, and (II) in the case of a
payment required by clause (ii) above, on the date of consummation of such Subsequent Transaction.

(c) If this Agreement is terminated by Parent pursuant to Section 9.1(k), Parent shall pay to the Company within two
Business Days of such termination the Company Termination Fee.

(d) Any Company Termination Fee due under this Section 9.3 shall be paid by wire transfer of same day funds. If
Parent fails to pay when due any amount payable by it under this Section 9.3, then Parent shall (i) reimburse the
Company for reasonable costs and expenses (including reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel) incurred by it in
connection with the collection of such overdue amount and the enforcement by the Company of its rights under this
Section 9.3, and (ii) pay to the Company interest on such overdue amount (for the period commencing as of the date
such overdue amount was originally required to be paid and ending on the date such overdue amount is actually paid
to the Company in full) at a rate per annum equal to the prime rate (as published in The Wall Street Journal or any
successor thereto) in effect on the date such overdue amount was originally required to be paid.
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(e) The Parties agree that, subject to Section 9.2, payment of the Company Termination Fee shall, in the
circumstances in which it is owed in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, constitute the sole and exclusive
remedy of the Company following the termination of this Agreement, it being understood that in no event shall Parent
be required to pay the amounts payable pursuant to this Section 9.3 on more than one occasion and (ii) following
payment of the Company Termination Fee (x) Parent shall have no further liability to the Company in connection with
or arising out of this Agreement or the termination thereof, any
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breach of this Agreement by Parent giving rise to such termination, or the failure of the Contemplated Transactions to
be consummated, (y) neither the Company nor any of its Affiliates shall be entitled to bring or maintain any other
claim, action or proceeding against Parent or Merger Sub or seek to obtain any recovery, judgment or damages of any
kind against such Parties (or any partner, member, stockholder, director, officer, employee, Subsidiary, Affiliate,
agent or other Representative of such Parties) in connection with or arising out of this Agreement or the termination
thereof, any breach by any such Parties giving rise to such termination or the failure of the Contemplated Transactions
to be consummated and (z) the Company and its Affiliates shall be precluded from any other remedy against Parent,
Merger Sub and their respective Affiliates, at law or in equity or otherwise, in connection with or arising out of this
Agreement or the termination thereof, any breach by such Party giving rise to such termination or the failure of the
Contemplated Transactions to be consummated. Each of the Parties acknowledges that (i) the agreements contained in
this Section 9.3 are an integral part of the Contemplated Transactions, (ii) without these agreements, the Parties would
not enter into this Agreement and (iii) any amount payable pursuant to this Section 9.3 is not a penalty, but rather is
liquidated damages in a reasonable amount that will compensate the Company in the circumstances in which such
amount is payable.

Section 10. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
10.1. Non-Survival of Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties of the Company,
Parent and Merger Sub contained in this Agreement or any certificate or instrument delivered pursuant to this
Agreement shall terminate at the Effective Time, and only the covenants that by their terms survive the Effective Time
and this Section 10 shall survive the Effective Time.

10.2. Amendment. This Agreement may be amended with the approval of the respective Boards of Directors of the
Company, Merger Sub and Parent at any time (whether before or after the adoption and approval of this Agreement by
the Company s stockholders or before or after obtaining the Required Parent Stockholder Vote); provided, however,
that after any such approval of this Agreement by a Party s stockholders, no amendment shall be made which by Law
requires further approval of such stockholders without the further approval of such stockholders. This Agreement may
not be amended except by an instrument in writing signed on behalf of each of the Company, Merger Sub and Parent.

10.3. Waiver.

(a) No failure on the part of any Party to exercise any power, right, privilege or remedy under this Agreement, and no
delay on the part of any Party in exercising any power, right, privilege or remedy under this Agreement, shall operate
as a waiver of such power, right, privilege or remedy; and no single or partial exercise of any such power, right,
privilege or remedy shall preclude any other or further exercise thereof or of any other power, right, privilege or
remedy.

(b) No Party shall be deemed to have waived any claim arising out of this Agreement, or any power, right, privilege
or remedy under this Agreement, unless the waiver of such claim, power, right, privilege or remedy is expressly set
forth in a written instrument duly executed and delivered on behalf of such Party and any such waiver shall not be
applicable or have any effect except in the specific instance in which it is given.

10.4. Entire Agreement; Counterparts; Exchanges by Electronic Transmission. This Agreement and the other
agreements referred to in this Agreement constitute the entire agreement and supersede all prior agreements and

understandings, both written and oral, among or between any of the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof
and thereof; provided, however, that the Confidentiality Agreement shall not be superseded and shall remain in full
force and effect in accordance with its terms. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which
shall be deemed an original and all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument. The exchange of a fully
executed Agreement (in counterparts or otherwise) by all Parties by electronic transmission in .PDF format shall be
sufficient to bind the Parties to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
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10.5. Applicable Law; Jurisdiction. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the
Laws of the State of Delaware, regardless of the Laws that might otherwise govern under applicable principles of

conflicts of laws. In any action or proceeding between any of the Parties arising out of or relating to this Agreement or
any of the Contemplated Transactions, each of the Parties: (a) irrevocably and
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unconditionally consents and submits to the exclusive jurisdiction and venue of the Court of Chancery of the State of
Delaware or, to the extent such court does not have subject matter jurisdiction, the United States District Court for the
District of Delaware or, to the extent that neither of the foregoing courts has jurisdiction, the Superior Court of the
State of Delaware; (b) agrees that all claims in respect of such action or proceeding shall be heard and determined
exclusively in accordance with clause (a) of this Section 10.5; (c) waives any objection to laying venue in any such
action or proceeding in such courts; (d) waives any objection that such courts are an inconvenient forum or do not
have jurisdiction over any Party; (e) agrees that service of process upon such Party in any such action or proceeding
shall be effective if notice is given in accordance with Section 10.8 of this Agreement; and (f) irrevocably and
unconditionally waives the right to trial by jury.

10.6. Attorneys Fees. In any action at law or suit in equity to enforce this Agreement or the rights of any of the
Parties, the prevailing Party in such action or suit (as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction) shall be entitled
to recover its reasonable out-of-pocket attorneys fees and all other reasonable costs and expenses incurred in such
action or suit.

10.7. Assignability. This Agreement shall be binding upon, and shall be enforceable by and inure solely to the

benefit of, the Parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns; provided, however, that neither this
Agreement nor any of a Party s rights or obligations hereunder may be assigned or delegated by such Party without the
prior written consent of the other Party, and any attempted assignment or delegation of this Agreement or any of such
rights or obligations by such Party without the other Party s prior written consent shall be void and of no effect.

10.8. Notices. All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been
duly delivered and received hereunder (a) one Business Day after being sent for next Business Day delivery, fees
prepaid, via a reputable international overnight courier service, (b) upon delivery in the case of delivery by hand, or
(c) on the date delivered in the place of delivery if sent by email or facsimile (with a written or electronic confirmation
of delivery) prior to 6:00 p.m. New York City time, otherwise on the next succeeding Business Day, in each case to
the intended recipient as set forth below:

if to Parent or Merger Sub:

Edge Therapeutics, Inc.

300 Connell Drive, Suite 4000
Berkeley Heights, NJ 07922
Attention: Brian Leuthner

Email: baleuthner @edgetherapeutics.com

with a copy to (which shall not constitute notice):

Dechert LLP

1095 Avenue of the Americas

New York, NY 10036

Attention: David S. Rosenthal, Esq.
Facsimile: (212) 698-3599

Email: david.rosenthal @dechert.com
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if to the Company:
PDS Biotechnology Corporation
675 US Highway One
North Brunswick, NJ 08902

Attention: Frank Bedu-Addo
Email: fbeduaddo @pdsbiotech.com
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with a copy to (which shall not constitute notice):

DLA Piper LLP (US)

One Liberty Place

1650 Market Street, Suite 4900
Attention: Fahd Riaz
Facsimile: (215) 606-2069

Email: fahd.riaz@dlapiper.com
10.9. Cooperation. Each Party agrees to cooperate fully with the other Party and to execute and deliver such further
documents, certificates, agreements and instruments and to take such other actions as may be reasonably requested by
the other Party to evidence or reflect the Contemplated Transactions and to carry out the intent and purposes of this
Agreement.

10.10. Severability. Any term or provision of this Agreement that is invalid or unenforceable in any situation in any
jurisdiction shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining terms and provisions of this Agreement or
the validity or enforceability of the offending term or provision in any other situation or in any other jurisdiction. If a
final judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction declares that any term or provision of this Agreement is invalid or
unenforceable, the Parties agree that the court making such determination shall have the power to limit such term or
provision, to delete specific words or phrases or to replace such term or provision with a term or provision that is valid
and enforceable and that comes closest to expressing the intention of the invalid or unenforceable term or provision,
and this Agreement shall be valid and enforceable as so modified. In the event such court does not exercise the power
granted to it in the prior sentence, the Parties agree to replace such invalid or unenforceable term or provision with a
valid and enforceable term or provision that will achieve, to the extent possible, the economic, business and other
purposes of such invalid or unenforceable term or provision.

10.11. Other Remedies; Specific Performance. Except as otherwise provided herein, any and all remedies herein
expressly conferred upon a Party will be deemed cumulative with and not exclusive of any other remedy conferred
hereby, or by law or equity upon such Party, and the exercise by a Party of any one remedy will not preclude the
exercise of any other remedy. The Parties agree that irreparable damage for which monetary damages, even if
available, would not be an adequate remedy, would occur in the event that any Party does not perform the provisions
of this Agreement (including failing to take such actions as are required of it hereunder to consummate this
Agreement) in accordance with its specified terms or otherwise breaches such provisions. Accordingly, the Parties
acknowledge and agree that the Parties shall be entitled to an injunction, specific performance and other equitable
relief to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions hereof, in addition to
any other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity. Each of the Parties agrees that it will not oppose the
granting of an injunction, specific performance or other equitable relief on the basis that any other Party has an
adequate remedy at law or that any award of specific performance is not an appropriate remedy for any reason at law
or in equity. Any Party seeking an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement shall not be
required to provide any bond or other security in connection with any such order or injunction.

10.12. No Third Party Beneficiaries. Nothing in this Agreement, express or implied, is intended to or shall confer
upon any Person (other than the Parties and the D&O Indemnified Parties to the extent of their respective rights
pursuant to Section 5.8) any right, benefit or remedy of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement.

10.13. Construction.

(a) Referencesto cash, dollars or $ areto U.S. dollars.
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(b) For purposes of this Agreement, whenever the context requires: the singular number shall include the plural, and
vice versa; the masculine gender shall include the feminine and neuter genders; the feminine gender shall include the
masculine and neuter genders; and the neuter gender shall include masculine and feminine genders.
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(c) The Parties have participated jointly in the negotiating and drafting of this Agreement and agree that any rule of
construction to the effect that ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting Party shall not be applied in the
construction or interpretation of this Agreement, and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or
disfavoring any Party by virtue of the authorship of any provision of this Agreement.

(d) Asused in this Agreement, the words include and including, and variations thereof, shall not be deemed to be
terms of limitation, but rather shall be deemed to be followed by the words without limitation.

(e) The use of the word or shall not be exclusive.

(f) Except as otherwise indicated, all references in this Agreement to Sections,  Exhibits and Schedules are intended
to refer to Sections of this Agreement and Exhibits and Schedules to this Agreement, respectively.

(g) Any reference to legislation or to any provision of any legislation shall include any modification, amendment,
re-enactment thereof, any legislative provision substituted therefore and all rules, regulations, and statutory
instruments issued or related to such legislations.

(h) The bold-faced headings and table of contents contained in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only,
shall not be deemed to be a part of this Agreement and shall not be referred to in connection with the construction or
interpretation of this Agreement.

(1) The Parties agree that each of the Company Disclosure Schedule and the Parent Disclosure Schedule shall be
arranged in sections and subsections corresponding to the numbered and lettered sections and subsections contained in
this Agreement. The disclosures in any section or subsection of the Company Disclosure Schedule or the Parent
Disclosure Schedule shall qualify other sections and subsections in this Agreement to the extent it is reasonably
apparent on its face from a reading of the disclosure that such disclosure is applicable to such other sections and
subsections.

(j) delivered or made available means, with respect to any documentation, that prior to 11:59 p.m. (New York City
time) on the date that is two calendar days prior to the date of this Agreement (i) a copy of such material has been

posted to and made available by a Party to the other Party and its Representatives in the electronic data room

maintained by such disclosing Party or (ii) such material is disclosed in the Parent SEC Documents filed with the SEC
and publicly made available on the SEC s Electronic Data Gathering Analysis and Retrieval system at least two days
prior to the date of this Agreement.

(k) Whenever the last day for the exercise of any privilege or the discharge of any duty hereunder shall fall upon a
Saturday, Sunday, or any date on which banks in New York, New York are authorized or obligated by Law to be
closed, the Party having such privilege or duty may exercise such privilege or discharge such duty on the next
succeeding day which is a regular Business Day.

(Remainder of page intentionally left blank)
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IN WITNESS WHEREQOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first above written.

[Signature Page to Agreement and Plan of Merger]
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EDGE THERAPEUTICS, INC.

By: /s/ Brian A. Leuthner
Name: Brian A. Leuthner
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

ECHOS MERGER SUB, INC.
By: /s/ Brian A. Leuthner

Name: Brian A. Leuthner
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
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IN WITNESS WHEREQOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first above written.

PDS BIOTECHNOLOGY CORPORATION

By: /s/ Frank Bedu-Addo
Name: Frank Bedu-Addo

Title:  Chief Executive Officer
[Signature Page to Agreement and Plan of Merger]

A-61

184



Edgar Filing: - Form
TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXHIBIT A
CERTAIN DEFINITIONS
(a) For purposes of this Agreement (including this Exhibit A):

Acquisition Inquiry means, with respect to a Party, an inquiry, indication of interest or request for information (other
than an inquiry, indication of interest or request for information made or submitted by the Company, on the one hand,
or Parent, on the other hand, to the other Party) that would reasonably be expected to lead to an Acquisition Proposal.

Acquisition Proposal means, with respect to a Party, any offer or proposal, whether written or oral (other than an offer
or proposal made or submitted by or on behalf of the Company or any of its Affiliates, on the one hand, or by or on
behalf of Parent or any of its Affiliates, on the other hand, to the other Party) contemplating or otherwise relating to
any Acquisition Transaction with such Party.

Acquisition Transaction means any transaction or series of related transactions involving:

(i) any merger, consolidation, amalgamation, share exchange, business combination, issuance of securities,

acquisition of securities, reorganization, recapitalization, tender offer, exchange offer or other similar transaction: (i)

in which a Party is a constituent entity; (ii) in which a Person or group (as defined in the Exchange Act and the rules

promulgated thereunder) of Persons directly or indirectly acquires beneficial or record ownership of securities

representing more than 20% of the outstanding securities of any class of voting securities of a Party or any of its

Subsidiaries; or (iii) in which a Party or any of its Subsidiaries issues securities representing more than 20% of the

outstanding securities of any class of voting securities of such Party or any of its Subsidiaries; provided that in the

case of the Company, a Permitted Bridge Financing or Permitted Post-Measurement Date Financing shall not be an
Acquisition Transaction ; or

(i1) any sale, lease, exchange, transfer, license, acquisition or disposition of any business or businesses or assets that
constitute or account for 20% or more of the consolidated book value or the fair market value of the assets of a Party
and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.

Actual Knowledge of the Company means the actual knowledge of the individuals set forth on Schedule II (without
any duty of inquiry).

Actual Knowledge of Parent means the actual knowledge of the individuals set forth on Schedule IIT (without any
duty of inquiry).

Alffiliate of a Person means any other Person that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls,
is controlled by, or is under common control with, such Person. The term control (including the terms controlled by
and under common control with ) means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the
direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract
or otherwise.

Agreement means the Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization to which this Exhibit A is attached, as it
may be amended from time to time.

Anticipated Closing Date means the anticipated Closing Date (as mutually agreed in good faith by Parent and the
Company).
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Business Day means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which banks in New York, New York are
authorized or obligated by Law to be closed.

Cash and Cash Equivalents means all (a) cash and cash equivalents (excluding restricted cash, but including security
deposits held by third parties), (b) marketable securities, and (c) receivables (to the extent determined to be
collectible), in each case, determined in accordance with GAAP, consistently applied.

Code means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

Company Associate means any current or former employee, independent contractor, officer or director of the
Company.

Company Board means the board of directors of the Company.
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Company Capital Stock means the Company Common Stock and the Company Preferred Stock.

Company Capitalization Representations means the representations and warranties of the Company set forth in

Sections 2.6(a) and (c).

Company Collar Range means a range between (and inclusive of) negative $1,400,000 and negative $600,000.
Company Common Stock means the Common Stock, par value $0.00001 per share, of the Company.

Company Contract means any Contract: (a) to which the Company is a party; (b) by which the Company or any
Company Owned IP Rights or any other asset of the Company is or may become bound or under which the Company
has, or may become subject to, any obligation; or (c) under which the Company has or may acquire any right or
interest.

Company Deficiency Amount means the amount equal to the minimum amount of the Company Collar Range minus
the absolute value of final Company Net Cash, as determined in accordance with Section 5.22, but only to the extent
such final Company Net Cash is less than the minimum amount of the Company Collar Range. For the avoidance of
doubt, Company Deficiency Amount may be a positive or negative number.

Company ERISA Affiliate means any corporation or trade or business (whether or not incorporated) which is treated
with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries as a single employer within the meaning of Section 414 of the Code.

Company Excess Amount means the amount equal to the final Company Net Cash, as determined in accordance with
Section 5.22, minus the maximum amount of the Company Collar Range, but only to the extent such final Company
Net Cash is more than the maximum amount of the Company Collar Range.

Company Exclusively Licensed IP Rights means all Intellectual Property exclusively licensed to the Company that is
used in the business of the Company as presently conducted.

Company Fundamental Representations means the representations and warranties of the Company set forth in (i)
Sections 2.1(a) (Due Organization; Subsidiaries), 2.3 (Authority; Binding Nature of Agreement), 2.4 (Vote Required),
and 2.20 (No Brokers Fees).

Company IP Rights means Company Licensed IP Rights and Company Owned IP Rights.

Company Licensed IP Rights means all Intellectual Property licensed to the Company that is used in the business of
the Company as presently conducted.

Company Lock-Up Signatories means those Persons set forth on Section A of the Company Disclosure Schedule.

Company Material Adverse Effect means any Effect that, considered together with all other Effects that have
occurred prior to the date of determination of the occurrence of a Company Material Adverse Effect, has or would
reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the business, condition (financial or otherwise), assets,
liabilities or results of operations of the Company; provided, however, that Effects arising or resulting from the
following shall not be taken into account in determining whether there has been a Company Material Adverse Effect:
(a) general business or economic conditions affecting the industry in which the Company operates, (b) acts of war,
armed hostilities or terrorism, (c) changes in financial, banking or securities markets; (d) the taking of any action
required to be taken by this Agreement; (e) any change in, or any compliance with or action taken for the purpose of
complying with, any Law or GAAP (or interpretations of any Law or GAAP), or (f) resulting from the announcement
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of this Agreement or the pendency of the Contemplated Transactions; except in each case with respect to clauses (a)
through (c), to the extent disproportionately affecting the Company relative to other similarly situated companies in
the industries in which the Company operates.

Company Net Cash means (a) the sum of (without duplication) and as of the Company Net Cash Measurement Date,
(i) the Company s Cash and Cash Equivalents and (ii) the Company s prepaid expenses referenced on Schedule 5.22(a),

in each case, determined in a manner substantially consistent with the manner in which such items were determined
for the Company Financials, minus (b) the sum of (without
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duplication) (i) the Company s accounts payable and accrued expenses (including accrued tax liabilities, but excluding
accrued expenses which are Company Transaction Expenses) and the Company s other current liabilities payable in
cash, in each case as of the Company Net Cash Measurement Date and determined in a manner substantially
consistent with the manner in which such items were determined for the Company Financials, (ii) any Company
Transaction Expenses, and (iii) any indebtedness for borrowed money of the Company as of the Company Net Cash
Measurement Date, but excluding any indebtedness arising under a Permitted Bridge Financing that is converted into
Company Capital Stock or Parent Common Stock in connection with the Closing; and (iii) to the extent not otherwise
included as a Company Transaction Expenses or under clause (i), the amounts referenced in all Company
Representative Confirmation Letters. For the avoidance of doubt, (A) Company Net Cash may be a positive or
negative number and (B) neither cash proceeds received nor indebtedness incurred in a Permitted Post-Measurement
Date Financing shall be included in the calculation of Company Net Cash.

Company Net Cash Measurement Date means the Anticipated Closing Date; provided that if (i) the Closing has not
occurred on or prior to February 28, 2019, and (ii) as of February 28, 2019, the Company has received the Required
Company Stockholder Vote and the conditions to Closing set forth in Section 7 have been satisfied as of such date (or
would be satisfied if the Closing occurred on such date and other than those conditions to Closing that by their nature
are to be satisfied at Closing), then the Company Net Cash Measurement Date shall be February 28, 2019.

Company Net Cash Schedule means a written schedule prepared in accordance with Section 5.22(a) and certified by
the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, on behalf of the Company and not in his or her personal capacity, setting
forth, in reasonable detail, the Company s good faith estimate of Company Net Cash as of the Company Net Cash
Measurement Date.

Company Options means options or other rights to purchase shares of Company Common Stock issued by the
Company (excluding, for clarity, the Company Warrants).

Company Owned IP Rights means all Intellectual Property owned or purported to be owned by the Company that is
used in the business of the Company as presently conducted.

Company Registered IP means all Company Owned IP Rights that are registered, filed or issued under the authority
of, with or by any Governmental Body, including all Patents, registered Copyrights, and registered Trademarks
(including domain names) and all applications for any of the foregoing.

Company Representative Confirmation Letters means written confirmations, in a form reasonably satisfactory to
Parent, from the attorneys, accountants, investment bankers and other professional advisors of the Company as to all
amounts estimated in good faith owed by the Company with respect to services performed by them through the
Closing (with respect to amounts constituting Company Transaction Expenses) and through the Company Net Cash
Measurement Date with respect to any other amounts.

Company Stock Plans means collectively, the Company 2009 Stock Option Plan and the Company 2018 Stock
Incentive Plan, in each case as amended.

Company Transaction Expenses means Transaction Expenses of the Company.

Company Unaudited Interim Balance Sheet means the unaudited balance sheet of the Company as of September 30,
2018 provided to Parent prior to the date of this Agreement.

Company Warrants means all warrants to purchase Company Common Stock.
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Confidentiality Agreement means the Mutual Confidentiality Agreement, dated as of May 16, 2018, between the
Company and Parent.

Consent means any approval, consent, ratification, permission, waiver or authorization (including any Governmental
Authorization).

Contemplated Transactions means the Merger, the Reverse Split and the other transactions contemplated by this
Agreement.
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Contract means, with respect to any Person, any agreement, contract, subcontract, lease (whether for real or personal
property), mortgage, license, sublicense or other legally binding commitment or undertaking of any nature to which
such Person is a party or by which such Person or any of its assets are bound or affected under applicable Law.

Data Privacy Requirement means all (a) Laws applicable to the protection or processing of Personal Data, including
Laws relating to the collection, use, disclosure or retention of Personal Data and (b) contractual obligations relating to
the collection, use, disclosure, retention, protection or processing of Personal Data. For the avoidance of doubt, the
term Data Privacy Requirements include pronouncements or guidance by the Federal Trade Commission regarding
data privacy requirements emanating from Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act.

Data Processors means any third party service providers, software developers, outsourcers or other Persons which the
applicable Person or its Subsidiary engages and allows access to Personal Data or information systems of such Person
or its Subsidiaries (including all information and transactions stored or contained therein or transmitted thereby).

Determination Date means the date that is ten calendar days prior to the Anticipated Closing Date.
DGCL means the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.
Effect means any effect, change, event, circumstance, or development.

Encumbrance means any lien, pledge, hypothecation, charge, mortgage, security interest, lease, license, option,
easement, reservation, servitude, adverse title, claim, infringement, interference, option, right of first refusal,
preemptive right, community property interest or restriction or encumbrance of any nature (including any restriction
on the voting of any security, any restriction on the transfer of any security or other asset, any restriction on the receipt
of any income derived from any asset, any restriction on the use of any asset and any restriction on the possession,
exercise or transfer of any other attribute of ownership of any asset).

Enforceability Exceptions means the (a) Laws of general application relating to bankruptcy, insolvency and the relief
of debtors; and (b) rules of law governing specific performance, injunctive relief and other equitable remedies.

Entity means any corporation (including any non-profit corporation), partnership (including any general partnership,
limited partnership or limited liability partnership), joint venture, estate, trust, company (including any company
limited by shares, limited liability company or joint stock company), firm, society or other enterprise, association,
organization or entity, and each of its successors.

Environmental Law means any federal, state, local or foreign Law relating to pollution or protection of human health
or the environment (including ambient air, surface water, ground water, land surface or subsurface strata), including
any Law or regulation relating to emissions, discharges, releases or threatened releases of Hazardous Materials, or
otherwise relating to the manufacture, processing, distribution, use, treatment, storage, disposal, transport or handling
of Hazardous Materials.

ERISA means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

Exchange Act means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Exchange Ratio means, subject to Section 1.5(f), the following ratio (rounded to four decimal places): the quotient
obtained by dividing (a) the Company Merger Shares by (b) the Company Outstanding Shares, in which:

. Aggregate Valuation means the sum of (a) the Company Valuation, plus (b) the Parent Valuation.
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Company Valuation means, subject to any adjustments pursuant to Section 5.22(f), $70,000,000, a
component of which is Company Net Cash.

Company Allocation Percentage the quotient (rounded to two decimal places) determined by dividing
(i) the Company Valuation by (ii) the Aggregate Valuation (it being understood and
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agreed that to the extent any adjustment to the Company Valuation is made pursuant to Section 5.22(f), the Company
Allocation Percentage shall thereafter be adjusted accordingly to reflect such adjustment to the Company Valuation).

Company Merger Shares means (a) the product determined by multiplying (i) the Post-Closing Parent
Shares by (ii) the Company Allocation Percentage, minus (b) the number of shares of Parent Common
Stock issuable upon the conversion of any convertible notes issued by the Company under a Permitted
Bridge Financing.

Company Outstanding Shares means the total number of shares of Company Capital Stock outstanding
immediately prior to the Effective Time expressed on a fully-diluted and as-converted to Company
Common Stock basis and assuming, without limitation or duplication, (i) the cashless exercise of all
Company Options and Company Warrants outstanding as of immediately prior to the Effective Time
with an exercise price less than the Parent Closing Price (on a converted to Company Common Stock
basis) and (ii) the issuance of shares of Company Capital Stock in respect of all other outstanding
options, warrants or rights to receive such shares, (assuming cashless exercise using the Parent Closing
Price (on a converted to Company Common Stock basis) in the case of options, warrants and other
similar rights), whether conditional or unconditional and including any outstanding options, warrants or
rights, including any convertible notes and accrued interest in connection therewith and any accrued
dividends on Company Capital Stock (but excluding any shares of Company Common Stock reserved
for issuance). For the avoidance of doubt, no out-of-the-money Company Options or Company Warrants
shall be included in the total number of shares of Company Capital Stock outstanding for purposes of
determining the Company Outstanding Shares.

Parent Allocation Percentage means the quotient (rounded to two decimal places) determined by
dividing (i) the Parent Valuation by (ii) the Aggregate Valuation (it being understood and agreed that to
* the extent any adjustment to the Parent Valuation is made pursuant to Section 5.22(g), the Parent

Allocation Percentage shall thereafter be adjusted accordingly to reflect such adjustment to the Parent
Valuation).

Parent Outstanding Shares means the total number of shares of Parent Common Stock outstanding
immediately prior to the Effective Time expressed on a fully-diluted basis, but assuming, without
limitation or duplication, (i) with respect to Parent Options and Parent Warrants, the cashless exercise
solely of those Parent Options and Parent Warrants outstanding as of immediately prior to the Effective
Time with an exercise price less than the Parent Closing Price (and otherwise disregarding any other
Parent Options and Parent Warrants), (ii) the settlement of each Parent RSU that is outstanding
immediately prior to the Effective Time for an equivalent number of shares of Parent Common Stock

* and (ii) the issuance of shares of Parent Common Stock in respect of all other outstanding options,
warrants or rights to receive such shares (assuming cashless exercise using the Parent Closing Price in
the case of options, warrants and other similar rights), whether conditional or unconditional and
including any outstanding options, warrants or rights triggered by or associated with the consummation
of the Merger (but excluding any shares of Parent Common Stock reserved for issuance). For the
avoidance of doubt, no out-of-the-money Parent Options or Parent Warrants shall be included in the
total number of shares of Parent Common Stock outstanding for purposes of determining the Parent
Outstanding Shares.

Parent Valuation means, subject to any adjustments pursuant to Section 5.22(g), $30,000,000, a
component of which is Parent Net Cash.

Post-Closing Parent Shares means the quotient determined by dividing (i) the Parent Outstanding
Shares by (ii) the Parent Allocation Percentage.

GAAP means generally accepted accounting principles and practices in effect from time to time within the United
States applied consistently throughout the period involved.
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Governmental Authorization means any: (a) permit, license, certificate, franchise, permission, variance, exception,
order, clearance, registration, qualification or authorization issued, granted, given or otherwise made available by or
under the authority of any Governmental Body or pursuant to any Law; or (b) right under any Contract with any
Governmental Body.

Governmental Body means any: (a) nation, state, commonwealth, province, territory, county, municipality, district or
other jurisdiction of any nature; (b) federal, state, local, municipal, foreign or other government; (c) governmental or
quasi-governmental authority of any nature (including any governmental division, department, agency, commission,
bureau, instrumentality, official, ministry, fund, foundation, center, organization, unit, body or Entity and any court or
other tribunal, and for the avoidance of doubt, any Taxing authority); or (d) self-regulatory organization (including
NASDAQ).

Hazardous Materials means any pollutant, chemical, substance and any toxic, infectious, carcinogenic, reactive,
corrosive, ignitable or flammable chemical, or chemical compound, or hazardous substance, material or waste,
whether solid, liquid or gas, that is subject to regulation, control or remediation under any Environmental Law,
including without limitation, crude oil or any fraction thereof, and petroleum products or by-products.

Inducement Grants means those stock options set forth on Section A of the Parent Disclosure Schedule.

Intellectual Property means any and all intellectual and industrial property rights and other similar proprietary rights,
in any jurisdiction throughout the world, whether registered or unregistered, including all rights pertaining to or
deriving from: (a) patents and patent applications, (including any and all provisionals, continuations,
continuations-in-part, continued prosecution, divisionals and patents of addition; requests for, and grants of, continued
examination, extensions, supplemental protection certificates, re-examinations, post-grant confirmations or
amendments, counterparts claiming priority from, or reissues of, any of the foregoing; and any patents or patent
applications that claim priority to or from any of the foregoing) and all rights to claim priority arising from or related
to any of the foregoing (collectively, _Patents ); (b) inventions, invention disclosures, discoveries and improvements,
whether or not patentable; (c) copyrights and works of authorship, whether or not copyrightable (_Copyrights ); (d)
computer software and firmware, including data files, source code, object code and software-related specifications and
documentation; (e) trademarks, trade names, service marks, certification marks, service names, brands, trade dress and
logos, applications therefore, and the goodwill associated therewith (collectively, _Trademarks ); (f) trade secrets
(including those trade secrets defined in the Uniform Trade Secrets Act, the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016 and
under corresponding foreign statutory Law and common law), non-public information, and confidential information,
know-how, business and technical information, and rights to limit the use or disclosure thereof by any Person
(collectively _Proprietary Information ); (g) mask works; (h) domain names; (i) proprietary databases and data
compilations and all documentation relating to the foregoing; and, including in each case any and all (1) rights under
which an employee, inventor, author or other person is obligated to assign or has assigned ownership any of the
foregoing; (2) registrations of, applications to register, and renewals of, any of the foregoing with or by any
Governmental Body in any jurisdiction throughout the world, (3) rights of action arising from the foregoing, including
all claims for damages by reason of present, past and future infringement, misappropriation, violation misuse or
breach of contract in respect of the foregoing, and present, past and future rights to sue and collect damages or seek
injunctive relief for any such infringement, misappropriation, violation, misuse or breach; and (4) income, royalties
and any other payments now and hereafter due and/or payable in respect of the foregoing.

IRS means the United States Internal Revenue Service.
Key Employee means an executive officer of the identified Party or any employee of such Party that reports directly to

the board of directors of such Party or to the Chief Executive Officer or Chief Operating Officer of such Party.
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Knowledge of the Company, Company s Knowledge or similar terms means the actual knowledge of the individuals
set forth on Schedule II; provided that each such individual shall be deemed to have actual knowledge of any fact or
matter if such individual would reasonably be expected to know such fact or matter in the ordinary course of the
performance of such individual s employment responsibilities.
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Knowledge of Parent, Parent s Knowledge or similar terms means the actual knowledge of the individuals set forth
on Schedule III; provided that each such individual shall be deemed to have actual knowledge of any fact or matter if
such individual would reasonably be expected to know such fact or matter in the ordinary course of the performance
of such individual s employment responsibilities.

Law means any federal, state, national, foreign, material local or municipal or other law, statute, constitution, principle
of common law, resolution, ordinance, code, edict, decree, rule, regulation, ruling or requirement issued, enacted,
adopted, promulgated, implemented or otherwise put into effect by or under the authority of any Governmental Body
(including under the authority of NASDAQ or the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority).

Legal Proceeding means any action, suit, claim, litigation, arbitration, charge, proceeding (including any civil,
criminal, administrative, investigative or appellate proceeding), hearing, inquiry, audit, examination or investigation
commenced, brought, conducted or heard by or before, or otherwise involving, any court or other Governmental Body
or any arbitrator or arbitration panel.

Merger Sub Board means the board of directors of Merger Sub.

NASDAQ means the Nasdaq Stock Market, including the Nasdaq Global Select Market or such other Nasdaq market
on which shares of Parent Common Stock are then listed.

Ordinary Course of Business means, in the case of each of the Company and Parent, such actions taken in the
ordinary course of its normal operations and consistent with its past practices.

Organizational Documents means, with respect to any Person (other than an individual), (a) the certificate or articles
of association or incorporation or organization or limited partnership or limited liability company, and any joint
venture, limited liability company, operating or partnership agreement and other similar documents adopted or filed in
connection with the creation, formation or organization of such Person and (b) all bylaws and similar documents or
agreements relating to the organization or governance of such Person, in each case, as amended or supplemented.

Parent 401(k) Plan means the Parent 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan.

Parent Balance Sheet means the unaudited balance sheet of Parent as of September 30, 2018 (the Parent Balance
Sheet Date ), included in Parent s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2018, as filed
with the SEC.

Parent Board means the board of directors of Parent.

Parent Capitalization Representations means the representations and warranties of Parent set forth_in Sections 3.6(a)

and (c).

Parent Change in Circumstance means any event, development or change in circumstances that materially affects the
business, assets or operations of Parent that occurs or arises after the date of this Agreement and to Parent that was
neither known to Parent or the Parent Board nor reasonably foreseeable, as of the date of this Agreement (or the
consequences of which were not known to the Parent Board, in their reasonable estimation, or reasonably foreseeable
based on facts known to the Parent Board as of the date of this Agreement); provided, that Parent Change in
Circumstance shall not include any such event, development or change to the extent related to any Acquisition
Proposal, Acquisition Inquiry or the consequences thereof.
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Parent Closing Price means the volume weighted average closing trading price of a share of Parent Common Stock
on NASDAQ for the five consecutive trading days ending five trading days immediately prior to the date upon which
the Merger becomes effective.

Parent Collar Range means a range between (and inclusive of) $25,000,000 and $25,800,000.

Parent Common Stock means the Common Stock, $0.00033 par value per share, of Parent.

Parent Contract means any Contract: (a) to which Parent is a party; (b) by which Parent or any Parent IP Rights or
any other asset of Parent is or may become bound or under which Parent has, or may become subject to, any

obligation; or (c) under which Parent has or may acquire any right or interest.
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Parent Deficiency Amount means the amount equal to the minimum amount of the Parent Collar Range minus the
final Parent Net Cash, as determined in accordance with Section 5.22, but only to the extent such final Parent Net
Cash is less than the minimum amount of the Parent Collar Range.

Parent ERISA Affiliate means any corporation or trade or business (whether or not incorporated) which is treated
with the Parent or any of its Subsidiaries as a single employer within the meaning of Section 414 of the Code.

Parent Excess Amount means the amount equal to the final Parent Net Cash, as determined in accordance with
Section 5.22, minus the maximum amount of the Parent Collar Range, but only to the extent such final Parent Net
Cash is more than the maximum amount of the Parent Collar Range.

Parent Exclusively Licensed IP Rights means all Intellectual Property exclusively licensed to Parent that is used in
the business of Parent as presently conducted.

Parent Fundamental Representations means the representations and warranties of Parent and Merger Sub set forth in
Sections 3.1(a) (Due Organization; Subsidiaries), 3.3 (Authority; Binding Nature of Agreement), 3.4 (Vote Required)
and 3.19 (No Brokers Fees).

Parent IP Rights means Parent Licensed IP Rights and Parent Owned IP Rights.

Parent Licensed IP Rights means all Intellectual Property licensed to Parent that is used in the business of the Parent
as presently conducted.

Parent Material Adverse Effect means any Effect that, considered together with all other Effects that have occurred
prior to the date of determination of the occurrence of a Parent Material Adverse Effect, has or would reasonably be
expected to have a material adverse effect on the business, condition (financial or otherwise), assets, liabilities or
results of operations of Parent; provided, however, that Effects arising or resulting from the following shall not be
taken into account in determining whether there has been a Parent Material Adverse Effect: (a) general business or
economic conditions affecting the industry in which Parent operates, (b) acts of war, armed hostilities or terrorism, (c)
changes in financial, banking or securities markets, (d) the taking of any action required to be taken by this
Agreement, (e) any change in the stock price or trading volume of Parent Common Stock (it being understood,
however, that any Effect causing or contributing to any change in stock price or trading volume of Parent Common
Stock may be taken into account in determining whether a Parent Material Adverse Effect has occurred, unless such
Effects are otherwise excepted from this definition), (f) any clinical trial programs or studies, including any adverse
data, event or outcome arising out of or related to any such programs or studies or (g) the announcement of this
Agreement or the pendency of the Contemplated Transactions except in each case with respect to clauses (a) through
(c), to the extent disproportionately affecting Parent relative to other similarly situated companies in the industries in
which Parent operates.

Parent Net Cash means (a) the sum of (without duplication) and as of the Anticipated Closing Date (i) Parent s Cash
and Cash Equivalents and (ii) the prepaid expenses of Parent referenced on Schedule 5.22(c), determined in a manner
substantially consistent with the manner in which such items were determined in the Parent SEC Documents, minus
(b) the sum of (without duplication) (i) Parent s accounts payable and accrued expenses (including accrued tax
liabilities, but excluding accrued expenses which are Parent Transaction Expenses) and Parent s other current liabilities
payable in cash, in each case as of the Anticipated Closing Date and determined in a manner substantially consistent
with the manner in which such items were determined in the Parent SEC Documents, (ii) any Parent Transaction
Expenses, (iii) any indebtedness for borrowed money of Parent as of the Anticipated Closing Date and (iv) to the
extent the Identified Claim is still outstanding, $1,000,000 less any amounts previously paid by Parent that would be
applicable to the deductible under the insurance policy referenced on Section 3.17(b) of the Parent Disclosure
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Schedule, and (v) to the extent not otherwise included as a Parent Transaction Expense or under clause (i), the
amounts referenced in all Parent Representative Confirmation Letters. For the avoidance of doubt, Parent Net Cash
may be a positive or negative number.

Parent Net Cash Schedule means a written schedule prepared in accordance with Section 5.22(c) and certified by the
Chief Financial Officer of Parent, on behalf of Parent and not in his or her personal capacity, setting forth, in

reasonable detail, Parent s good faith estimate of Parent Net Cash as of the Anticipated Closing Date.
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Parent Options means options or other rights to purchase shares of Parent Common Stock issued by Parent
(excluding, for clarity, the Parent Warrants).

Parent Owned IP Rights means all Intellectual Property owned or purported to be owned by Parent that is used in the
business of Parent as presently conducted.

Parent Representative Confirmation Letters means written confirmations, in a form reasonably satisfactory to the
Company, from the attorneys, accountants, investment bankers and other professional advisors of Parent as to all
amounts estimated in good faith owed by Parent with respect to services performed by them through the Closing (or
following the Closing at the pre-Closing direction of Parent).

Parent Registered IP means all Parent Owned IP Rights that are registered, filed or issued under the authority of, with
or by any Governmental Body, including all Patents, registered Copyrights, and registered Trademarks (including
domain names) and all applications for any of the foregoing.

Parent RSUs means restricted stock units issued by Parent.

Parent Stock Plans means the Parent 2010 Equity Incentive Plan, the Parent 2012 Equity Incentive Plan and the
Parent 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, each as amended from time to time, and the Inducement Grants.

Parent Transaction Expenses means Transaction Expenses of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries.

Parent Triggering Event shall be deemed to have occurred if: (a) Parent shall have failed to include in the Proxy
Statement the Parent Board Recommendation or shall have made a Parent Board Adverse Recommendation Change;
(b) the Parent Board or any committee thereof shall have publicly approved, endorsed or recommended any
Acquisition Proposal; or (c) Parent shall have entered into any letter of intent or similar document or any Contract
relating to any Acquisition Proposal (other than a confidentiality agreement permitted pursuant to Section 4.4).

Parent Warrants means all warrants to purchase Parent Common Stock.
Party or Parties means the Company, Merger Sub and Parent.

Permitted Alternative Agreement means a definitive agreement that contemplates or otherwise relates to an
Acquisition Transaction that constitutes a Superior Offer.

Permitted Bridge Financing means the Company s issuance, in a single transaction or series of transactions, of (a)
shares of Company Common Stock, in which event such shares shall be included in the calculation of Company
Outstanding Shares, (b) Company Warrants, in which event such Company Warrants shall be included in the
calculation of Company Outstanding Shares to the extent provided in such definition, and/or (c) convertible
promissory notes, which promissory notes shall convert into either shares of (i) Company Common Stock prior to the
Closing, in which event such shares of Company Common Stock shall be included in the calculation of Company
Outstanding Shares, or (ii) Parent Common Stock immediately after the Closing, in which event such shares shall be
deducted from the calculation of Company Merger Shares, as provided in the definition thereof. In no event shall the
aggregate proceeds of the Permitted Bridge Financing exceed $3,000,000 without the prior written consent of Parent
(which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).

Permitted Post-Measurement Date Financing means the Company s issuance in a single transaction or series of

transactions, in each case after the Company Net Cash Measurement Date of (a) shares of Company Common Stock,
(b) Company Warrants, and/or (c) convertible promissory notes, which promissory notes shall convert into either
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shares of (i) Company Common Stock prior to the Closing, or (ii) Parent Common Stock immediately after the
Closing. No securities issued in a Permitted Post-Measurement Date Financing shall be included in the calculation of
Company Outstanding Shares or deducted from the calculation of Company Merger Shares such that, for the
avoidance of doubt, any Permitted Post-Measurement Date Financing shall dilute the equityholders of Parent and the
Company pro rata based on the Parent Allocation Percentage and Company Allocation Percentage, respectively. The
terms
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of any Permitted Post-Measurement Date Financing shall be subject to the prior written consent of Parent (which

consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), and the aggregate proceeds thereof shall not
exceed $3,000,000 without the prior written consent of Parent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld,
conditioned or delayed).

Permitted Encumbrance means: (a) any liens for current Taxes not yet due and payable or for Taxes that are being
contested in good faith and for which adequate reserves have been made on the Company Unaudited Interim Balance
Sheet or the Parent Balance Sheet, as applicable; (b) minor liens that have arisen in the Ordinary Course of Business
and that do not (in any case or in the aggregate) materially detract from the value of the assets or properties subject
thereto or materially impair the operations of the Company or Parent, as applicable; (c) statutory liens to secure
obligations to landlords, lessors or renters under leases or rental agreements; (d) deposits or pledges made in
connection with, or to secure payment of, workers compensation, unemployment insurance or similar programs
mandated by Law; (e) non-exclusive licenses of Intellectual Property granted by the Company or Parent, as
applicable, in the Ordinary Course of Business and that do not (in any case or in the aggregate) materially detract from
the value of the Intellectual Property subject thereto; and (f) statutory liens in favor of carriers, warehousemen,
mechanics and materialmen, to secure claims for labor, materials or supplies.

Person means any individual, Entity or Governmental Body.

Personal Data means any information that relates to an identifiable natural person or that is otherwise considered
personally identifiable information or personal data under applicable Law.

Proxy Statement means the proxy statement to be sent to Parent s stockholders in connection with the Parent
Stockholders Meeting.

Registration Statement means the registration statement on Form S-4 (or any other applicable form under the
Securities Act to register Parent Common Stock) to be filed with the SEC by Parent registering the public offering and
sale of Parent Common Stock to some or all holders of Company Common Stock in the Merger, including all shares
of Parent Common Stock to be issued in exchange for all other shares of Company Common Stock in the Merger, as
said registration statement may be amended prior to the time it is declared effective by the SEC.

Representatives means directors, officers, employees, agents, attorneys, accountants, investment bankers, advisors
and representatives.

Sarbanes-Oxley Act means the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
SEC means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.
Securities Act means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Subsequent Transaction means any Acquisition Transaction (with all references to 20% in the definition of
Acquisition Transaction being treated as references to 50% for these purposes).

An entity shall be deemed to be a Subsidiary of a Person if such Person directly or indirectly owns or purports to own,
beneficially or of record, (a) an amount of voting securities or other interests in such entity that is sufficient to enable
such Person to elect at least a majority of the members of such entity s board of directors or other governing body, or

(b) at least 50% of the outstanding equity, voting, beneficial or financial interests in such Entity.
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Superior Offer means an unsolicited bona fide written Acquisition Proposal (with all references to 20% in the
definition of Acquisition Transaction being treated as references to greater than 50% for these purposes) that: (a) was
not obtained or made as a direct or indirect result of a breach of (or in violation of) this Agreement; and (b) is on terms
and conditions that the Parent Board or the Company Board, as applicable, determines in good faith, based on such
matters that it deems relevant (including the likelihood of consummation thereof), as well as any written offer by the
other Party to this Agreement to amend the terms of this Agreement, and following consultation with its outside legal
counsel and outside financial advisors, if any, are more favorable, from a financial point of view, to Parent s
stockholders or the Company s stockholders, as applicable, than the terms of the Contemplated Transactions.
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Takeover Statute means any fair price, moratorium, control share acquisition or other similar anti-takeover Law.

Tax means any federal, state, local, foreign or other tax, including any income, capital gain, gross receipts, capital
stock, profits, transfer, estimated, registration, stamp, premium, escheat, unclaimed property, customs duty, ad
valorem, occupancy, occupation, alternative, add-on, windfall profits, value added, severance, property, business,
production, sales, use, license, excise, franchise, employment, payroll, social security, disability, unemployment,
workers compensation, national health insurance, withholding or other taxes, duties, fees, assessments or
governmental charges, surtaxes or deficiencies thereof of any kind whatsoever, however denominated, and including
any fine, penalty, addition to tax or interest imposed by a Governmental Body with respect thereto.

Tax Return means any return (including any information return), report, statement, declaration, estimate, schedule,
notice, notification, form, election, certificate or other document, and any amendment or supplement to any of the
foregoing, filed with or submitted to, or required to be filed with or submitted to, any Governmental Body in
connection with the determination, assessment, collection or payment of any Tax or in connection with the
administration, implementation or enforcement of or compliance with any Law relating to any Tax.

Transaction Expenses means, with respect to any Person, the sum of (a) the cash cost of any change of control
payments, retention payments, severance payments, transaction payments or similar payments that are or become due
to any current or former employee, officer, director or independent contractor of such Person or any of its Subsidiaries
in connection with the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions and that are unpaid as of the Closing (plus the
employer portion of all employment, unemployment, payroll and similar Taxes payable thereon), but excluding for the
avoidance of doubt, the vesting, exercise and settlement, as applicable of Company Options, Parent Options and
Parent RSUs, (b) any costs, fees and expenses incurred by such Person or its Subsidiaries, or for which such Person or
its Subsidiaries is liable, in connection with the negotiation, preparation and execution of this Agreement and the
consummation of the Contemplated Transactions and that are unpaid as of the Closing, including brokerage fees and
commissions, finders fees or financial advisory fees, or any fees and expenses of counsel, accountants or other
advisors payable by such Person or its Subsidiaries, (c) any payments to third parties under any Contract to which
such Person or its Subsidiaries are a party triggered by the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions, or any
payment or consideration arising under or in relation to obtaining any consents, waivers or approvals of any third
party under any Contract to which such Person or its Subsidiaries are a party required to be obtained in connection
with the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions in order for any such Contract to remain in full force and
effect following the Closing or resulting from agreed-upon modification or early termination of any such Contract;
provided,

with respect to Parent, Transaction Expenses will include (A) the out of pocket costs of any

insurance tail policies that may be purchased by Parent relating to insurance policies held by it prior

to the Closing (including all premiums payable in connection therewith) and, for clarity, shall not
include the cost of any insurance tail policies of the Company or the costs of Parent after the

Effective Time for coverage of Parent’s then-serving directors or other insurance policies of Parent

on or after the Effective Time, (B) the amount of any unpaid Parent Contract Termination Payments

(regardless as to whether the underlying Parent Contract has been terminated prior to the Closing),

and (C) the amount of any Parent Severance Payments (regardless as to the whether the applicable

employee has been terminated or will be terminated in connection with the Contemplated

Transactions);

(i) with respect to the Company, Transaction Expenses will include the out of pocket costs of any
insurance tail policies that may be purchased by the Company relating to insurance policies held by
it prior to the Closing (including all premiums payable in connection therewith) and, for clarity,
shall not include the cost of any insurance tail policies of Parent or the costs of Parent after the
Effective Time for coverage of Parent’s then-serving directors or other insurance policies of Parent
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on or after the Effective Time;
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Parent and the Company shall share equally all out of pocket costs and expenses, other than
attorneys’, accountants’ and other similar service provider’s fees and expenses, incurred in relation to
(A) the filing with the SEC of the Form S-4 Registration Statement (including any financial
statements and exhibits) and any amendments or supplements thereto and any related registration
fees and the printing and delivery of such documents to the Parties’ stockholders; and (B) any fees
incurred in connection with obtaining Nasdaq approval for the merger, the name and ticker symbol
changes, and the listing of the shares of Parent Common Stock to be issued, to the extent
contemplated by this Agreement; and

in the case of the Company, Transaction Expenses shall include any Transaction Expenses for
which the Company is liable pursuant to the terms of this Agreement and which were paid by
Parent at or prior to Closing on behalf of the Company and not reimbursed by the Company at or
prior to Closing.

Treasury Regulations means the United States Treasury regulations promulgated under the Code.

(iii)

(iv)

(b) Each of the following terms is defined in the Section set forth opposite such term:

Term Section
Accounting Firm 5.22(e)
Agreement Preamble
Allocation Certificate 5.18(a)
Anti-Bribery Laws 2.23
Capitalization Date 3.6(a)
Certificate of Merger 1.3
Certifications 3.7(a)
Closing 1.3
Closing Date 1.3
Company Preamble
Company Audited Financial Statements 5.18(b)
Company Benefit Plan 2.17(a)
Company Board Recommendation 5.2(c)
Company Disclosure Schedule Section 2
Company Dispute Notice 5.22(d)
Company Financials 2.7(a)
Company Interim Financial Statements 5.18(b)
Company Material Contract 2.13(a)
Company Material Contracts 2.13(a)
Company Net Cash Response Date 5.22(b)
Company Permits 2.14(b)
Company Preferred Stock 2.6(a)
Company Products 2.14(d)
Company Real Estate Leases 2.11
Company Regulatory Permits 2.14(d)
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Company Stock Certificate

Company Stockholder Support Agreement
Company Stockholder Written Consent
Company Termination Fee

Continuing Employees

Costs

D&O Indemnified Parties

Dechert

Dissenting Shares

DLA
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1.6
Recitals
Recitals
9.3(b)
5.7(a)
5.8(a)
5.8(a)
5.1(a)
1.8(a)
5.1(a)
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Term

Drug Regulatory Agency
Effective Time

EMEA

End Date

Exchange Agent
Exchange Fund

FDA

FDCA

HIPAA

Intended Tax Treatment
Investor Agreements

IT Assets

Liability

Lock-Up Agreement
Merger

Merger Consideration
Merger Sub

NASDAAQ Listing Application
Parent

Parent Benefit Plan

Parent Board Adverse Recommendation Change

Parent Board Recommendation

Parent Budget

Parent Change in Circumstance Notice
Parent Designees

Parent Disclosure Schedule

Parent Dispute Notice

Parent IP Agreements

Parent IT Assets

Parent Lock-Up Agreement

Parent Material Contract

Parent Net Cash Response Date
Parent Notice Period

Parent Permits

Parent Real Estate Leases

Parent SEC Documents

Parent Stockholder Matters

Parent Stockholder Support Agreement
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2.14(a)
1.3
2.14(a)
9.1(b)
1.7(a)
1.7(a)
2.14(a)
2.14(a)
2.14(g)
5.12
2.22(b)
2.24(a)
2.9

7.7
Recitals
1.5(a)(ii)
Preamble
5.11
Preamble
3.15(a)
5.3(b)
5.3(b)
4.1(b)(vi)
5.3(d)
5.14
Section 3
5.22(b)
3.10(a)
3.25(a)
8.5
3.11(n)
5.22(d)
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Annex B

FORM OF CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT OF RESTATED
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION OF EDGE THERAPEUTICS, INC.

Edge Therapeutics, Inc., a corporation organized and existing under the General Corporation Law of the State of
Delaware (the _Corporation ),

DOES HEREBY CERTIFY:
FIRST: The name of Corporation is Edge Therapeutics, Inc.

SECOND: The Board of Directors of the Corporation, acting in accordance with the provisions of Sections 141 and
242 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, adopted resolutions amending its Restated Certificate of
Incorporation as follows:

Subsection (a) of ARTICLE IV — CAPITALIZATION shall be deleted and the following paragraph shall be inserted in
lieu thereof:!

Authorized Shares. The total number of shares of stock which the Corporation shall have authority to issue is
Eighty Million (80,000,000), consisting of Seventy Five Million (75,000,000) shares of Common Stock, par
(a) value $0.00033 per share (_Common Stock ), and Five Million (5,000,000) shares of Preferred Stock, par value
$0.00033 per share (_Preferred Stock ). Such stock may be issued from time to time by the Corporation for
such consideration as may be fixed by the board of directors of the Corporation (the _Board of Directors ).
Except as otherwise provided by law, the shares of stock of the Corporation, regardless of class, may be issued by the
Corporation from time to time in such amounts, for such consideration and for such corporate purposes as the Board
of Directors may from time to time determine.

Contingent and effective upon the filing of this Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Certificate of Incorporation

(the _Certificate of Amendment ) with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware (the Effective Time ),each[ ]
([ 1 shares of the Corporation s Common Stock, par value $0.00033 per share, issued and outstanding prior to the
Effective Time shall, automatically and without any action on the part of the respective holders thereof, be combined

and converted into one (1) share of Common Stock, par value $0.00033 per share, of the Corporation (the _Reverse

Split ). No fractional share shall be issued in connection with the foregoing combination of the shares pursuant to the
Reverse Split. The Corporation will pay in cash the fair value of such fractional shares, without interest and as

determined in good faith by the Board of Directors of the Corporation when those entitled to receive such fractional
shares are determined.

This amendment approves the reverse stock split of the Corporation’s common stock, at a ratio in the range of
5-for-1 and 10-for-1. By approving this amendment, the stockholders of the Corporation would be deemed to
approve any ratios within the range referred to above, as mutually agreed by the Corporation and PDS
Biotechnology Company. If the stock issuance proposal is not approved by the Corporation’s stockholders, the
Corporation’s board of directors may solely determine the reverse stock split ratio, within the range of 5-for-1 and
10-for-1, following the special meeting.

B-1
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Annex C

AMENDED AND RESTATED
EDGE THERAPEUTICS, INC.
2014 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN
To be filed by amendment.

C-1
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Annex D

345 Park Ave, New York, NY 10154
Tel: (212) 284-9300
Piper Jaffray & Co. Since 1895. Member
SIPC and NYSE.

November 23, 2018

Board of Directors

Edge Therapeutics, Inc.

300 Connell Drive, Suite 4000
Berkeley Heights, NJ 07922

Members of the Board:

You have requested our opinion as to the fairness, from a financial point of view, to Edge Therapeutics, Inc. (the
Company ) of the Exchange Ratio (as defined below) provided for under the terms of the proposed Agreement and

Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated as of November 23, 2018 (the Agreement ), to be entered into among the

Company, Echos Merger Sub, Inc. ( Merger Sub ), a newly formed wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and PDS

Biotechnology Corporation ( PDS ). The Agreement provides for, among other things, the merger (the Merger ) of the

Merger Sub with and into PDS, pursuant to which each share of common stock of PDS Biotechnology Corporation

( PDS ), par value $0.00001 per share ( PDS Common Stock ), outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (as

defined in the Agreement), other than shares of PDS Common Stock held in treasury or owned by the Company or

Merger Sub and shares of PDS Common Stock held by stockholders who have exercised and perfected appraisal

rights for such shares, shall be automatically converted solely into the right to receive a to be determined number of

shares of common stock of the Company, par value $0.00033 per share ( Company Common Stock ), determined upon

consummation of the Merger, based upon the Exchange Ratio (as such term is defined in the Agreement), subject to

adjustment on the terms set forth in the Agreement, including adjustment for any potential dilution related to shares of

Company Common Stock issuable upon conversion or exercise of any convertible promissory notes that might be

issued by PDS prior to the consummation of the Merger pursuant to any bridge financing permitted pursuant to the

Agreement (as to which adjustments we express no opinion), but excluding adjustment for any potential dilution

related to shares of Company Common Stock issuable upon conversion or exercise of any securities that might be

issued by PDS prior to the consummation of the Merger pursuant to a permitted financing occurring after February 28,

2019. The terms and conditions of the Merger are more fully set forth in the Agreement.

In connection with our review of the Merger, and in arriving at our opinion, we have: (i) reviewed and analyzed the
financial terms of a draft of the Agreement dated November 23, 2018; (ii) reviewed and analyzed certain financial and
other data with respect to the Company and PDS which was publicly available; (iii) reviewed and analyzed certain
information, including financial forecasts, relating to the estimated cash usage of each of the Company and PDS, on
stand-alone bases, that were furnished to us by the Company and PDS; (iv) conducted discussions with members of
senior management and representatives of each of the Company and PDS concerning the matters described in clauses
(i1) and (iii) above, as well as the business and prospects of the Company before and after giving effect to the Merger;
(v) reviewed the current and historical reported prices and trading activity of the Company; (vi) compared the business
profile of PDS with that of certain publicly traded companies that we deemed relevant; and (vii) reviewed the
valuations of certain companies implied by the pricing of such companies initial public offerings that we deemed
relevant. In addition, we have conducted such other analyses, examinations and inquiries and considered such other
financial, economic and market criteria as we have deemed necessary in arriving at our opinion.
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We have relied upon and assumed, without assuming liability or responsibility for independent verification, the
accuracy and completeness of all information that was publicly available or was furnished, or otherwise made
available, to us or discussed with or reviewed by us. We have further relied upon the assurances of the management of
the Company that the financial information provided has been prepared on a reasonable basis in accordance with
industry practice, and that they are not aware of any information or facts that would make any information provided to
us incomplete or misleading. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, for the purpose of this opinion, we have
assumed that with respect to financial forecasts reviewed by us, that such forecasts have been reasonably prepared
based on assumptions reflecting the best currently available estimates and judgments of the managements of each of
the Company and PDS as to the expected future cash usages of
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each of the Company and PDS. We express no opinion as to any such financial forecasts, estimates or
forward-looking information or the assumptions on which they were based. In particular, our opinion and the
underlying analyses relating thereto are based upon the estimated respective amounts of Parent Net Cash and
Company Net Cash (in each case, as defined in the Agreement) as of the consummation of the Merger, as provided to
us by the respective managements of the Company and PDS. We have relied, with your consent, on advice of the
outside counsel and the independent accountants to the Company, and on the assumptions of the management of the
Company as to all accounting, legal, tax and financial reporting matters with respect to the Company, PDS and the
Agreement.

In arriving at our opinion, we have assumed that the executed Agreement will be in all material respects identical to
the last draft reviewed by us. We have relied upon and assumed, without independent verification, that (i) the
representations and warranties of all parties to the Agreement and all other related documents and instruments that are
referred to therein are true and correct, consistent with any standards set forth therein; (ii) each party to such
agreements will fully and timely perform all of the covenants and agreements required to be performed by such party;
(iii) the Merger will be consummated pursuant to the terms of the Agreement without amendments thereto; and (iv) all
conditions to the consummation of the Merger will be satisfied without waiver by any party of any conditions or
obligations thereunder. Additionally, we have assumed that all the necessary regulatory approvals and consents
required for the Merger will be obtained in a manner that will not adversely affect the Company, PDS or the
contemplated benefits of the Merger.

In arriving at our opinion, we have not performed any appraisals or valuations of any specific assets or liabilities
(fixed, contingent or other) of the Company or PDS, and have not been furnished or provided with any such appraisals
or valuations, nor have we evaluated the solvency of the Company or PDS under any state or federal law relating to
bankruptcy, insolvency or similar matters. The analyses performed by us with respect to PDS in connection with this
opinion were going concern analyses. We express no opinion regarding the liquidation value of the Company, PDS or
any other entity. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, we have undertaken no independent analysis of any
pending or threatened litigation, regulatory action, possible unasserted claims or other contingent liabilities, to which
the Company, PDS or any of their affiliates is a party or may be subject, and at the direction of the Company and with
its consent, our opinion makes no assumption concerning, and therefore does not consider, the possible assertion of
claims, outcomes or damages arising out of any such matters. We have also assumed that neither the Company nor
PDS is party to (or contemplates becoming party to) any material pending transaction, including without limitation
any financing, recapitalization, acquisition or merger, divestiture or spin-off, other than (i) the Merger; (ii) the reverse
stock split of Company Common Stock contemplated by the Agreement; and (iii) a possible permitted financing
contemplated by the Agreement.

No company or transaction used in any analysis for purposes of comparison is identical to the Company or PDS.
Accordingly, an analysis of the results of the comparisons is not mathematical; rather, it involves complex
considerations and judgments about differences in the companies and transactions to which PDS was compared and
other factors that could affect the public trading value or transaction value of the companies.

This opinion is necessarily based upon the information available to us and facts and circumstances as they exist and
are subject to evaluation on the date hereof; events occurring after the date hereof could materially affect the
assumptions used in preparing this opinion. We are not expressing any opinion herein as to the price at which shares
of Company Common Stock may trade following announcement of the Merger or at any future time. We have not
undertaken to reaffirm or revise this opinion or otherwise comment upon any events occurring after the date hereof
and do not have any obligation to update, revise or reaffirm this opinion.

In connection with our review of the Merger, and in arriving at our opinion, we have solicited expressions of interest
from other parties with respect to a business combination with the Company or any other alternative transactions.

214



Edgar Filing: - Form

We have been engaged by the Board of Directors of the Company (the Board ) to act as the Board s financial advisor in
connection with the Merger and we will receive a fee from the Company for providing our services, a significant

portion of which is contingent upon the consummation of the Merger. We will also receive a fee for rendering this
opinion, which will be credited against the fee for financial advisory services. Our opinion fee is not contingent upon

the consummation of the Merger or the conclusions reached in our opinion. The Company has also agreed to

indemnify us against certain liabilities and reimburse us for certain expenses in
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connection with our services. We have, in the past, acted as one of several underwriters of equity offerings completed
by portfolio companies of New Leaf Venture Partners, a significant shareholder of the Company and an entity in
which a member of the Company s Board is a partner, for which we received fees. In addition, in the ordinary course
of our business, we and our affiliates may actively trade securities of the Company for our own account or the account
of our customers and, accordingly, may at any time hold a long or short position in such securities. We may also, in
the future, provide investment banking and financial advisory services to the Company, PDS or entities that are
affiliated with the Company or PDS, for which we would expect to receive compensation.

This opinion is provided to the Board in connection with its consideration of the Merger and is not intended to be and
does not constitute a recommendation to any stockholder of the Company as to how such stockholder should act or
vote with respect to the Merger or any other matter. Except with respect to the use of this opinion in connection with
the proxy statement relating to the Merger in accordance with our engagement letter with the Company, this opinion
shall not be disclosed, referred to, published or otherwise used (in whole or in part), nor shall any public references to
us be made, without our prior written approval. This opinion has been approved for issuance by the Piper Jaffray
Opinion Committee.

This opinion addresses solely the fairness, from a financial point of view, to the Company of the proposed Exchange
Ratio and does not address any other terms or agreement relating to the Merger or any other terms of the Agreement.
We were not requested to opine as to, and this opinion does not address: (i) the basic business decision to proceed
with or effect the Merger; (ii) the merits of the Merger relative to any alternative transaction or business strategy that
may be available to the Company; (iii) any other terms contemplated by the Agreement; or (iv) the solvency or
financial viability of the Company or PDS at the date hereof, upon consummation of the Merger, or at any other future
time. Furthermore, we express no opinion with respect to the amount or nature of compensation to be paid in the
Merger to any officer, director or employee of any party to the Merger, or any class of such persons, relative to the
Exchange Ratio or with respect to the fairness of any such compensation.

Based upon and subject to the foregoing and based upon such other factors as we consider relevant, it is our opinion
that the Exchange Ratio is fair, from a financial point of view, to the Company as of the date hereof.

Sincerely,

PIPER JAFFRAY & CO.

D-3
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Annex E

SECTION 262 OF THE DELAWARE GENERAL CORPORATION LAW

§ 262 Appraisal rights.

(a)

(b)

Any stockholder of a corporation of this State who holds shares of stock on the date of the making of a demand
pursuant to subsection (d) of this section with respect to such shares, who continuously holds such shares through
the effective date of the merger or consolidation, who has otherwise complied with subsection (d) of this section
and who has neither voted in favor of the merger or consolidation nor consented thereto in writing pursuant to
§228 of this title shall be entitled to an appraisal by the Court of Chancery of the fair value of the stockholder’s
shares of stock under the circumstances described in subsections (b) and (c) of this section. As used in this
section, the word stockholder means a holder of record of stock in a corporation; the words stock and share
and include what is ordinarily meant by those words; and the words depository receipt mean a receipt or other
instrument issued by a depository representing an interest in 1 or more shares, or fractions thereof, solely of stock
of a corporation, which stock is deposited with the depository.
Appraisal rights shall be available for the shares of any class or series of stock of a constituent corporation in a
merger or consolidation to be effected pursuant to §251 (other than a merger effected pursuant to §251(g) of this
title! and, subject to paragraph (b)(3) of this section, § 251(h) of this title), §252, §254, §255, §256, §257, §258,
§263 or §264 of this title:

Provided, however, that, except as expressly provided in §363(b) of this title, no appraisal rights under this

section shall be available for the shares of any class or series of stock, which stock, or depository receipts in

respect thereof, at the record date fixed to determine the stockholders entitled to receive notice of the meeting

of stockholders to act upon the agreement of merger or consolidation (or, in the case of a merger pursuant to
(1) §251(h), as of immediately prior to the execution of the agreement of merger), were either: (i) listed on a
national securities exchange or (ii) held of record by more than 2,000 holders; and further provided that no
appraisal rights shall be available for any shares of stock of the constituent corporation surviving a merger if
the merger did not require for its approval the vote of the stockholders of the surviving corporation as
provided in §251(f) of this title.
Notwithstanding paragraph (b)(1) of this section, appraisal rights under this section shall be available for the
shares of any class or series of stock of a constituent corporation if the holders thereof are required by the
terms of an agreement of merger or consolidation pursuant to §§251, 252, 254, 255, 256, 257, 258, 263 and
264 of this title to accept for such stock anything except:

Shares of stock of the corporation surviving or resulting from such merger or consolidation, or

2

& depository receipts in respect thereof;
Shares of stock of any other corporation, or depository receipts in respect thereof, which shares of stock
b (or depository receipts in respect thereof) or depository receipts at the effective date of the merger or
" consolidation will be either listed on a national securities exchange or held of record by more than 2,000
holders;
. Cash in lieu of fractional shares or fractional depository receipts described in the foregoing paragraphs
" (b)(2)a. and b. of this section; or
d Any combination of the shares of stock, depository receipts and cash in lieu of fractional shares or

fractional depository receipts described in the foregoing paragraphs (b)(2)a., b. and c. of this section.
In the event all of the stock of a subsidiary Delaware corporation party to a merger effected under? §251(h),
(3) §253 or §267 of this title is not owned by the parent immediately prior to the merger, appraisal rights shall be
available for the shares of the subsidiary Delaware corporation.
In the event of an amendment to a corporation’s certificate of incorporation contemplated by §363(a) of this

“) title, appraisal rights shall be available as contemplated by §363(b) of this title, and the procedures
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of this section, including those set forth in subsections (d) and (e) of this section, shall apply as nearly as practicable,
with the word amendment substituted for the words merger or consolidation, and the word corporation substituted for
the words constituent corporation and/or surviving or resulting corporation.

(©)

Any corporation may provide in its certificate of incorporation that appraisal rights under this section shall be
available for the shares of any class or series of its stock as a result of an amendment to its certificate of
incorporation, any merger or consolidation in which the corporation is a constituent corporation or the sale of all
or substantially all of the assets of the corporation. If the certificate of incorporation contains such a provision, the
provisions of this section, including those set forth in subsections (d), (e), and (g) of this section, shall apply as
nearly as is practicable.
(d) Appraisal rights shall be perfected as follows:
If a proposed merger or consolidation for which appraisal rights are provided under this section is to be
submitted for approval at a meeting of stockholders, the corporation, not less than 20 days prior to the
meeting, shall notify each of its stockholders who was such on the record date for notice of such meeting (or
such members who received notice in accordance with §255(c) of this title) with respect to shares for which
appraisal rights are available pursuant to subsection (b) or (c) of this section that appraisal rights are available
for any or all of the shares of the constituent corporations, and shall include in such notice a copy of this
section and, if 1 of the constituent corporations is a nonstock corporation, a copy of §114 of this title. Each
stockholder electing to demand the appraisal of such stockholder’s shares shall deliver to the corporation,

(1) before the taking of the vote on the merger or consolidation, a written demand for appraisal of such
stockholder’s shares. Such demand will be sufficient if it reasonably informs the corporation of the identity of
the stockholder and that the stockholder intends thereby to demand the appraisal of such stockholder’s shares.
A proxy or vote against the merger or consolidation shall not constitute such a demand. A stockholder
electing to take such action must do so by a separate written demand as herein provided. Within 10 days after
the effective date of such merger or consolidation, the surviving or resulting corporation shall notify each
stockholder of each constituent corporation who has complied with this subsection and has not voted in favor
of or consented to the merger or consolidation of the date that the merger or consolidation has become
effective; or

(2) If the merger or consolidation was approved pursuant to §228, §251(h), §253, or §267 of this title, then either
a constituent corporation before the effective date of the merger or consolidation or the surviving or resulting
corporation within 10 days thereafter shall notify each of the holders of any class or series of stock of such
constituent corporation who are entitled to appraisal rights of the approval of the merger or consolidation and
that appraisal rights are available for any or all shares of such class or series of stock of such constituent
corporation, and shall include in such notice a copy of this section and, if 1 of the constituent corporations is
a nonstock corporation, a copy of §114 of this title. Such notice may, and, if given on or after the effective
date of the merger or consolidation, shall, also notify such stockholders of the effective date of the merger or
consolidation. Any stockholder entitled to appraisal rights may, within 20 days after the date of mailing of
such notice or, in the case of a merger approved pursuant to §251(h) of this title, within the later of the
consummation of the offer contemplated by §251(h) of this title and 20 days after the date of mailing of such
notice, demand in writing from the surviving or resulting corporation the appraisal of such holder’s shares.
Such demand will be sufficient if it reasonably informs the corporation of the identity of the stockholder and
that the stockholder intends thereby to demand the appraisal of such holder’s shares. If such notice did not
notify stockholders of the effective date of the merger or consolidation, either (i) each such constituent
corporation shall send a second notice before the effective date of the merger or consolidation notifying each
of the holders of any class or series of stock of such constituent corporation that are entitled to appraisal
rights of the effective date of the merger or consolidation or (ii) the surviving or resulting corporation shall
send such a second notice to all such holders on or within 10 days after such effective date; provided,
however, that if such second notice is sent more than 20 days following the sending of the first notice or, in
the case of a merger approved pursuant to §251(h) of this title, later than the later of the consummation of the
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offer contemplated by §251(h) of this title and 20 days following the sending of the first notice, such second
notice need only be sent to each stockholder who is entitled to
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appraisal rights and who has demanded appraisal of such holder s shares in accordance with this subsection. An
affidavit of the secretary or assistant secretary or of the transfer agent of the corporation that is required to give either
notice that such notice has been given shall, in the absence of fraud, be prima facie evidence of the facts stated therein.
For purposes of determining the stockholders entitled to receive either notice, each constituent corporation may fix, in
advance, a record date that shall be not more than 10 days prior to the date the notice is given, provided, that if the
notice is given on or after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, the record date shall be such effective date.
If no record date is fixed and the notice is given prior to the effective date, the record date shall be the close of
business on the day next preceding the day on which the notice is given.

®

(2)

Within 120 days after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, the surviving or resulting

corporation or any stockholder who has complied with subsections (a) and (d) of this section hereof

and who is otherwise entitled to appraisal rights, may commence an appraisal proceeding by filing a

petition in the Court of Chancery demanding a determination of the value of the stock of all such

stockholders. Notwithstanding the foregoing, at any time within 60 days after the effective date of the

merger or consolidation, any stockholder who has not commenced an appraisal proceeding or joined

that proceeding as a named party shall have the right to withdraw such stockholder’s demand for

appraisal and to accept the terms offered upon the merger or consolidation. Within 120 days after the

effective date of the merger or consolidation, any stockholder who has complied with the

requirements of subsections (a) and (d) of this section hereof, upon written request, shall be entitled to

receive from the corporation surviving the merger or resulting from the consolidation a statement

(e) setting forth the aggregate number of shares not voted in favor of the merger or consolidation 3 and

(or, in the case of a merger approved pursuant to § 251(h) of this title, the aggregate number of

shares (other than any excluded stock (as defined in §251(h)(6)d. of this title)) that were the subject

of, and were not tendered into, and accepted for purchase or exchange in, the offer referred to in

§251(h)(2)), and, in either case, with respect to which demands for appraisal have been received and

the aggregate number of holders of such shares. Such written statement shall be mailed to the

stockholder within 10 days after such stockholder’s written request for such a statement is received by

the surviving or resulting corporation or within 10 days after expiration of the period for delivery of

demands for appraisal under subsection (d) of this section hereof, whichever is later. Notwithstanding

subsection (a) of this section, a person who is the beneficial owner of shares of such stock held either

in a voting trust or by a nominee on behalf of such person may, in such person’s own name, file a

petition or request from the corporation the statement described in this subsection.
Upon the filing of any such petition by a stockholder, service of a copy thereof shall be made upon the surviving
or resulting corporation, which shall within 20 days after such service file in the office of the Register in
Chancery in which the petition was filed a duly verified list containing the names and addresses of all
stockholders who have demanded payment for their shares and with whom agreements as to the value of their
shares have not been reached by the surviving or resulting corporation. If the petition shall be filed by the
surviving or resulting corporation, the petition shall be accompanied by such a duly verified list. The Register in
Chancery, if so ordered by the Court, shall give notice of the time and place fixed for the hearing of such petition
by registered or certified mail to the surviving or resulting corporation and to the stockholders shown on the list at
the addresses therein stated. Such notice shall also be given by 1 or more publications at least 1 week before the
day of the hearing, in a newspaper of general circulation published in the City of Wilmington, Delaware or such
publication as the Court deems advisable. The forms of the notices by mail and by publication shall be approved
by the Court, and the costs thereof shall be borne by the surviving or resulting corporation.
At the hearing on such petition, the Court shall determine the stockholders who have complied with this section
and who have become entitled to appraisal rights. The Court may require the stockholders who have demanded an
appraisal for their shares and who hold stock represented by certificates to submit their certificates of stock to the
Register in Chancery for notation thereon of the pendency of the appraisal proceedings; and if any stockholder
fails to comply with such direction, the Court may dismiss the proceedings as to such stockholder. If immediately
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before the merger or consolidation the shares of the class or series of stock of the constituent corporation as to
which appraisal rights are available were listed on a national securities exchange, the Court shall dismiss the
proceedings as to all holders of such shares who are otherwise entitled to appraisal rights unless (1) the total
number of shares entitled to appraisal exceeds 1%
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of the outstanding shares of the class or series eligible for appraisal, (2) the value of the consideration provided in the
merger or consolidation for such total number of shares exceeds $1 million, or (3) the merger was approved pursuant
to §253 or §267 of this title.

(h)

@

&)

After the Court determines the stockholders entitled to an appraisal, the appraisal proceeding shall be conducted
in accordance with the rules of the Court of Chancery, including any rules specifically governing appraisal
proceedings. Through such proceeding the Court shall determine the fair value of the shares exclusive of any
element of value arising from the accomplishment or expectation of the merger or consolidation, together with
interest, if any, to be paid upon the amount determined to be the fair value. In determining such fair value, the
Court shall take into account all relevant factors. Unless the Court in its discretion determines otherwise for good
cause shown, and except as provided in this subsection, interest from the effective date of the merger through the
date of payment of the judgment shall be compounded quarterly and shall accrue at 5% over the Federal Reserve
discount rate (including any surcharge) as established from time to time during the period between the effective
date of the merger and the date of payment of the judgment. At any time before the entry of judgment in the
proceedings, the surviving corporation may pay to each stockholder entitled to appraisal an amount in cash, in
which case interest shall accrue thereafter as provided herein only upon the sum of (1) the difference, if any,
between the amount so paid and the fair value of the shares as determined by the Court, and (2) interest
theretofore accrued, unless paid at that time. Upon application by the surviving or resulting corporation or by any
stockholder entitled to participate in the appraisal proceeding, the Court may, in its discretion, proceed to trial
upon the appraisal prior to the final determination of the stockholders entitled to an appraisal. Any stockholder
whose name appears on the list filed by the surviving or resulting corporation pursuant to subsection (f) of this
section and who has submitted such stockholder’s certificates of stock to the Register in Chancery, if such is
required, may participate fully in all proceedings until it is finally determined that such stockholder is not entitled
to appraisal rights under this section.

The Court shall direct the payment of the fair value of the shares, together with interest, if any, by the
surviving or resulting corporation to the stockholders entitled thereto. Payment shall be so made to each
such stockholder, in the case of holders of uncertificated stock forthwith, and the case of holders of

shares represented by certificates upon the surrender to the corporation of the certificates representing

such stock. The Court’s decree may be enforced as other decrees in the Court of Chancery may be
enforced, whether such surviving or resulting corporation be a corporation of this State or of any state.

The costs of the proceeding may be determined by the Court and taxed upon the parties as the Court deems
equitable in the circumstances. Upon application of a stockholder, the Court may order all or a portion of the
expenses incurred by any stockholder in connection with the appraisal proceeding, including, without limitation,
reasonable attorney’s fees and the fees and expenses of experts, to be charged pro rata against the value of all the
shares entitled to an appraisal.

From and after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, no stockholder who has demanded appraisal
rights as provided in subsection (d) of this section shall be entitled to vote such stock for any purpose or to
receive payment of dividends or other distributions on the stock (except dividends or other distributions payable
to stockholders of record at a date which is prior to the effective date of the merger or consolidation); provided,
however, that if no petition for an appraisal shall be filed within the time provided in subsection (e) of this
section, or if such stockholder shall deliver to the surviving or resulting corporation a written withdrawal of such
stockholder’s demand for an appraisal and an acceptance of the merger or consolidation, either within 60 days
after the effective date of the merger or consolidation as provided in subsection (e) of this section or thereafter
with the written approval of the corporation, then the right of such stockholder to an appraisal shall cease.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, no appraisal proceeding in the Court of Chancery shall be dismissed as to any
stockholder without the approval of the Court, and such approval may be conditioned upon such terms as the
Court deems just; provided, however that this provision shall not affect the right of any stockholder who has not
commenced an appraisal proceeding or joined that proceeding as a named party to withdraw such stockholder’s
demand for appraisal and to accept the terms offered upon the merger or consolidation within 60 days after the

)
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effective date of the merger or consolidation, as set forth in subsection (e) of this section.

The shares of the surviving or resulting corporation to which the shares of such objecting stockholders would
have been converted had they assented to the merger or consolidation shall have the status of authorized and
unissued shares of the surviving or resulting corporation.
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PART II

INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN
PROXY STATEMENT/PROSPECTUS/INFORMATION STATEMENT

Item 20. Indemnification of Directors and Officers
As permitted by the DGCL, Edge s certificate of incorporation eliminates the liability of directors to Edge or its
stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except to the extent otherwise required
by the DGCL.

The certificate of incorporation further provides that Edge will indemnify any person who is or was made a party to
any proceeding by reason of the fact that such person is or was a director or officer of Edge against expenses,
judgments, fines, penalties, and amounts paid in settlement incurred in connection therewith to the fullest extent
authorized by the DGCL. Edge s bylaws provide for a similar indemnity to directors and officers of Edge to the fullest
extent authorized by the DGCL.

Edge s bylaws authorize the Edge Board to enter into indemnification contracts with each of its officers and directors.
Edge has entered into indemnification contracts with each of its directors and executive officers. The indemnification
contracts provide for the indemnification of directors and officers against all expenses, liability, and loss actually
reasonably incurred to the fullest extent permitted by Edge s certificate of incorporation, bylaws, and applicable law.

Edge s bylaws also authorize Edge to maintain insurance to protect any director or officer against any expense,
liability, or loss, whether or not Edge would have the power to indemnify such person against such expense, liability,

or loss under the DGCL.
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Item 21. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) Exhibit Index
A list of exhibits filed with this registration statement on Form S-4 is set forth on the Exhibit Index and is incorporated
herein by reference.

Filed/
Exhibit Incorporated Furnished
Number Description by Reference Herewith
Form File No. Filing Date
2.1++ Agreement and Plan of Merger and X
Reorganization, dated November 23, 2018,
by and among Edge Therapeutics, Inc., PDS
Biotechnology Corporation and Echos
Merger Sub., Inc. (included as Annex A to
the proxy statement/prospectus/information
statement forming a part of this registration
statement).
2.2 Form of Support Agreement, by and among, 8-K 001-37568  November 23,
Edge Therapeutics, Inc., PDS 181199943 2018
Biotechnology Corporation and certain of
PDS Biotechnology Corporation’s directors,
officers and stockholders.
2.3 Form of Support Agreement, by and among, 8-K 001-37568 November 23,
Edge Therapeutics Inc., PDS Biotechnology 181199943 2018
Corporation and certain of Edge
Therapeutics, Inc.’s directors and officers.
3.1 Eighth Amended and Restated Certificate of 8-K 001-37568 October 6, 2015
Incorporation of Edge Therapeutics, Inc. 151146360
3.2 Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of  8-K 001-37568 October 6, 2015
Edge Therapeutics. 151146360
4.1 Form of Certificate of Common Stock S-1 333-206416  September 21,

151116712 2015

4.4 Warrant Agreement, dated as of August 28, S-1 333-206416  August 14, 2015
2014, by and between Parent and Hercules 151057040
Technology Growth Capital, Inc.

4.5 Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated as of S-1 333-206416  August 14, 2015
April 6, 2015, by and among the Company 151057040
and the Investors named therein.
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1472091/000156761915001328/s000911x12_ex3-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1472091/000156761915001328/s000911x12_ex3-2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1472091/000156761915001209/s000911x5_ex4-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1472091/000156761915001095/s000911x3_ex4-4.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1472091/000156761915001095/s000911x3_ex4-8.htm
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5.1*¥*%*  Opinion of Dechert LLP

8.1*%**  Opinion of Dechert LLP regarding tax
matters
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Exhibit
Number

Incorporated

Description by Reference

Form

8.2%**  Opinion of DLA Piper LLP regarding tax

matters

—
—
*

Licensing Agreement by and between S-1
Evonik Corporation (as successor in interest

to SurModics Pharmaceuticals, Inc.) and

Edge Therapeutics, Inc., dated as of October

20, 2010.

—

2% Amendment No. 1 to the License S-1/A
Agreement, effective as of September 21,
2015, by and between Edge Therapeutics,

Inc.and Evonik Corporation

Amended and Restated Master Formulation 10-Q
Development Agreement, by and between

Edge Therapeutics, Inc. and Oakwood
Laboratories LLC, dated as of June 30,

2017.

Manufacturing and Supply Agreement, by
and between Edge Therapeutics, Inc. and
Oakwood Laboratories LLC., dated as of
June 20, 2017

10-Q

Edge Therapeutics 2010 Equity Incentive ~ S-1/A

Plan, and forms of agreement thereunder.

Amendment to the Edge Therapeutics, Inc.  S-1

2010 Incentive Plan, dated June 30, 2014

Edge Therapeutics, Inc. 2012 Equity S-1/A
Incentive Plan and forms of agreement

thereunder.

Edge Therapeutics, Inc. 2014 Equity S-1/A
Incentive Plan and forms of agreement

thereunder.

—_
Nel

File No.

333-206416
151057040

333-206416
151116712

001-37568
17996856

001-37568
17996856

333-206416
151116712

333-206416
151057040

333-206416
151116712

333-206416
151116712

Filed/
Furnished
Herewith

Filing Date

August 14, 2015

September 21,
2015

August 1, 2017

August 1, 2017

September 21,
2015

August 14, 2015

September 21,
2015

September 21,
2015
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1472091/000114036117029588/ex10_1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1472091/000114036117029588/ex10_2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1472091/000156761915001209/s000911x5_ex10-2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1472091/000156761915001095/s000911x3_ex10-11.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1472091/000156761915001209/s000911x5_ex10-3.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1472091/000156761915001209/s000911x5_ex10-4.htm
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Form of Amendment to Edge Therapeutics,
Inc. 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (included as
Annex C to the proxy
statement/prospectus/information statement
forming a part of this registration
statement).
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Exhibit Incorporated
Number Description by Reference
Form
10.10+ Second Amended and Restated Executive  S-1
Employment Agreement by and between
Brian A. Leuthner and Edge Therapeutics,
Inc., dated as of June 10, 2015.
10.11+ Amended and Restated Executive S-1
Employment Agreement by and between
Herbert J. Faleck and Edge Therapeutics,
Inc., dated as of August 11, 2015.
10.12+ Executive Employment Agreement by and 8-K
between W. Bradford Middlekauff and
Edge Therapeutics, Inc., dated as of October
30, 2015.
10.13+ Employment Agreement by and between 10-K

Alyssa Wyant and Edge Therapeutics, Inc.,
dated as of February 21, 2017.

Executive Employment Agreement by and 8-K
between Andrew Saik and Edge
Therapeutics, Inc., dated as of October 31,

2017.

10.15 Form of Indemnification Agreement for S-1
officers and directors.

10.16 Form of Executive Stock Option Agreement 10-K
of Edge Therapeutics, Inc.

10.17 Form of Employee Stock Option Agreement 10-K
of Edge Therapeutics, Inc.

10.18 Lease dated February 8, 2016, between The 10-Q
Connell Company and Edge Therapeutics,
Inc.

10.19 Employment Agreement, dated October 11,

2018, by and between PDS Biotechnology
Corporation and Frank K. Bedu-Addo.

Filed/
Furnished
Herewith
File No. Filing Date

333-206416  August 14, 2015

151057040

333-206416  August 14, 2015

151057040

001-37568 November 5,

151200568 2015

001-37568 March 1, 2018

18657280

001-37568 November 1,

171169135 2017

333-206416 August 14, 2015
151057040

001-37568
17658881

March 2, 2017

001-37568
17658881

March 2, 2017

001-37568
161615569

May 3, 2016
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1472091/000156761915001095/s000911x3_ex10-13.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1472091/000156761915001461/s001093x1_ex10-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1472091/000114036117010287/ex10_15.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1472091/000156761917002282/s001942x1_ex10-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1472091/000156761915001095/s000911x3_ex10-9.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1472091/000114036117010287/ex10_17.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1472091/000114036117010287/ex10_18.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1472091/000114036116063034/ex10_1.htm
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Consulting Services Agreement, dated
December 15, 2014, by and between PDS
Biotechnology Corporation and Gregory
Freitag.

Consulting Services Agreement, dated
December 15, 2014, by and between PDS
Biotechnology Corporation and DeLyle
Bloomquist.
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Exhibit Incorporated

Number Description by Reference
Form

10.22 Offer Letter, dated September 21, 2018, by

and between PDS Biotechnology
Corporation and Lauren Wood, MD.

Consulting Services Agreement, dated
March 26, 2015, by and between PDS
Biotechnology Corporation and Gregory
Conn.

Clinical Trial Collaboration and Supply
Agreement, dated May 19, 2017, by and
between PDS Biotechnology Corporation
and MSD International GmbH.

Patent License Agreement, dated January 5,
2015, by and between PDS Biotechnology
Corporation and National Institutes of
Health, as amended by First Amendment,
dated August 5, 2015.

Cost Reimbursement Agreement, dated
November 1, 2015, by and between PDS
Biotechnology Corporation and University
of Kentucky Research Foundation

Cost Reimbursement Agreement, dated
November 1, 2015, by and between PDS
Biotechnology Corporation and University
of Kentucky Research Foundation

Consent of KPMG LLP, independent
registered accountant for Edge Therapeutics,
Inc.

Consent of Haynie and Company,
independent auditor for PDS Biotechnology
Corporation

Consent of Dechert LLP (included in
Exhibit 5.1 hereto)

File No.

Filing Date

Filed/
Furnished
Herewith

X
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Consent of Dechert LLP (included in
Exhibit 8.1 hereto)

Consent of DLA Piper LLP (included in
Exhibit 8.2 hereto)

Power of Attorney (included on the
signature page hereto)
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Exhibit Incorporated
Number Description by Reference
Form
99.1 Form of Edge Therapeutics, Inc. Proxy Card
99.2 Opinion of Piper Jaffray & Co. (included as
Annex D to the proxy
statement/prospectus/information statement
forming a part of this registration statement).
99.3 Consent of Piper Jaffray & Co.
99.4 Form of Certificate of Amendment to the
Eighth Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation of Edge Therapeutics, Inc.
(included as Annex B to the proxy
statement/prospectus/information statement
forming a part of this registration statement).
99.5*** Consent of Sir Richard Sykes to be named as
director.
99.6%** Consent of DeLyle W. Bloomquist to be
named as director.
99.7***  Consent of Gregory Freitag to be named as
director.
99.8*** Consent of Frank Bedu-Addo, Ph.D., to be

named as director.

Filed/
Furnished
Herewith

File No. Filing Date

+ Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.
The schedules and exhibits to the Merger Agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation
++ S-K. A copy of any omitted schedule and/or exhibit will be furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission
upon request

*** To be filed by amendment.
(b) Financial Statements

Confidential Treatment has been granted with respect to certain portions of this Exhibit. Omitted portions have
been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Confidential Treatment has been requested with respect to certain portions of this Exhibit. Omitted portions have
been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

The financial statements filed with this registration statement on Form S-4 are set forth on the Financial Statement
Index and is incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 22. Undertakings
(a) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes

To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this
registration statement:
(i) To include any prospectus required by section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933;

To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of this registration

statement (or the most recent post-effective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate,

represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in this registration statement.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total
(i1) dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was registered) and any deviation from
the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in the form of prospectus
filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume and price
represent no more than 20% change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the Calculation
of Registration Fee table in the effective registration statement;

(iii) To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in
this registration statement or any material change to such information in this registration statement;
That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective
amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and

the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered
which remain unsold at the termination of the offering.
That, for the purpose of determining liability under the Securities Act of 1933, to any purchaser: if the
registrant is subject to Rule 430C, each prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) as part of a registration
statement relating to an offering, other than registration statements relying on Rule 430B or other than
prospectuses filed in reliance on Rule 430A, shall be deemed to be part of and included in the registration
statement as of the date it is first used after effectiveness. Provided, however, that no statement made in a
registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement or made in a document
incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference into the registration statement or prospectus that is part of
the registration statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of contract of sale prior to such first use,
supersede or modify any statement that was made in the registration statement or prospectus that was part of
the registration statement or made in any such document immediately prior to such date of first use.
That, for the purpose of determining liability of the registrant under the Securities Act of 1933 to any
purchaser in the initial distribution of the securities, the undersigned registrant undertakes that in a primary
offering of securities of the undersigned registrant pursuant to this registration statement, regardless of the
underwriting method used to sell the securities to the purchaser, if the securities are offered or sold to such
purchaser by means of any of the following communications, the undersigned registrant will be a seller to the
purchaser and will be considered to offer or sell such securities to such purchaser:
Q) Any preliminary prospectus or prospectus of the undersigned registrant relating to the offering required
to be filed pursuant to Rule 424;
Any free writing prospectus relating to the offering prepared by or on behalf of the undersigned
registrant or used or referred to by the undersigned registrant;
The portion of any other free writing prospectus relating to the offering containing material information
(iii) about the undersigned registrant or its securities provided by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant;
and
Any other communication that is an offer in the offering made by the undersigned registrant to the
purchaser.

(i)

(iv)
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(b) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes as follows:
That, prior to any public reoffering of the securities registered hereunder through use of a prospectus which is
a part of this registration statement, by any person or party who is deemed to be an underwriter within the
(1) meaning of Rule 145(c), the issuer undertakes that such reoffering prospectus will contain the information
called for by the applicable registration form with respect to reofferings by persons who may be deemed
underwriters, in addition to the information called for by the other items of the applicable form.
That, every prospectus (i) that is filed pursuant to paragraph (c)(1) immediately preceding, or (ii) that
purports to meet the requirements of Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act and is used in connection with an
offering of securities subject to Rule 415, will be filed as a part of an amendment to the registration statement
(2) and will not be used until such amendment is effective, and that, for purposes of determining any liability
under the Securities Act, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration
statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be
deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers
and controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been
advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public
policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for
indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a
director, officer or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding)
is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the
registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to
a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as
expressed in the Securities Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.
The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes to respond to requests for information that is incorporated by
reference into this prospectus pursuant to Item 4, 10(b), 11, or 13 of this Form, within one business day of receipt
of such request, and to send the incorporated documents by first class mail or other equally prompt means. This
includes information contained in documents filed subsequent to the effective date of the registration statement
through the date of responding to the request.
The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes to supply by means of a post-effective amendment all
(f) information concerning a transaction, and the company being acquired involved therein, that was not the
subject of and included in the registration statement when it became effective.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the Registrant has duly caused this registration statement to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Berkeley Heights, State of New
Jersey, on December 20, 2018.

EDGE THERAPEUTICS, INC.

By: /s/ Brian A. Leuthner
Brian A. Leuthner

President and Chief Executive Officer
POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and
appoints Brian A. Leuthner, as his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full powers of substitution
and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all
amendments to this registration statement (including post-effective amendments and any related registration
statements filed pursuant to Rule 462 and otherwise), and to file the same with all exhibits thereto, and other
documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorney-in-fact
and agent and full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be
done in connection therewith, as fully for all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby
ratifying and confirming that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or any substitute or resubstitute, may lawfully do or
cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, this registration statement has been signed by
the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

SIGNATURE TITLE DATE
/s/ Brian A. Leuthner President, Chief Executive Officer & Director December 20, 2018
Brian A. Leuthner (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Andrew Saik Chief Financial Officer December 20, 2018
Andrew Saik (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s/ Sol Barer Chairman, Board of Directors December 20, 2018
Sol Barer

/s/ Isaac Blech Vice Chairman, Board of Directors December 20, 2018
Isaac Blech

/s/ Rosemary Crane Director December 20, 2018

Rosemary Crane
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/s/ James Loughlin

James Loughlin

/s/ R. Loch Macdonald
R. Loch Macdonald

Liam Ratcliffe

/s/ Robert Spiegel
Robert Spiegel
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Director

Director

Director

Director
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December 20, 2018

December 20, 2018

December 20, 2018
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